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Preface
Stern has become more effective, efficient and stable since
the onset of the financial crisis, thanks to early intervention
and a sharp focus on expediency. The company generated
more revenue in 2015 than in 2008, the first year of the crisis,
with a substantially smaller workforce. The steady growth
of the leasing portfolio continued at a faster pace in 2015,
improving operational and financial stability. Dealergroup
Stern’s share in the number of new vehicle registrations,
including both passenger cars and light commercial vehicles,
again increased from the previous year, putting Stern on track
to become a strong and solid mobility group.
In addition to a detailed review of 2015, this Annual Report
will look at the changing system of car distribution in the
Netherlands and the often unpredictable and illogical
government measures for automotive mobility. Stern’s
strategy is designed to respond flexibly to these changes and
to effectively protect the company from volatile external
influences.

Over the next three years, as part of the Sprong Voorwaarts 
(Leap Forward ) programme, the company will focus on its
ongoing transition from a traditional car dealership holding
company to a first-class – and highly profitable – mobility
group. In doing so, we are responding to demand from all
our internal and external stakeholders, as well as motorists.
In order to meet their mobility needs, today’s motorists use
all the communication channels they have at their disposal.
Stern will be represented across these channels with a range
of appealing mobility products and services for existing and
new customers. This calls for creativity, entrepreneurship and
close cooperation between the Stern group companies as well
as with third parties.
Stern is investing more than ever in talented men and women
who will help the company to achieve the intended leap
forward through their creativity and drive for innovation.

Henk van der Kwast
Chief Executive Officer
General information
H.H. van der Kwast (b. 1954) has been affiliated with Stern and its
predecessors in title since 1993, and since June 2000 he has served as Managing
Director and Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Stern Group. Mr Van der Kwast
is also a majority shareholder in the company through Merel Investments B.V.
He is chairman of the supervisory board of Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V.,
a board member (treasurer) of the Johan Cruyff Foundation and a board
member (treasurer) of the Netherlands Golf Federation. In 1993
Mr Van der Kwast invested in the Amsterdam-based RIVA group of companies
– which operated at a heavy loss at the time – and used this as a basis for
developing Stern into the Dutch market leader in automotive retail and
services over the next 23 years.

2

Stern Annual Report 2015

Profile
Stern Groep N.V.

Stern Financial Services

Stern is one of the largest automotive groups in the
Netherlands and the market leader in automotive mobility.
An exchange-listed company, Stern is financially solid and
with more than 2,200 employees it generates annual revenue
in excess of € 1,000 million.

Stern Financial Services specialises in car leasing and
financial and other mobility products and services. These
operations focus mainly on the SME market (small and
medium-sized enterprises). Stern Financial Services also
provides fleet management services for third parties and
for its own rental fleet. Stern offers its customers
a comprehensive mobility package with its financial and
other mobility products and services.

In addition to representing a total of 21 leading car brands
through Dealergroup Stern, Stern has also been branching out
into financial and other mobility services. The group has
near-nationwide coverage in the Netherlands, concentrating
mainly on the provinces of North Holland, South Holland,
Utrecht, North Brabant, Groningen and Drenthe. Stern has
set itself the goal of becoming the most valued and highly
recommended mobility partner in the Netherlands.
Shares in Stern Groep N.V. are listed on NYSE Euronext
Amsterdam.
Stern Group’s core activities are grouped into three separate
divisions:

Dealergroup Stern represents several leading brands,
including Audi, Fiat, Ford, Mercedes-Benz, Renault,
Volkswagen and Volvo. Dealergroup Stern currently operates
around 85 sales points.

Stern Mobility Services is responsible for the growing
network of car-brand-independent Stern branches throughout
the Netherlands. Stern’s own garage format focuses on car
service and tyres, and there are branches in strategic locations
which are fully dedicated to car rental and/or car body repair
services. The mobility propositions of Stern Financial Services
are also available at all branches.

Corporate activities

General information

Dealergroup Stern

Stern Mobility Services

Several of the company’s operations are organised at the
corporate level, including Controlling, Analysis and Reporting
(CAR), Human Resource Management (HRM), Secretariat,
Legal and Compliance (SLC) and Communications,
Relationships and Marketing (CRM). Other support services
of Stern have been grouped under Stern Facility Services and
comprise Purchasing, ICT services to group companies, Real
Estate Management and the group’s central administrative
services.
Page 140 includes an organisational diagram.
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Portfolio of car brands

General information
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Ardea Auto

Arend Auto

Arend Auto

Arend Auto Nissan

Durmi Auto / Wander / Havik Auto

Havik Auto / Wander

Heron Auto

Heron Auto

Heron Auto

Heron Auto

Jager Auto

Jager Auto

Stern Auto

Stern Auto

Svala Auto

Vireo Auto

Vireo Auto

Vireo Auto

Vireo Auto / Wander

Vireo Auto

Vireo Auto
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Mobility services provided by Stern
Stern’s development into a solid generic brand for integrated
automotive services in the Netherlands is based on the strong,
loyal relationships the Stern companies manage to establish
with our end customers, the motorists. By offering a wide
range of vehicle services, we provide customised solutions
that increase the efficiency and value of mobility.

Financing

Fleet management

Light commercial
vehicle interiors

Fleet management!

Maintenance
contract

Insurance!

Fleet management Stern provides unique,
customised mobility solutions for companies
with fleets from around 50 cars.
By detailing the shared interest for each
individual customer, customers voluntarily
commit to Stern’s car brands and vehicle services
and are offered a high level of flexibility and
influence on rates, based on full transparency.
Insurance All vehicles are only permitted
to drive on the road with valid insurance. Stern
provides all-risk insurance for consumers and
businesses with extensive cover, maximum
security and clear terms and conditions.
In addition, it provides supplemental vehiclerelated insurance products.
Light commercial vehicle interiors Stern also
provides installation services for special light
commercial vehicle interiors. Stern provides
both standard and customised light commercial
vehicle interiors. Dealergroup Stern makes
extensive use of these services.
Maintenance contract Consumers and
businesses looking for certainty with regard to
their vehicle maintenance expenses can enter
into a Stern maintenance contract. For a
competitive, fixed monthly fee, motorists are
guaranteed professional maintenance services by
one of the Stern companies during the term of
the contract.

Maintenance

Car rental

Car body repair

Car leasing

Used-car warranty

Maintenance Stern also provides brandindependent vehicle maintenance services at
selected branches for cars purchased five or
more years ago. A customised maintenance
recommendation is provided and implemented
based on the customer’s use of the vehicle.
Car rental With a fleet of approximately
2,000 cars, Stern meets the need of consumers
and businesses for temporary mobility in the
form of car rental. Additionally, the company
also provides replacement transport and service
rental for the customers of our own companies.
The fleet consists of vehicles supplied by
Dealergroup Stern which are repaired and
maintained within the network of Stern branches.

General information

Insurance

Financing Stern provides car-related consumer
and business financing products, including credit,
hire-purchase, financial leasing and personal
loans. These products are available exclusively to
customers who are purchasing or have purchased
a vehicle from a Stern company.

Stern Financial Services and Stern Mobility Services exclusively
provide car-brand-independent products and services related
to mobility. Below is an outline of all the products and services
offered by Stern.

Car body repair Within the network of Stern
branches, twelve branches specialise in car body
repair services. They perform repairs based on
the manufacturer’s guidelines and Stern only
uses original parts and components in its repairs.
A large number of Dutch insurers have selected
Stern as their preferred car body repair company.
Car leasing In addition to the usual forms of
commercial leasing such as operational and
financial leasing, Stern also provides short-term
leasing and private leasing solutions, as well as
the option to lease used cars.
Used-car warranty Unlike its competitors in
the used-car market, Stern provides a 2-year
warranty on selected used vehicles. Maintenance
is subsequently carried out during the term
of the warranty by one of the Stern companies.
Consumers and businesses can use the Stern
website, www.stern.nl, to sell their used vehicles.
The used vehicles of all Stern companies are
advertised here. Special high-quality used cars
which were acquired through exchanges or
specially purchased are available from the
website www.sternexclusief.nl.
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Stern’s compass

General information

Vision and mission

Strategy and policy   

Stern Group (Stern) believes that people prefer individual
mobility. Nothing provides a sense of freedom like deciding
the time and location of departure and planning your own
route. Stern would like to make this sense of freedom
accessible to all. This is why Stern provides a large number of
car brands and additional mobility services, since no person is
the same. Even for people who prefer other vehicles over cars,
Stern now also provides electric transport solutions for
vehicles driving up to 45 kilometres an hour.

In addition to the leading brands proudly represented by
Dealergroup Stern, Stern has also begun marketing the mobility
services of Stern Financial Services and Stern Mobility Services
more specifically than before under the Stern name, thereby
creating a clearly identifiable generic brand. Clearly, the
companies of Dealergroup Stern will remain of great significance
in growing our vehicle fleet of the car brands represented. At the
same time however, Stern intends to become less dependent on
the more cyclical and capital-intensive nature of its car dealer
operations. This means that Stern, with its products and mobility
services, will focus more strongly in the future on segments with
a less direct relationship to the sale of new vehicles. This can only
be accomplished if the group’s white-label brand activities
account for a greater share of the group’s revenue.

Ambition
Stern has set itself the goal of becoming the most valued
and highly recommended mobility partner in the Netherlands.

Core values
Core values provide the organisation with a sense of identity
and guide employees in their attitudes and behaviour.
Stern’s core values are:
Engaged We feel a sense of involvement with our
company, our product, our services and our customers.
Inventive We adopt a pragmatic approach and like
to help customers with non-traditional solutions.
Loyal We have a sense of responsibility and reciprocity
in our relationships and look to maintain this over the long
term.
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Stern Financial Services and Stern Mobility Services will
therefore be expanded on an accelerated basis through
a combination of organic growth and strategic acquisitions.
This means that the company will also be focusing on further
expanding its own products and mobility services, including the
sale of more used cars and electric vehicles with a speed of up
to 45 kilometres an hour combined with Stern’s own brand
products and services. Over the next several years, Stern will
reduce its budget for the acquisition of car dealerships, although
it does aim to enter into partnerships and joint ventures with
other companies in order to increase Stern’s scope without
committing substantial resources.
The company aims for an annual return on equity in excess
of 10 per cent. However, this return may remain temporarily
below target as a result of economic conditions, corporate
reorganisations of business units that are less profitable,
acquisitions, government intervention and investments in the
further strengthening and development of the organisation.
Through this integrated market strategy, Stern aims to
increase its operating profit in a steady and stable manner.
This is important, because profits from the sale of new vehicles
are generally substantially lower and more cyclical than profits
from after-sales service, the sale of used vehicles and other
services.

The policy of Stern Financial Services focuses on the
development of financial and other mobility products and
services provided under its own brand name to the customers
of Dealergroup Stern and Stern Mobility Services. These
products and mobility services currently consist of car leasing
services, fleet management, vehicle insurance, vehicle finance
and (extended) warranties on used vehicles.

Acquired companies can further optimise or stabilise
their business operations, supported by the size Stern has
already achieved. In view of this optimisation and achieving
the associated cost benefits, Stern focuses extensively on
improving its business processes and on improving
cooperation between its various business units.
Any new activities launched by Dealergroup Stern will
initially focus on the main brands in the portfolio and may
result in a (gradual) geographic expansion. For new car brands,
we prefer brands already affiliated with brands represented
by Stern at the factory level. This will help Stern maintain its
position as a solid partner of the relevant manufacturers and
their importer(s) in the Netherlands and reinforce this
relationship where possible. In addition, Stern also carefully
considers the financial strength and performance of the car
manufacturers for the car brands currently offered. If these are
compromised over the long term, Stern will adjust its strategy
and policy accordingly.

This means that Stern is increasingly taking an interest in
its customers’ needs and behaviour. Organisational changes
will be made where possible if this is required in order to
ensure optimum customer services.
With its comprehensive portfolio of brands, products
and mobility services, Stern is better equipped than ever
to successfully respond to the changing market demand,
provided that customer interactions are used to their full
potential. It is only then that new, competitive products and
mobility services can be created that more closely match
specific customer needs.

General information

Stern Mobility Services’ policy focuses on growth and on
creating a stable, growing contribution to the group profit,
without the unpredictable influence of car manufacturers on
investment, profit margins and rates. There will therefore be
a strong focus on the further development and expansion of
the company’s own multibrand garage format in conjunction
with its own car body repair activities. The objective of this
integrated approach is growth, particularly in those areas
of the Netherlands where Stern currently does not operate.

This also affects the thoughts and actions of our
employees – they are responsible for defining the company’s
customer contact. They are expected to both use the products
and services of a business unit as the basis for their actions
and to put customer demand first.

Stern looks beyond its own profit and loss figures and
makes a point of focusing on the impact of its business
operations on people and the environment in the shorter
and longer term. This extends beyond the rules prescribed
by legislation and regulation. Stern looks for sustainable
solutions that provide social and/or environmentally friendly
benefits combined with a direct or indirect financial benefit.

The automotive market has evolved over the past 25 years
under the influence of the digitisation of society and the
proliferation of government regulation relating to the
environment, taxation and market regulation. In light of these
developments, it is important to effectively respond to new
trends in consumer behaviour. This calls for a strong, individual
focus on motorists. The growing influence and power of
consumers is forcing providers to listen more carefully
and, in doing so, give substance to their market focus
in a contemporary and authentic way.
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Outline of 2015
Key figures
Gross EBITDA
x € 1 million
90

Proﬁt after tax
x € 1 million
12
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Net revenue
x € 1 million
1,200

0
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0
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Stern Financial Services revenue*
x € 1 million
100

General information

Dealergroup Stern revenue*
x € 1 million
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Stern Mobility Services revenue*
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* Revenue before elimination of inter-company and internal revenue.

Number of employees (FTEs)
Men

Women

Total

2014: 1,737

2014: 213

2014: 1,950

1,767

212

Fleet under management
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Mobility
contracts

1,979
Number of mobility contracts

12,031

25,534

2014: 10,114

2014: 26,212

Sales of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles

New
passenger cars

Market
share

New light
Market
commercial vehicles share

5,010

8.7%

2014: 19,341

2014: 5.0%

2014: 3,985

2014: 7.7%

24,199

5.4%

Total sales

24,439

53,648

2014: 22,928

2014: 46,254

General information

Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

Market shares by brand
Sales as a % of new vehicle registrations in the Netherlands

Passenger
vehicles

Light commercial
vehicles

2015

2014

2015

2014

Stern 1
Mercedes-Benz

18.7%

17.8%

18.5%

16.1%

Stern 2
Renault

12.1%

13.1%

13.3%

14.1%

Stern 3
Ford

21.9%

22.2%

20.9%

23.2%

Passenger
vehicles

Light commercial
vehicles

2015

2014

2015

2014

Stern 4
Volvo
Land Rover
Fiat

6.8%
11.4%
9.1%

7.2%
9.4%
4.6%

7.1%

5.6%

Stern 5
Volkswagen
Audi
Kia
Opel

3.9%
3.3%
11.5%
5.4%

4.0%
3.4%
8.8%
5.0%

3.1%

3.2%

5.0%

2.9%

Stern Annual Report 2015

9

Shareholder
information

Solvency and dividend
policy

as at 8 March 2016

Shares
Number issued
Number outstanding

5,925,000
5,675,000

The table below shows interests at Stern Group of more
than 5% based on the number of shares outstanding
as at 8 March 2016.
Shareholders
NPM Capital N.V
Merel Investments B.V.
Bibiana Beheer B.V.
Todlin N.V.
Otus Capital Management Ltd.
Invesco Ltd.

26.5%
17.6%
10.2%
7.1%
6.0%
5.3%

Shares owned by the Management
H.H. van der Kwast
(through Merel Investments B.V.)

1,000,000

Shares owned by the Supervisory Board
General information

D.R. Goeminne

25,000

Key dates in 2016 and 2017
General Meeting
Publication of results for H1 2016
Publication of financial statements 2016
General Meeting

11 May 2016
18 August 2016
9 March 2017
10 May 2017

Under its bank covenants, Stern Group applies a solvency rate
of 12.5% for its leasing operations, a solvency rate of 20% for
its rental operations and a solvency rate of at least 25% for its
other operations.
On account of the volatility of several of its business
operations and the buy-and-build strategy pursued, Stern
Group intends to maintain a solvency rate of 15% for the
next several years for the leasing operations and of 30%
for the Group’s other operations.
Shareholders need a solid dividend return. In order to maintain
an ample solvency rate of 15% for its leasing operations and
30% for its other operations, Stern Group can distribute up to
the amount of the excess (the excess solvency) in dividend in
the coming years.
The current dividend policy was approved by the General
Meeting on 24 May 2012.
There was no excess solvency at year-end 2014, and therefore
no funds available to distribute a dividend.
At year-end 2015 the excess solvency was € 4.3 million, which
is therefore the maximum amount that can be distributed as
dividend. An interim dividend of € 0.25 per share was paid for
the 2015 financial year on 23 December 2015.

Supervisory Board rotation schedule
D.R. Goeminne
A. Roggeveen
M.E.P. Sanders

2016
2016
2017

Breakdown of shareholders

Stern share price development
In euros
20,0

2015
NPM Capital N.V.

26.5%

Merel Investments B.V.

17.6%

Bibiana Beheer B.V.

10.2%

17,5

7.1%

15,0

Management Ltd.

6.0%

12,5

Invesco Ltd.

5.3%

Todlin N.V.
Otus Capital

Free ﬂoat

27.8%

10,0
7,5
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Jan ’15

Apr ’15

Jul ’15

Oct ’15

Jan ’16

Personal details of the members
of the Supervisory Board

M.E.P. Sanders (b. 1953) was
appointed as a member of the Stern
Group Supervisory Board in October
2012. Ms Sanders previously held
positions at ABN AMRO, Atlas,
NS Dutch Railways and Greenfield
Capital Partners. She was also involved
in the establishment of Dutch
telecommunications company Telfort.
Ms Sanders holds several supervisory
roles, being the chair of the advisory
board of Difrax Beheer B.V., the chair
of the supervisory board of healthcare
organisation Stichting Warande, the
chair of the supervisory board of Hoens
Broadcast Facilities B.V. and the chair
of the Investment Committee of the
SI² Fund in Brussels. Ms Sanders is
also a member of the supervisory
board of Kendrion N.V.

General information

D.R. Goeminne (b. 1955) was
appointed as a member of the Stern
Group Supervisory Board in October
2008. Until 2007, he served as chairman
of the Group Management Board of
V&D and was a member of the Board
of Directors of Maxeda, which owns
Vendex and KBB. Mr Goeminne is the
chairman and a member of the Audit
Committee of Beter Bed Holding N.V.
and a member of the supervisory board
of Wielco B.V. In addition, he serves as
a non-executive board member at
Van de Velde N.V. in Belgium,
Wereldhave N.V. (chairman) and
JBC NV. He has been the CEO of
Ter Beke N.V. since June 2013.

A. Roggeveen (b. 1946) was appointed
as a member of the Stern Group
Supervisory Board in March 2012.
In June 2011, Mr Roggeveen stepped
down as CEO – after a 27-year tenure
– of Sator Holding, an importer and
distributor of car parts. Under his
stewardship, Van Heck and later Sator
became the market leader in the
brand-independent vehicle sales
channel. Mr Roggeveen resumed
his position as acting CEO of Sator
on 15 October 2012. He has been
a non-executive board member of
Sator Holding B.V. since May 2013.

Stern Annual Report 2015
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Report of the Supervisory Board
General information For many years, Stern Group has
pursued a corporate governance policy in keeping with its
position as a smaller exchange-listed company. The Group has
adopted the Netherlands Corporate Governance Code, as
drafted by the Tabaksblat Committee and updated in 2008 by
the Frijns Committee, as a guideline. This is further detailed on
page 53 and subsequent pages of this Annual Report 2015 and
on the company’s website, www.sterngroep.nl.

General information

Financial statements and distribution of profit This Annual
Report 2015 contains the Stern Group financial statements for
the financial year 2015, as prepared by the Management
Board. After the financial statements were audited, the
auditor, Ernst & Young Accountants LLP, issued an unqualified
audit opinion as referred to on page 131 and subsequent pages
of this Annual Report. In line with the dividend policy
approved at the General Meeting of 24 May 2012, a dividend
per share has been proposed of a total of € 1.00 in cash
per share, as noted on page 130 of this Annual Report.
The dividend will be payable on 9 June 2016 and will be paid
after deduction of the interim dividend of € 0.25 per share
distributed on 23 December 2015. The Supervisory Board
recommends that the shareholders approve the 2015 financial
statements at the General Meeting scheduled for 11 May 2016,
and that they discharge the Management Board of its liability
in respect of its management and discharge the members of
the Supervisory Board of their liability in respect of their
supervision during the 2015 financial year.
Meetings The members of the Supervisory Board convened
on eight occasions during the year under review, including six
times with the Management Board in attendance. In addition,
the members of the Supervisory Board regularly met on an
informal level with the Management Board. The members of
the Supervisory Board also visited a number of operating
companies. The Supervisory Board met with the external
auditor on one occasion, which involved discussing the results
for 2014, along with the audit findings. The agenda items for
these meetings included the company’s future and strategy,
various acquisition opportunities and divestments, and the
key priorities of cost savings, efficiency and effectiveness as
part of the Samen Sterker! (Stronger Together!) programme.
The progress of the operational performance of the operating
companies was also discussed on several occasions.
Furthermore, the parties held several meetings to discuss the
sale and leaseback of ten properties, a transaction completed
in early November 2015.
As in previous years, the company’s strategy, organisational
structure, HR policy and the risks associated with the
company, its financial structure, the internal control systems
of the core businesses identified and the corporate
governance policy are all regular agenda items at Stern Group.
As usual, the financial data to be published, such as quarterly
and annual results and other press releases, were submitted
12
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for review to the Supervisory Board in advance. In the absence
of the Management Board, the performance of the
Supervisory Board itself, its relationship with the Management
Board, the performance of the members of Management
Board and the remuneration of the Management Board were
all discussed. Several issues were discussed during the
evaluation of the Board’s own performance, including the
investment of sufficient time and energy by all Supervisory
Board members, the manner in which the supervisory role
is exercised, the division of duties and interaction between
the Supervisory Board and the Management Board, and
the composition of the Supervisory Board in terms of
independence, expertise and experience.
Audit Committee An Audit Committee has been in place
at Stern Group since 1 January 2003. This committee consists
of Ms M.E.P. Sanders (Chair) and Mr D.R. Goeminne. The Audit
Committee convened on five occasions during the year under
review, in the presence of members of the Management
Board, the Group Controller and the External Auditor.
Agenda items for these meetings included the recognition
of acquisitions and divestments, the valuation of acquisition
goodwill and badwill, the internal control systems, compliance
with laws and regulations, the tax position, automated data
processing, the administrative organisation, financing,
presentations by controllers of operating companies,
the relationship with the external auditor, and compliance
with and fulfilment of the latter’s recommendations.
The financial statements, as included in the Annual Report
2014, were evaluated during the year under review.
Remuneration of the Supervisory Board The remuneration
for Supervisory Board members, as approved by the
shareholders in May 2014 and as shown on page 124 of this
Annual Report, did not change during the year under review.
No amendments are proposed to this remuneration for 2016.
Remuneration of the Management Board
The remuneration policy for the Management Board, as
discussed during the General Meeting of 12 May 2005, was
also implemented in 2015. The income of the Management
Board members consists of a fixed gross annual salary with
pension contributions, plus a variable portion of a maximum
of one-third of the gross annual salary if predefined criteria are
met. For the quantitative data, along with the criteria for 2015,
see page 123 of this Annual Report.
Corporate Social Responsibility In making its policy
decisions, Stern Group is increasingly guided by long-term
economic and social considerations. Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) is a regular topic of discussion. The
restriction of environmental risks and sustainable behaviour
for the benefit of its environment are key priorities for Stern
Group and its operating companies. The operating companies
must be constantly alert to environmental aspects relevant to

their business operations. BOVAG has designed a certification
process for its members under the label Erkend Duurzaam
(Certified Sustainability). The Erkend Duurzaam scan includes
an assessment of six areas, including Business Operations,
Communications, Procurement, Employees, Finance and
Sales. In accordance with the objective set, all Stern
companies were certified for a further two-year period in 2015.
For more than 10 years, Stern Group has been supporting
projects involving terns organised by Vogelbescherming
Nederland (Dutch Society for the Protection of Birds). Stern
focuses specifically on projects to improve the nesting sites
of the various species of terns that make their home in
the Netherlands.
For further details on all the company’s CSR activities, please
see page 64 and subsequent pages of this Annual Report 2015.

Ms Brummelhuis is nominated on account of her extensive
managerial experience and experience in public life, her skills
and knowledge, and in particular her in-depth knowledge
of e-commerce and media. The personal details of
Ms Brummelhuis will be included in the notes to the agenda
of the General Meeting of Shareholders of 11 May 2016.
According to the rotation schedule, Mr D.R. Goeminne and
Mr A. Roggeveen are due to step down from the Board. Both
members are available for reappointment. The Supervisory
Board is nominating Mr Goeminne for reappointment for
a four-year term and Mr Roggeveen for reappointment for
a three-year term.
Mr Goeminne is nominated on account of his extensive
managerial experience and experience in public life, his skills,
his substantial knowledge of retail organisations, and his
contribution as the Chair of the Stern Group Supervisory Board.

On 1 July 2015, Stern Group parted company with
Mr G.P. ten Brink. Mr Ten Brink was employed at Stern Group
for more than 15 years, having served on the Management
Board since 1 January 2002. Stern is extremely grateful to
Mr Ten Brink for his many years of hard work and his
contribution to the growth and success of Stern Group.
The Supervisory Board proposes to appoint Mr A.A. Swijter
(b. 1965) as CFO of Stern Group to fill the current vacancy.
Mr Swijter is currently the CFO of Alliance Healthcare
Netherlands. Prior to this, he held various positions at
Philips Consumer Lifestyle in the Netherlands and abroad.
The agenda for the General Meeting to be held on
11 May 2016 will include the notification of the proposed
decision of the Supervisory Board to nominate Mr Swijter
as CFO and Director under the articles of association.
Mr Swijter’s personal details will be included in the notes to
the agenda for the General Meeting of 11 May 2016.
General information

Appointments and retirements According to the rotation
schedule, none of the members of the Supervisory Board
were due to retire in 2015. In order to fill the vacancy created
by the retirement of Mr A. Nühn from the Board in 2014,
the Supervisory Board stated its intention to nominate a new
member for appointment to the Supervisory Board at the end
of 2015 for a four-year term. The Supervisory Board wishes to
nominate Ms S.G. Brummelhuis (b. 1965) for a four-year term
at the General Meeting scheduled for 11 May 2016.

details of Mr Goeminne and Mr Roggeveen are listed on page
11 of this Annual Report. These details, along with the profile
outline containing details on the size and composition of the
Board, are available for review at the offices of Stern Group.

Stern Group did not comply with the provisions of the Dutch
Management and Supervision Act in terms of the male/female
ratio for board members in 2015. In appointing the new CFO,
the company will again not comply with this requirement. In
future changes to the management, Stern Group will aim for
a more balanced distribution.
The Supervisory Board would like to express its appreciation
for the hard work of the Management Board and employees
in the past year.
The Board has noted that a prudent financial policy, cost
savings and the consistency of Stern Group’s strategy have
led the company through the difficult period in recent years
and have made it stronger. The Sprong Voorwaarts  (Leap
Forward ) plan demonstrates that Stern is ready to exploit
new opportunities for individual mobility in the future.
Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 8 March 2016
Supervisory Board
D.R. Goeminne
A. Roggeveen
M.E.P. Sanders

Mr Roggeveen is nominated on account of his extensive
managerial experience and experience in public life, his skills,
and his in-depth knowledge of the car parts and distribution
market.
Mr Goeminne has already completed two four-year terms on
the Stern Group Supervisory Board; Mr Roggeveen has
completed one four-year term on the Board. The personal
Stern Annual Report 2015
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Report of the Management Board
Background
The Annual Report 2014 outlined the conditions under which
the automotive industry had to operate since the onset of the
crisis in autumn 2008.
In addition to the external economic and financial factors that
we presume are well enough known, the automotive industry
has been struggling for many years with various internal
problems and challenges. The structure and organisation of
the car distribution system has been undergoing both sudden
and more gradual changes. This demands a high level of
adaptability and resilience on the part of automotive
companies.
Businesses can only overcome their marginal position by
being flexible and adapting in time to the myriad changes
they face, and can achieve success by taking opportunities.
This is necessary, since companies have to ensure continuity,
generate profits and continue to grow in order to offer future
prospects to their management, employees and shareholders.

Management Report

Car manufacturers have been determined for many years to
reduce distribution costs in order to increase profits and
remain competitive. Car importers that previously positioned
themselves as wholesalers with large inventories are
re-establishing themselves as local marketing offices that
operate on the basis of instructions received from the car
manufacturers. The importers of private cars still represent
an exception to this pattern. The formal wholesale role has
almost disappeared from the automotive industry, but since
there remains a need for companies that are able to absorb
overproduction or less popular models and/or which can
develop above-average effectiveness in sales, there are still
wholesalers in an informal sense both inside and outside the
dealer networks. These are generally large, financially solid
companies with the resources available to assume this
wholesaler-type role.
As a result of this trend, some car manufacturers and their
importers are creating an unfair playing field, whether
consciously or unconsciously.
The practice of registering a growing number of vehicles in
their own names, selling vehicles at home and abroad at prices
out of the range of dealerships and offering complex incentive
programmes that require an advanced degree to understand
– these are just a few of the more obvious examples. While
this trend has made it more difficult to limit the use of working
capital, it can potentially also offer opportunities if a regular
wholesaler margin can be realised on top of the dealer margin.
All this means that, if they are to remain successful in the
future, car dealers must transform from traditional sales
organisations that also provide after-sales services into
financially solid mobility groups that add their own value
based on purchasing power, outstanding services, a wide
range of products and services and a strong market position.
14
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Stern is well on the way to becoming a strong mobility group
that generates solid profits. Since the start of the crisis, the
company has been focused more on its internal organisation
than previously. At the end of 2008, Stern’s equity totalled just
over € 130 million, while it employed more than 2,800 people
and posted net revenue in excess of € 900 million. Following a
minor acquisition at the end of 2008, the car leasing and fleet
management portfolio comprised a total of approximately
5,000 vehicles. By the end of 2015, Stern’s equity amounted
to more than € 150 million. The company continued to pay
dividends during the crisis and employed around 2,200 people
during this period. Net revenue for 2015 was close to
€ 1,100 million.
The car leasing and fleet management portfolio amounted to
nearly 10,000 vehicles at the end of 2015. These figures show
that Stern actually became stronger and more effective during
this period of challenging market conditions (with a sharp rise
in sales per employee) and improved its stability on the back
of strong growth and a growing contribution to the profit by
the car leasing and fleet management portfolio.

More about our strategy
In light of the clearly visible trends in the automotive industry
outlined above, Stern has made some fundamental changes
since the start of the crisis. At that time, acquisitions of car
dealerships was at a much lower level than in the preceding
period, and stricter decisions were made with respect to
the scale of the car brands represented. Once Stern’s network
of dealerships had achieved the desired scale size, the focus
for further expansion shifted to completing our regional
positioning, strengthening the representation of our main car
brands and improving the effectiveness of our organisation.
There are no immediate plans for more large-scale
acquisitions of dealerships. Any expansion in future will
initially involve the forming of joint ventures and similar
alliances.
The performance of Dealergroup Stern will help Stern to
gradually expand its installed base further. This installed base
serves as the basis for the required transition of Stern from a
large dealer holding company into a mobility group offering
an extensive range of mobility products and services.
The company is increasingly finding leads for its products and
services through online channels, which are then followed up
by the customer contact centres of the group companies and
by the e-commerce organisation at group level. Due to this
shift of focus, Stern will continue to invest heavily in coming
years in further expanding the e-ecommerce organisation now
established at group level as a necessary addition to the
existing physical sales channels.

Stern Financial Services, which focuses on car leasing, fleet
management and (brand-independent) financial mobility
products such as SternPolis, SternGarant and SternCredit, has
now established itself as a medium-sized car leasing company
that is firmly rooted in the SME market. Its car leasing
portfolio, which consisted of only a few thousand cars at
the outset of the crisis, has grown organically to more than
9,000 vehicles at year-end 2015. All financial mobility products
combined currently represent a portfolio of approximately
50,000 contracts. While we do not rule out strategic
acquisitions or partnerships with other companies, we
continue to prefer further expanding Stern Financial Services
on an organic basis. Our target for the next three years is
to increase the number of financial mobility contracts from
50,000 to 100,000. During this period, the car leasing, car
rental and fleet management portfolios are projected to
increase to a total of 20,000 vehicles.

However, we have been seeing a reversal of this trend of late,
and the brand channel has been increasingly better equipped
to continue providing after-sales services for its own brands.
This is both because vehicle technology is becoming
increasingly complex and because good brand dealerships are
increasingly able to offer motorists appealing propositions
through their customer contact centres and e-commerce
channels. In car body repair services, we are also seeing that
the repair of brand vehicles is increasingly being given priority
and that businesses can no longer limit their services to car
body repair while also having the resources required to carry
out car window repair, basic maintenance, towing, tyre
changes and similar services.
In view of these trends, we decided to integrate SternSchade
and SternPoint in 2016 into a single format operating under
the name SternPoint. The idea is to develop SternPoint into a
national chain, organically and through strategic acquisitions.
The company is currently investigating whether it would be
beneficial to integrate part of SternRent and all of SternTec
into the redesigned SternPoint format. Stern’s growing online
presence coupled with the existing physical sales channels
have made it more important to develop reach, provide
strategic content, achieve adequate conversion rates, and
facilitate effective data management. Stern believes that,
in adopting this strategy, it is better able to accommodate

Leap Forward 
After the Samen Sterker! (Stronger Together!) programme
and in line with Stern’s current strategy, the company has
drafted a new three-year plan for the period 2016 to 2018,
which is known as Sprong Voorwaarts  (Leap Forward ).
This name indicates that Stern intends to complete the
transition during this three-year period from a large dealer
holding company into a first-class and solidly profitable
mobility group. Stern will then be serving end customers
(i.e. motorists) both online and offline with interesting and
appealing mobility products and services. Encouraging
collaboration between the various branches and partnerships
with suppliers, industry partners, financial institutions, vehicle
data providers and other players offering mobility products
and services remains a key focus.

Management Report

Stern Mobility Services specialises in general (brandindependent) mobility products and services, including car
body repair services, car rental, car repair and maintenance
and similar services. During the first few years after the crisis,
we saw a decline in after-sales activities in favour of general,
brand-independent operations. Stern responded to this trend
by creating its own format for maintenance services not
restricted to a particular brand, initially by establishing its own
dealerships which no longer qualified as the dealer businesses
of the future.

changing consumer behaviour and meet the expectations of
its end customers (i.e. motorists) than if it were to invest in
upgrading its showrooms and increasing the number of new
vehicles on display. The automotive market is clearly shifting
from a “push” to a “pull” model and from purchase to leasing
contracts. Stern is responding to these changes by building a
strong online presence and providing its own comprehensive
range of highly marketable mobility products and services.
The products are designed to appeal both to existing Stern
customers and to those who might not have considered using
Stern as a service provider in the past on account of its
positioning and integrated range of products and services.

Outline of 2015
Both 2014 and 2015 were years of extremes. Particularly the
fourth quarter of 2015 saw strong sales of plug-in hybrids,
ahead of the increase by the Dutch government in 2016 of the
additional tax liability rate for these vehicles from 7% to 15%.
Many business drivers decided to benefit from five years of
the lower 7% rate on the car’s listed value. Some brands and
models were excluded again as a result of the stricter carbon
emission standards and the additional tax liability rates, but
demand among drivers for plug-in hybrids remained strong.
While the car market generally fared better than in 2014, it
has yet to reach its former long-term average annual sales of
roughly 450,000 passenger cars and 60,000 light commercial
vehicles. It should be noted that while the number of
registrations of passenger cars (449,350) reached the
long-term average level in 2015, many passenger cars were
registered in the names of dealerships or brokers in order to
secure the 7% or 14% additional tax liability and had not yet
been sold or delivered to end customers (i.e. motorists) in
2015. The cars registered in 2015 will be sold or delivered in
2016, meaning that the car market as measured on the basis
Stern Annual Report 2015
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of registrations could contract if not adjusted for this
incidental effect. On the back of the current economic
recovery, the market for light commercial vehicles improved
markedly in 2015 over 2014.
Dealergroup Stern For Stern Auto (Mercedes-Benz and
smart), 2015 was an exceptionally good year. Not only plug-in
hybrids, but the entire range of models caught on with
consumers last year, while there was also strong demand
for light commercial vehicles and truck sales increased
exponentially from previous years. The Mercedes-Benz C 350
plug-in hybrid turned out to be the absolute bestseller.
After-sales and spare part sales were also strong. Both sales
and profits reached record levels in 2015.
Arend Auto (Renault, Dacia and Nissan) had a reasonable year,
with a solid profit before tax of more than € 1 million, topping
the 2014 level. The Renault range of models, while appealing,
did not include any plug-in hybrid models. There were also
some issues involving the availability of new cars, resulting in
long delays in delivery.
Management Report

Ardea Auto (Ford) underwent a large-scale reorganisation in
2014, leading to the closure of several branches in 2014 and
2015. The number of employees was reduced by 63 FTEs to
the current level of 345 FTEs. The use of an effective customer
contact centre made it possible to retain a significantly larger
proportion of customers of branches that had closed than was
anticipated when the 2015 budget was prepared. As a result,
and on account of further cost savings and improved sales of
new and used passenger cars and light commercial vehicles,
the company was able to turn the substantial, largely
non-recurring loss of 2014 into a profit before tax of more
than € 1 million in 2015.
Svala Auto (Volvo) once again performed well. After a slow
start in the first six months, the company experienced a
turbulent fourth quarter. New products such as the Volvo XC90
plug-in hybrid arrived on the market only in the last few
months of the year. Svala Auto then had to pull out all the
stops to deliver the cars by the end of the year. This was not
possible in all cases, so at the end of 2015 a number of vehicles
had to be registered in the dealerships’ names in order to
secure the 7% additional tax liability. Svala Auto’s revenue and
profits reached record heights in 2015. Jager Auto (specialising
in Land Rover and Jaguar) also enjoyed a good year, while
Vireo Auto, despite considerable efforts, incurred a minor loss
similar to that for 2014.
Heron Auto (Volkswagen/Audi/Škoda/Seat) was shaken by
the emissions scandal at Volkswagen AG after the summer,
the fallout of which could not be estimated at that stage.
Although the scandal initially looked set to escalate into
a huge disaster which could potentially affect the entire
automotive industry, Volkswagen AG took action to ensure
16

Stern Annual Report 2015

that the damage would likely remain manageable and would
not lead to bankruptcy. We nevertheless need to be prepared
for the knock-on effects of the scandal, which we expect to
be limited to some degree of risk related to the valuation of
diesel cars manufactured by the Volkswagen Group. Stern
has taken a cautious stance and has formed an adequate
provision. In mid-2015, Heron Auto began selling Škoda
vehicles, following the acquisition of Lakeman in Purmerend.
Despite “Dieselgate”, Heron Auto had a very good year.
Volkswagen plug-in hybrids sold extremely well and sales of
light commercial vehicles also improved significantly from the
weak levels seen in 2014. After-sales and spare part sales rose.
Sales and profits at Heron Auto reached record levels. Havik
Auto (Opel) and Durmi Auto (Kia) also ended the year with
satisfactory profits.
Stern Financial Services The car leasing and fleet
management portfolios of SternLease and SternPartners
continued to generate strong organic growth (24.0%),
and now amount to approximately 10,000 vehicles.
Including the SternRent fleet, the total number of cars under
management has increased to more than 12,000 vehicles.
Private leasing showed strong growth in 2015, aided by
the sale of large numbers of Fiats from the closed Koops
dealership. If adjusted for higher internal cost allocations
and substantial internal commissions, operating profit would
have reached the historically high level of around € 10 million
in 2015. The financial mobility products (including SternPolis
and SternCredit) developed satisfactorily, while sales at
SternGarant contracted slightly. SternGarant needs to devote
renewed attention to sales of used passenger cars and light
commercial vehicles.
Overall, 2015 was an exceptionally good year for
Stern Financial Services.
Stern Mobility Services As part of the new, redesigned
strategy for the coming years, SternPoint and SternSchade
will be integrated into a single format operating under the
name SternPoint. The policy will focus more than in the past
on end customers (i.e. motorists) in the consumer and
business markets. Despite higher sales, SternSchade saw its
profits decline slightly in 2015 on account of the lower average
hourly rate. Adjusted for substantial internal commissions for
the referral of new business and market-level prices for brand
parts purchased within the group, SternSchade’s would have
generated a decent operating profit.
The number of SternPoint branches was reduced further in
2015 to four, while the company also established a new
customer contact centre together with SternSchade to attract
new business. The company suffered substantial losses
despite a marked increase in revenue at each branch due to
start-up costs and expenses related to the reduction of the
number of branches. On the basis of this experience and with
Dealergroup Stern and Stern Mobility Services working closely

together, we expect the 16 branches of the integrated
SternPoint to generate much better results in 2016 than
in 2015.
SternRent maintained 2014’s solid profits in the past year.
After a weak 2014, SternTec showed a strong recovery in 2015
and looks set to continue this momentum in 2016. The
company will investigate to what extent SternRent and
SternTec can be integrated into the integrated SternPoint
format.
Mango Mobility again increased its revenue sharply in 2015 by
46% to more than € 7.5 million. Lower margins, relatively high
non-recurring costs related to the implementation of Stern
systems and procedures and the opening and relocation of
several branches, including the Mango Experience Center in
Amsterdam, have resulted in losses. This operation will soon
become profitable given a further increase in revenue.

Financing

The faster-than-expected organic growth of SternLease and
the maturity of Facility A on 30 June 2016 prompted the
company to meet with the banks to discuss the full renewal of
Facilities A and B. With the SternLease leasing portfolio having
reached a volume of more than € 165 million, the current
€ 130.0 million limit of Facility B is no longer sufficient. Since
Stern aims to achieve primarily organic growth at Stern
Financial Services, it makes sense to bring Facility B in line
with the growth targets set out in the new “Leap Forward ”
3-year plan. This means that the term of Facility B needs to be
extended by one year until 30 June 2018, and that the credit
limit needs to be raised to € 160.0 million in the immediate
future, with in addition one or two revolving credit facilities of
at least € 30.0 million. Facility A can gradually be reduced to
€ 60.0 million and would, in order to remain in line with

In addition to serving as the captive financing company of
Stern Auto, Mercedes-Benz Financial Services is also a key
partner of Stern in the financing of the entire inventory of
used passenger cars and light commercial vehicles of
Dealergroup Stern and the car rental fleet operated by
SternRent. Based on a practical borrowing base, Stern has
access to a credit facility for an indefinite term – subject to
13 months’ notice – with a limit of € 52.5 million for the
financing of the entire used vehicle inventory. Funding will
also be provided for the entire SternRent car rental fleet for
an indefinite term and subject to 13 months’ notice with a limit
of € 34.0 million.
Coinciding with the sale and leaseback transaction completed
in November 2015 involving ten strategic properties with sales
proceeds of € 57.2 million, mortgage repayments reached a
total of € 20.8 million. The cash thus released was used to fund
the faster-than-expected growth of SternLease and the strong
end-of-year peak relating to the sale and registration of the
large number of plug-in hybrids. In January 2016, Stern
acquired the head office on Amsterdam’s Pieter Braaijweg
for a sum of € 4.8 million (plus transaction costs).
The mortgage loan provided by NIBC Bank, which was
reduced to € 8.8 million in connection with the sale and
leaseback transaction, was extended at the end of 2015 from
30 June 2016 to 31 December 2020 and was recently increased
to € 13.0 million following the acquisition of the property on
Pieter Braaijweg in Amsterdam. There also remains a small
amount in mortgage repayments outstanding to Stern’s main
banks.

Management Report

Stern has long used credit facilities (A and B) provided in equal
amounts by ING Bank, Rabobank and ABN AMRO Bank.
Facility A – which was reduced in 2015 from € 85.0 million to
€ 80.0 million and subsequently to € 75.0 million at year-end
2015 – serves to finance all operations with the exception of
leasing. Facility A was further reduced in late February 2016 to
€ 70.0 million (the current level) and matures on 30 June 2016.
Facility B, used to finance the leasing business, amounted to
€ 115.0 million in early 2015. Due to the strong growth of
SternLease, Stern decided to use the previously agreed
€ 15.0 million revolving credit facility in mid-2015, causing
Facility B to increase to the current level of € 130.0 million.
The maturity date for Facility B is 30 June 2017. Facilities A
and B are provided on the basis of a borrowing base, with a
minimum solvency rate and minimum interest coverage ratio
agreed with the banks. Stern has continued to meet the terms
of the bank covenants at all times.

Facility B, have to be extended by two years and mature on
30 June 2018.

Dealergroup Stern uses several lines of credit provided by
the financing companies of the car importers (captives) for
the financing of the inventory of passenger cars and light
commercial vehicles with and without vehicle registration
certificates. The financing charges and terms set by the
captive financing companies vary, and increasingly relate
to the performance of car dealerships in terms of the sale of
financial mobility products of the captive or of the car brand
in question. This is an unfavourable development for Stern
from a strategic point of view in view of the terms agreed with
Mercedes-Benz Financial Services. As a result, the use of credit
at the captive financing companies is optimised using Stern’s
credit lines at the company’s main banks on account of both
the financing costs and the financing terms.
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Name René Mulders
Position Facility Services Manager, ManpowerGroup

Name Jasper den Haan
Position Managing Director of Autoreset BV

“I can count on Stern.”

“Our collaboration is very efficient and effective.”

“Stern has been our business partner for many years
now, but I have personally been dealing with them much
more frequently in recent years. I was placed in charge of
our company’s fleet in 2013, which was an entirely new
experience for me at the time. The world of leasing is
a world in itself, with a set of rules and procedures I was not
familiar with at that point. But Stern showed me the ropes
and helped me make sense of it all, and they couldn’t have
been more honest and transparent about it. I know
I can count on Stern even when it’s not in their immediate
interest from a commercial point of view– now that’s what
I call true engagement.”

“We have been working together with Stern for more than
a decade, so we are extremely familiar with each other’s
companies and operating processes. Our IT systems and
Stern’s systems are linked, which means a lot of our processes
are automated. It makes our collaboration very efficient and
effective. But even though so many of our processes are
automated, there’s a lot of face-to-face interaction as well.
Stern regularly talks with its suppliers and customers about
market changes, what role it can play in that process together
with its partners, and how they might be able to develop
further. Stern is all about connecting with its partners and
brainstorming with them on how we can do an even better
job together. Their annual golf event is to me another sign
of their engagement and commitment. They have never
cancelled this event, even when other companies decided
to pull out because of the financial crisis. To me, that really
shows they have both courage and character.”
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“Stern is a reliable company and an excellent employer.”

“The management
asks the staff about its
needs and anticipates
those needs.”

Name Richard Moeliker

“Stern shows great commitment to both its employees
and its partners, as well as being on top of the market
and the latest industry trends. That also explains why we
continued to post decent numbers during the financial
crisis. Stern looks very carefully at the latest trends and
what it needs to do to remain profitable. Since they do
not take any unnecessary risks, they are both a reliable
company and an excellent employer. The management asks
the staff about their needs and anticipates those needs.
For example, until recently all employees in the Facility
department were spread across several buildings. Some
people found that somewhat inconvenient, and based on
that feedback we all moved into the same building last
year. It has really improved communication between people
in the department and created a more pleasant working
environment.”

Position Stern IT Manager
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Structure
Stern Group is directed by the Management Board, which,
since the departure of former CFO Joris ten Brink in mid-2015,
consists of Henk van der Kwast and a vacant position.
The Supervisory Board proposes to fill this position effective
1 June 2016 by appointing Mr Arthur Swijter as CFO.
The Management Board is responsible for general policy and
the group’s financing and strategy. After the appointment
of Ms Loes van Dalen as Director of Stern HRM, the
Management Board and Supervisory Board will be supported
by Ms Marie-Julie Talens, who will act as the company
secretary from the General Meeting of 11 May 2016.
The Management Board and the Group Controller, Mr Finus
Porsius, together make up the Stern Management Team.

Management Report

Dealergroup Stern which comprises all the Group’s car
dealerships, has five dealer units, each of which is overseen
by one manager:
• Stern 1 (Stern Auto), managed by Arnoud Zuijdendorp
(Director), represents the brands Mercedes-Benz and smart
with a total of 11 branches
• Stern 2 (Arend Auto) has been managed for many years
already by Huub van den Brule (Director) and represents the
brands Renault, Dacia and Nissan with a total of 15 branches.
• Stern 3 (Ardea Auto) operates 17 Ford branches and is
managed by Gerrit Klock (Director).
• Stern 4 (Svala Auto specialising in Volvo, Jager Auto
specialising in Land Rover and Jaguar and Vireo Auto
specialising in Fiat and several other Fiat brands, Subaru
and Mitsubishi) with a total of 18 branches, has been
managed for over 10 years by Matthieu Snel (Director).
• Stern 5 (Heron Auto specialising in Volkswagen, Audi,
Škoda and Seat, Durmi Auto specialising in Kia and Havik
Auto specialising in Opel) has also been managed for more
than a decade by Rob Visser (Director) and operates a total
of 18 branches.

Sales of new passenger cars
Per unit
2015
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Stern Mobility Services will soon comprise 16 SternPoint
branches (formerly known as SternSchade and the multibrand
garage format SternPoint) and has for some time included
SternTec and the operational division of SternRent. Mango
Mobility and SternLogistics (SternParts) are new business
initiatives which have become direct investments of Stern
Facility Services. Stern Mobility Services is managed by
Aart de Koning (Director) and Arnout Veld (Controller).
Stern Facility Services provides IT services to all group
companies, as well as managing the Group’s owned and
rented real estate holdings, managing Stern’s central
administrative services, and procuring and coordinating the
Group’s purchasing processes. In addition, Stern Facility
Services also manages all the real estate holdings owned by
the Group and holds the shares of all divisions, investments
and Stern’s new strategic business initiatives. Stern Facility
Services is managed by Arnout Veld (Director). Furthermore,
through Stern Group and Stern Facility Services, Stern
operates specialised departments which support the group
companies in managing the Group’s primary processes as
efficiently as possible.

2014
Stern 1: 3,216

13%

Stern 1: 2,156

11%

Stern 2: 5,194

22%

Stern 2: 4,656

24%

Stern 3: 5,511

23%

Stern 3: 4,623

24%

Stern 4: 3,665

15%

Stern 4: 2,703

14%

Stern 5: 6,613

27%

Stern 5: 5,203

27%

Total: 24,199
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Stern Financial Services focuses exclusively on brandindependent (financial) mobility products and services,
the management of the automotive cases of SternLease,
SternPartners, SternRent and SternGarant, and the
administration involving the Stern Mobility Card.
As part of the new approach introduced at SternRent,
Stern Financial Services plays a role in the purchase of rental
vehicles, while the sale of new rental cars is managed by the
systems operated by SternLease. Stern Financial Services is
managed by Marco Vlaar (Director) and Arnout Veld
(Controller).

Total: 19,341

Stern CAR “CAR” is an acronym for “Controlling, Analysis
and Reporting”. Stern CAR is responsible for preparing the
Group’s monthly, quarterly and annual reports, coordinates
the annual audit together with the company auditor, serves
as the initial point of contact for financial and tax issues and
coordinates cash management. Additionally, Stern CAR
supervises process and management improvements,
including programmes to improve workshop productivity
and optimise the use of working capital. If there are
opportunities for an acquisition, Stern CAR is responsible for
due diligence. Stern CAR is managed by Finus Porsius (Group
Controller).
Stern CRM serves the large corporate market with all
Stern products and services and acts as a liaison between
the major leasing companies and the Stern group
companies. Stern CRM is also responsible for organising and
coordinating the marketing and communications of the
group as a whole. Stern CRM is managed by Bastiaan Geurts
(Director).

Sales of new light commercial vehicles
Per unit
2015

Stern NBI comprises the Group’s new strategic business
initiatives (since early 2016). These include Mango Mobility
and SternLogistics. Stern NBI is directed by the Stern
Management Team and Arnout Veld (Director of Stern
Facility Services).
Stern SLC “SLC” is an acronym for “Secretariat, Legal &
Compliance”. Stern SLC has an advisory, coordinating and
supporting role in a variety of legal issues involving both the
Management Board and the Stern operating companies.
Stern SLC also serves as a point of contact for all
compliance-related issues within the Group and ensures
compliance with regulations. Finally, Stern SLC is also
responsible for managing the company’s secretariat. Stern
SLC is managed by Marie-Julie Talens (company lawyer and
secretary).
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Stern HRM is responsible for developing and defining
HRM strategies, policy and procedures, as well as
coordinating and managing the implementation of HRM
policy and procedures for the entire group. Stern HRM also
has a supervisory role, particularly with respect to
compliance with established procedures and quality
standards, and is responsible for ensuring that HRM systems
and processes run as efficiently as possible.
Furthermore, Stern HRM supports, advises and facilitates
the primary HR process for the Group’s decentralised human
resources departments. Stern HRM is managed by Loes van
Dalen (Director), who is supported by Rob de Groot (HRM
Adviser).

Stern ICT is responsible for ensuring that the IT
environment and IT services are functional, consistent
and reliable and that ICT-related expenses are actively
monitored. ICT resources comprise Stern’s computer and
communication hardware and infrastructure. Stern ICT also
focuses on the further professionalisation of the Group’s
ICT resources, including security, cloud solutions and data
continuity.
Stern ICT is managed by Richard Moeliker (ICT Manager).

Stern VGM is in charge of managing Stern’s real estate
portfolio, comprising both owned and leased holdings. Its
activities range from regular maintenance to preparing
long-term maintenance plans, coordinating renovations and
supervising entire new construction projects. Stern VGM
supports and coordinates all building-related and
construction-related issues for the Group, as well as liaising
with the relevant external suppliers. Stern VGM is managed
by Paul Snelting (Real Estate Manager).

2014

Stern 1: 1,668

33%

Stern 1: 1,185

30%

Stern 2:

917

18%

Stern 2:

752

19%

Stern 3: 1,538

31%

Stern 3: 1,365

34%

Stern 4:

202

4%

Stern 4:

131

3%

Stern 5:

685

14%

Stern 5:

552

14%

Total: 5,010

Total: 3,985
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Stern Group Council comprises the Stern Group
Management Team, the directors of Stern 1-5, Stern Financial
Services, Stern Mobility Services and the directors of Stern
Facility Services, Stern CRM and Stern HRM. This flat,
non-hierarchical organisational structure promotes regular
– sometimes even daily – contact between members of the
Management Board and the other members of the Group
Council. The Group Council is comprised of the following
12 members: Henk van der Kwast, Finus Porsius, Arnoud
Zuijdendorp,Huub van den Brule, Gerrit Klock, Matthieu Snel,
Rob Visser, Marco Vlaar, Aart de Koning, Arnout Veld,
Bastiaan Geurts and Loes van Dalen.
Employees The number of employees, calculated on the
basis of full-time equivalents (FTEs), increased by 29 overall in
2015 to 1,979. The number of employees increased to 2,177 at
the end of 2015 and is shown in the table below, broken down
by division.

Management Report

2015

2014

Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other

1,694
47
375
61

1,652
45
372
64

Total

2,177

2,133

Sales of used passenger cars and new light commercial vehicles
Per unit
2015

2014

Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other

1,528
45
350
56

1,500
43
348
59

Total

1,979

1,950

The increase in the number of FTEs at Dealergroup Stern from
year-end 2014 mainly concerns mechanics (4.0%) as a result of
the increased revenue from workshops. The number of FTEs in
the warehouses fell by 7.0% as a result of the ongoing
centralisation of car parts warehouses.

Stern’s revenue from passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles
(absolute figures)
2015

2014

Index

New passenger cars
New light commercial
vehicles
Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

24,199

19,341

125.1

5,010

3,985

125.7

24,439

22,928

106.6

Total

53,648

46,254

2014

Stern 1:

3,458

14%

Stern 1:

3,539

Stern 2:

3,341

14%

Stern 2:

3,420

15%

Stern 3:

5,943

24%

Stern 3:

6.554

29%

15%

Stern 4:

3,778

15%

Stern 4:

2,592

11%

Stern 5:

6,992

29%

Stern 5:

5,944

26%

SternPoint: 927

4%

SternPoint: 879

4%

Total: 24,439
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2015

Market position The table below shows the total number of
new and used passenger cars and light commercial vehicles
sold by Stern.

Breakdown of the number of employees at year end
(absolute figures)
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Breakdown of the number of employees at year end
(in FTEs)

Total: 22,928

A total of 449,350 new passenger cars were registered in the
Netherlands in 2015, an increase of 61,515 (15.9%) compared
to 2014. Dealergroup Stern generated sales in 2015 of 24,199
new passenger cars, an increase of 25.1% on 2014. This brings
Stern’s market share in passenger vehicles for 2015 to 5.4%,
versus a market share of 5.0% in 2014.
Car dealerships across the Netherlands registered a large
number of vehicles in their own names during December 2015,
thereby securing the advantageous additional tax liability for
drivers for a 60-month period. The additional tax liability for
these vehicles changed in 2016 from 7% to 15% for cars
producing carbon emissions of 50 grams or less (plug-in
hybrids) and from 14% to 21% for vehicles generating carbon
emissions between 51 and 106 grams. These registrations in
the dealerships’ names at the end of 2015 are already included
in the national numbers for 2015. However, these vehicles
registered in 2015 will only be sold and/or delivered in 2016.

A total of 57,707 new light commercial vehicles were registered
in the Netherlands in 2015 – 5,933 (11.5%) more than in 2014.
On the back of the economic recovery, the market for light
commercial vehicles was significantly stronger in 2015 than in
the previous year. In 2015 Dealergroup Stern sold a total of
5,010 new light commercial vehicles, an increase of 25.7% from
2014. This raised Stern’s market share from 7.7% in 2014 to 8.7%
in 2015.

Sale before elimination of inter-company and internal revenue
Per division (x € 1,000)
2015
Dealergroup Stern:

1,097,125 85.8%

SternLease’s fleet of lease vehicles increased sharply in 2015:
from 7,295 contracts at year-end 2014 to 9,045 contracts at
year-end 2015: an increase of 1,750 contracts (24.0%).
SternLease generated average annual organic growth of 10.2%
over the past eight years, while the number of lease vehicles in
the Netherlands remained virtually unchanged during this time.
In addition to maintaining a fleet of lease vehicles, Stern
Financial Services is also in charge of financial leasing, fleet
management, car rental and maintenance contracts. With
a total of 26,475 contracts (2014: 22,450 contracts), Stern
Financial Services ranks among the top 10 Dutch leasing
companies.
The number of SternRent branches remained the same in 2015
(20). The fleet of lease vehicles at year-end 2015 included
2,119 vehicles, versus 1,976 vehicles at year-end 2014,
representing an increase of 7.7%. The average fleet totalled
2,234 vehicles in 2015 versus 2,099 vehicles in 2014.
The number of lease days increased from 565,867 in 2014
to 622,668 in 2015.
The overall state of the Dutch car body repair industry is
largely measured based on the number of Audatex damage
calculations performed by car body repair companies on
behalf of clients. The national number of damage calculations
made by Audatex reached 1,098,724 units in 2015, versus
1,075,739 units in 2014 (+2.1%). The increase in the number
of damage calculations was partially offset by a slight decline
in the average amount per damage calculation. In 2015, the
average amount involved in each case according to the
Audatex calculations was € 1,179, compared with € 1,185
in 2014, representing a decline of 0.5%.

2014
Dealergroup Stern:

891,401 84.8%

Stern Financial Services: 95,524 7.5%

Stern Financial Services: 85,326 8.1%

Stern Mobility Services: 84,679 6.6%

Stern Mobility Services: 73,468 7.0%

Other:

Other:

Total: 1,278,449

1,121 0.1%

Management Report

Nationwide, the number of registered new passenger vehicles
increased by 15.9% to 449,350 units in 2015. The main portfolio
brands held by Dealergroup Stern performed well compared to
this national average. At national level, the increase in the
number of registered new passenger cars per brand was: 29.7%
at Mercedes-Benz, 15.4% at Renault, 21.3% at Ford and 31.9%
at Volkswagen. For most brands, Stern’s relative market share
either increased or remained unchanged from 2014.

According to preliminary data provided by the Association of
Dutch Vehicle Leasing Companies (VNA), the total fleet of
lease vehicles in the Netherlands increased by 34,353 (5.2%) to
689,254, thus posting growth for the first time in five years.

1,294 0.1%

Total: 1,051,489
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Name Richard Moeliker
Position Stern IT Manager

Name René Mulders
Position Facility Services Manager, ManpowerGroup

“We are always scrutinising our processes and procedures.”

“Knowledgeable and bursting with inventive ideas.”

“Stern is an extremely dynamic company. We are always
scrutinising our processes and procedures and finding
ways of improving them. We continued to automate many
of our processes last year. We are currently exploring
opportunities provided by cloud technology and are
looking to get even more out of our existing systems
in 2016. Whereas we used to develop systems and then
train employees how to use them, we have since turned
that process around. We now start out by interviewing
employees to find out what their concerns are and what
areas require our attention. We then tweak the existing
software based on their needs. It’s a whole different way
of thinking that’s a lot more inventive.”

“Stern closely keeps track of the latest trends and
developments and really knows the market. We turn
to them for advice whenever we’re looking to upgrade
our processes. One of our goals for 2016 is to improve
our sustainability, largely through sustainable modes of
transport. For one, we are looking for more energy-efficient
transport alternatives and are exploring the option of using
rickshaws, scooters and electric cars or electric bicycles.
Of course, Stern also assesses whether our company is
ready for certain changes, that we remain realistic and
don’t get carried away. I would describe them as a reliable
adviser. They are very knowledgeable and are bursting with
inventive ideas.”

Stern Annual Report 2015

“Continuing to innovate and making individual mobility
easier.”

“Stern is always adding key new services and brands to its
portfolio. Over the past few years, I have seen Stern take
advantage of the size of their organisation by organising
things efficiently across the board, which allows them to
enter new markets. One example would be the logistics
system they use for their transport operations and the
distribution of car parts. They also have a strong online
strategy that allows them to continuously respond to
consumers’ changing search behaviour, for example when
it comes to repair and maintenance. We work closely
with Stern, which includes developing new services.
For example, we set up a collection and delivery service
together in the past year. When a car has to go in for
maintenance, we don’t require that customers take it to the
garage themselves. Instead, we offer the option to collect
the vehicle from their home or work and then return it to
them afterwards. This is just one of the many ways in which
they surprise customers with new services, continue to
innovate, and make individual mobility easier.”

“I would certainly
describe our
collaboration with
Stern as ‘inventive’,
also when it comes
to developing new
services.”

Name Jasper den Haan Position Managing Director, Autoreset BV
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Based on these calculation data, the total cost of claims for
the Netherlands in 2015 was roughly € 1,295 million (2014:
€ 1,281 million). SternSchade increased its sales by 9.0% in
2015 and thus outperformed the market.

Financial developments

Management Report

Profit after tax Profit after tax more than tripled in 2015
to € 11.1 million, an increase of by € 7.4 million compared to
2014. The effect of acquisitions on the 2015 profit was a loss of
€ 0.4 million. Organic profit after tax therefore increased by
€ 7.8 million in 2015. The 2015 profit includes the following
incidental items:
• the book gain on the sale and leaseback (SLB) of ten
strategic properties of € 2.0 million;
• costs related to the redundancy of the CFO and the search
for a new CFO of € 0.6 million;
• costs related to the reorganisation of the operating
companies of € 0.8 million;
• the provision recognised in connection with the potential
negative effects of “Dieselgate” of € 1.6 million;
• the € 1.1 million provision recognised in connection with
the potential for a ruling by the Arnhem Court of Appeal
against Stern in the substantive proceedings brought
against PMT by BOVAG (hereinafter referred to as the
“premium shift”).
The balance of these exceptional items in 2015 represents
a charge of € 2.1 million before tax. Adjusted for these
incidentals, the 2015 profit before tax is the highest profit
in Stern’s history.
Revenue The table below shows revenue broken down
by division.
Revenue by division
(x € 1,000)

26

2015

2014

Index

Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other revenue

1,097,125
95,524
84,679
1,121

891,401
85,326
73,468
1,294

123.1
112.0
115.3
86.6

Revenue
Elimination of intercompany and internal
revenue

1,278,449 1,051,489

112.6

(183,268) (153,190)

119.6

Net revenue

1,095,181
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898,299

121.9

Revenue at Dealergroup Stern increased by € 205.7 million
(23.1%) to € 1,097.1 million, driven primarily by the surge in
sales of new passenger cars (+25.1%). The number of new
light commercial vehicles sold by Dealergroup Stern has also
increased sharply as a result of the improved economic
conditions (25.7%).
Revenue at Stern Financial Services increased by € 10.2 million
(11.6%) to € 95.5 million. The steady growth of the fleet of
lease vehicles, in particular, by 1,750 units (24.0%) to 9,045
contracts at the end of 2015 accounts for the net increase in
revenue.
The increase in the revenue of Stern Mobility Services by
€ 11.2 million (15.3%) to € 84.7 million is related mainly to
the acquisition of Mango Mobility at the end of 2014. Organic
revenue increased by € 3.5 million, equivalent to 4.8%.
Revenue of Dealergroup Stern The table below shows the
gross revenue of Dealergroup Stern before elimination of
inter-company and internal revenue based on the sales of new
and used passenger vehicles and light commercial vehicles.
Dealergroup Stern’s revenue before elimination
of inter-company and internal revenue
(x € 1,000)
2015

2014

Index

522,918

384,981

135.8

New passenger cars
New light commercial
vehicles
Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

123,917

97,509

127.1

264,937

236,649

112.0

Total

911,772

719,139

126.8

In addition to an increase in the numbers of new passenger
cars (25.1%), the average price per car has also increased by
8.6% to € 21,609 (exclusive of BPM (luxury tax) and exclusive
of VAT). This increase was driven by strong sales of plug-in
hybrids in 2015, which have a higher-than-average listed
value. Nationwide, plug-in hybrids accounted for 43,769 of all
vehicle registrations in 2015, equating to 9.7% (versus 3.9% in
2014). Due to change in the additional tax liability rate for
these plug-in hybrids from 7% to 15% with effect from 2016,
many business drivers purchased plug-in hybrids before the
end of 2015.
Of the total number of registrations of new passenger cars in
2015, a total of 40.2% concerned leased vehicles (versus 28.2%
in 2014). The number of deliveries to leasing companies
increased to 46,642 units (43.0%), thereby accounting for the
bulk of the increase in the number of registrations in 2015.
Of the 2015 registrations, 34.9% (135,330 units) were for

private buyers. In 2014 this was 141,283 vehicles, or 36.5%.
The number of new passenger cars purchased by consumers
therefore fell by 4.2% in 2015. Part of this decrease is due to
the growing number of private buyers opting for private
leasing or used cars with low mileage.

which set up a route service with national coverage at the end
of 2014. This route service provides parts and components for
all 21 car brands represented by Stern to the company’s own
workshops and to multibrand garages and car body repair
shops.

The market for used vehicles was strong in 2015. Nationwide,
the number of used passenger cars sold (business to
consumer) increased by 48,022 units (4.7%). Dealergroup
Stern increased its sales by 6.6%, outperforming the market.
Due to the limited availability of newer, marketable used
passenger cars and a slightly higher market demand, margins
in 2015 increased sharply from 2014. Due to the lack of newer
used passenger cars in the Netherlands, Dealergroup Stern
is increasingly importing vehicles from other EU countries.
This trend is also visible at national level. The number of
used imported passenger cars increased by 27.7% in 2014
to 140,172 units in 2015.

Revenue of Stern Financial Service Revenue before
elimination of inter-company and internal revenue reached
€ 95.5 million in 2015, versus € 85.3 million in 2014, an increase
of 11.9%. The data for the fleet of lease vehicles are shown in
the table below.

Revenue from after-sales at workshops and warehouses
before elimination of inter-company and internal revenue
(x € 1,000)
2015

2014

Index

Workshops
Warehouses

80,420
104,933

76,755
95,507

104.8
109.9

Total

185,353

172,262

107.6

Revenue generated by workshops (including the preparation
costs of new and used passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles for road use) increased by 4.8% in 2015 to
€ 80.4 million. Nationwide, revenue generated by workshops
up to and including the third quarter of 2015 increased by
3.4% according to the BOVAG industry barometer.
Revenue from warehouses operated by Dealergroup Stern
consists of deliveries of car parts by internal workshops, as
well as deliveries of parts to major customers, including
multibrand garages and large car body repair chains, known
as “preliminary sales revenues”. The revenue from car parts
delivered by workshops increased by 8.0% in 2015, mainly
as a result of the significantly higher sales of new and used
passenger vehicles and light commercial vehicles from 2014.
The accessories in new passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles which are installed after submission of the vehicle
registration certificate are accounted for as revenue generated
by warehouses. The preliminary sales revenues increased by
15.0% in 2015, driven mainly by the efforts of SternLogistics,

Carrying amount
at year end
Number of contracts
at year end
Carrying amount
per contract (x € 1)

2015

2014

Index

160,559

121,349

132.3

9,045

7,295

124.0

17,751

16,635

106.7
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Revenue from after-sales at Dealergroup Stern The table
below shows the revenue of Dealergroup Stern from
workshops and warehouses before elimination of intercompany and internal revenue.

Data on fleet of lease vehicles
(x € 1,000)

The national lease fleet increased by 5.2% in 2015. SternLease
increased its lease fleet through organic growth to 9,045
vehicles (24.0%) in 2015. SternLease’s leasing products are on
display in the Dealergroup Stern showrooms. Stern dealers
receive an incentive for these lease contracts which is above
market level. New contracts concluded in this manner are
known within the company as “dealer leasing contracts”.
This sales channel is one of the advantages SternLease has
over competing leasing companies, and provides SternLease
with an extensive network of sales points throughout the
Netherlands.
In addition to sales through Dealergroup Stern, SternLease
also operates a number of sales departments in various parts
of the Netherlands. This sales channel is known in the
company as “regional leasing”. The rapid growth of the lease
fleet operated by SternLease in 2015 was achieved through
both dealer and regional leasing.
Besides its lease fleet, Stern Financial Services also manages
financial leases, external fleets and maintenance contracts.
With a total of 26,745 contracts (2014: 22,450), Stern Financial
Services ranks in the top 10 Dutch leasing companies.
The fleet management carried out by Stern Financial Services
at the risk and expense of its customer base is accommodated
in independent cooperatives for each customer. Stern’s stake
in these cooperatives is managed by SternPartners.
The SternPartners fleet increased slightly from 843 vehicles
at year-end 2014 to 867 vehicles at year-end 2015.
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Name Richard Moeliker
Position Stern IT Manager

Name Jasper den Haan
Position Managing Director, Autoreset BV

“Stern’s employees are extremely loyal.”

“Stern is a unique customer and partner.”

“Stern makes a point of doing more business with
fewer partners. This means we have stronger and closer
relationships with our manufacturing partners and
suppliers. Partners do a lot more than just carry out orders
– they help us set our strategy. It means we’re working
together on a higher level. That obviously goes both ways,
and we make sure our partners also get a piece of the pie.
This helps strengthen the sense of loyalty they feel towards
each other. Stern’s employees are also extremely loyal –
most of them have been working there for many years. Our
people are highly independent, will gladly brainstorm with
us and show a lot of personal initiative. They are pleased
that their employer trusts them and will always go that
extra mile.”

“Our company has a very close relationship with Stern.
How did that come about? They want us to play an active
part in defining their strategy and operating processes.
We work together to see how we can surprise our
customers and serve them even better. You can tell just
how loyal Stern and Autoreset are towards each other
when something goes wrong. We provide Stern with around
100 drivers a day, so occasional scheduling errors are
inevitable. When something like that happens, we quickly
find a solution and handle it smoothly. Our shared end
customers will not notice anything, and we end up feeling
like a real partner and not just another supplier. To me,
that’s what makes Stern a unique customer and partner.”
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“Stern makes me feel like their number-one customer.”

“We work together very smoothly and there’s a mutual
sense of loyalty that seems to get stronger every
year. Stern has been a solid partner to us ever since
we first started working together: they are extremely
knowledgeable and also have a strong sense of
responsibility. We can rely on Stern even when they
don’t expect anything in return. Let me give you
a recent example. Our fleet includes around 550 vehicles,
and contracts for the majority of them were renewed
in 2013 and 2014.
This means 2015 was a relatively quiet year and that 2016
will be as well. What I appreciate about Stern is that they
always show the same level of commitment and care.
Even when I need just one car, they will make me feel like
I’m their number-one customer.”

Name René Mulders

“We can rely on
Stern even when
they don’t expect
anything in return.”

Position Facility Services Manager, ManpowerGroup
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Revenue of Stern Mobility Services The table below shows
gross revenue generated by Stern Mobility Services before
elimination of inter-company and internal revenue broken
down by the various activities.
Revenue of Stern Mobility Services before elimination
of inter-company and internal revenue
(x € 1,000)
2015

2014

Index

23,705

21,683

109.3

Car body repair
Light commercial vehicle
interiors
Multibrand garage
activities
E-mobility
Rental operations

2,972

1,854

160.2

9,908
7,641
40,453

11,281
–
38,650

87.8
104.7

Total

84,680

73,467

115.3
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Total revenue generated by the Stern Mobility Services
division increased by € 11.2 million (15.3%) to € 84.7 million in
2015.
SternSchade increased its revenue by € 2.0 million in 2015,
equivalent to 9.3% of the 2014 revenue, versus an estimated
national revenue growth of only 1.5%. The increase in
SternSchade’s revenue was driven by various factors,
including car body repairs for SternLease (23.6%) as a result
of the increase in the lease fleet.
The company achieved external growth with a large project
for the national police force. This project is divided into car
body repair services for various law enforcement precincts.
Revenue increased by 15.1% following the addition of a new
precinct in 2015. Finally, SternSchade and SternPoint set up
a customer contact centre (CCC) together in 2015, which, in
conjunction with Google AdWords campaigns, serves the car
body repair market for private customers (i.e. non-controlled
body repairs). Revenue from car body repairs performed on
private customer vehicles increased by 39.1% between 2014
and 2015 as a result of this and other factors.
Revenue from interiors for light commercial vehicles, currently
part of SternTec, increased sharply in 2015 by € 1.1 million,
an increase of 60.3% compared to 2014. The new range of
aluminium products launched in 2015 in conjunction with a
sales brochure app used both by external business associates
and by Dealergroup Stern contributed to this substantial
revenue growth.
Following the reduction in a number of SternPoint branches
from six in late 2014 to four at year-end 2015, total revenue
from multibrand garage activities (sales and after-sales
30
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combined) fell by 12.2% to € 9.9 million in 2015. Revenue
per branch increased significantly. Revenue from after-sales
remained virtually the same in 2015, despite the reduction in
the number of branches from 2014. This is due to the efforts
made by the Customer Contact Centre in contacting the
private customer market, in conjunction with strategic Google
AdWords campaigns.
Mango Mobility’s E-mobility activities became part of Stern
in 2015. The revenue generated in 2015 from E-mobility of
€ 7.6 million is 46.0% higher than the revenue generated by
the previous shareholders.
SternRent’s revenue increased by € 1.8 million in 2015, or 4.7%
compared to 2014. The average fleet included 2,234 vehicles in
2015 versus 2,099 in 2014, an increase of 6.4%. The number of
lease days increased from 565,867 in 2014 to 622,668 in 2015:
up 10%. The utilisation ratio was higher in 2015 than in 2014.
Due to demand for smaller rental cars, the rate per day was
lower in 2015 than in 2014.
Operating result (EBIT) The table below shows a
breakdown of the company’s operating profit by division.
Operating result (EBIT)
(x € 1,000)
2015

2014

Index

Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other

15,251
8,445
(1,946)
(2,941)

234
8,453
(2,570)
(2,367)

6,385.0
99.9
75.7
124.2

Total

18,809

3,750

501.6

The operating profit of Dealergroup Stern increased by
€ 15.0 million to € 15.3 million. At the same time, the sales
margin increased by € 13.3 million thanks to higher sales of
new passenger cars (numbers +25.1%) and light commercial
vehicles (numbers +25.7%), a higher average sales price per
car (8.0%), as well as a slightly higher relative margin.
The sharp increase in the sales of passenger cars was driven
mainly by the delivery of a large number of plug-in hybrids to
business drivers in the fourth quarter of 2015.
The relative margin on used passenger cars in 2015 improved
significantly from 2014 in 2015 on the back of the higher market
demand. The revenue (5.0%) and margin (4.0%) of the work
shops operated by Dealergroup Stern increased in 2015 from
2014, and in doing so outperformed the market as a whole.
Dealergroup Stern’s employee expenses increased by 3.5%,
mainly due to having to hire additional mechanics as a result
of the higher-than-expected revenue from workshops.

The pension expenses of Dealergroup Stern were also higher
in 2015 than in 2014. This was the result of a provision made
in 2015 for the possible negative outcome of ongoing legal
action (substantive proceedings) between BOVAG and the
Occupational Pension Fund for the Metal and Technology
Industry (Pensioenfonds Metaal en Techniek, or PMT). If the
court rules against BOVAG, the distribution of the employer
and employee portions of the pension contributions will likely
be adjusted retroactively from the start of 2015. The other
operating expenses of Dealergroup Stern increased by 5.1%,
partly because of higher cost allocations at the holding
companies. Dealergroup Stern posted operating profit of
€ 15.3 million, equivalent to 1.3% of total revenue.

Stern Mobility Services reported an operating loss
in 2015 of € 1.9 million, versus a loss of € 2.6 million in 2014.
The operating loss is due to the combination of relatively high
costs related to structural changes and marketing efforts at
Mango Mobility and the still-underperforming SternPoint.
By contrast, SternSchade had a reasonably good year while
SternTec had an exceptionally strong year.
SternRent’s operating profit remained virtually unchanged
from 2014. Despite a higher utilisation ratio and a 6.4% higher
average fleet (2,234 in 2015 versus 2,099 in 2014), the gross
margin fell slightly as a result of the marginally lower average
daily rate. This lower daily rate was due to demand for smaller
rental cars.
The operating profit of SternSchade dropped slightly in 2015
from 2014, while revenue was 9.0% higher in 2015.
The relative margin was marginally lower in 2015 than in 2014
due to a change in the revenue mix. Employee expenses
increased by 4.7% from 2014. The company’s own employee
expenses decreased: the increase was entirely the result of the
hiring of temporary workers as a result of the higher-thanexpected revenue. These relatively expensive temporary
workers will eventually be replaced with more affordable
company employees.
The prices for brand supplies purchased from other group
companies and charged by Dealergroup Stern to SternSchade
were not at market level. If this had been the case,
SternSchade’s operating profit would have been at the desired
level.

2015 was a poor year for SternPoint: while it managed to
increase its operating profit in 2015 from 2014, the company
continued to operate at a loss. Although revenue from
workshops was unchanged on 2014, start-up costs and
expenses related to the reduction in the number of branches
resulted in a large operating loss in 2015. The number of
SternPoint branches was recently reduced from seven to four
– this number is too small to maintain a viable format with
its own overheads, customer contact centre and a separate
management. It was therefore decided to integrate these
four SternPoints effective April 2016 with SternSchade into
a single, redesigned format operating under the name
SternPoint. Stern Group will be responsible for launching the
brand and keeping the new SternPoint format up to date.
This will create substantial cost savings.
Management Report

The operating profit of Stern Financial Services reached
€ 8.4 million, virtually equal to 2014, despite the 24.0%
increase in the size of the lease fleet. SternLease ceased to
be part of the Stern Groep N.V. tax entity at the end of 2014.
Due to various factors including transfer pricing provisions,
the interest spread for the leasing activities was increased
with effect from 2015. Adjusted for this interest-rate increase,
Stern Financial Services managed to improve its operating
profit substantially.

In 2015, SternTec improved its operating profit significantly
from 2014: its revenue grew by 60.3% as a result of
new product launches (the Flexmo range of products)
at slightly more favourable margins, while there was virtually
no change in employee expenses and operating expenses.
SternTec’s returns were very satisfactory in 2015.

Mango Mobility became part of Stern Group in 2015, and in
the past year its structure and management were aligned
with Stern’s structure and procedures. Several of its branches
were also relocated, including the Mango Experience Center
in Amsterdam. The non-recurring expenses involved in this
operation were relatively high. Steep marketing expenses
and the sometimes limited availability of specific items also
weighed down on profits, and the company still operated
at a loss in 2015.
The operating profit in the “Other” division comprises the
results of the holding companies, including the dividends and
the revaluation of the stake in Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V.
Due to the intentional decision not to charge all the expenses
incurred by the holding company on to the individual divisions,
the “Other” division inevitably operates at a loss.
Expenses related to strategy development and managing
the company are not included in the management fee paid
to the divisions, for example. The “Other” division incurred an
operating loss of € 2.9 million in 2015, having previously
suffered a loss (in 2014) of € 2.4 million. The 2015 profit also
includes the non-recurring costs related to the departure
of the CFO and the search for his replacement. These costs
totalled € 0.6 million.
Earnings from the stake in Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V.
were € 0.7 million lower in 2015 than in 2014 as a result of the
lower revaluation in 2015. The gain on sale as a result of the
sale and leaseback transaction in 2015 was € 2.0 million and is
also recognised in the “Other” division.
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Operating profit before depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) Profit before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortisation on property, plant and equipment and intangible
current assets (EBITDA) is shown in the table below.
Operating profit before depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA)
(x € 1,000)

Management Report

2015

2014

Index

Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other

18,639
41,476
7,919
3,701

3,497
38,056
8,068
4,065

533.0
109.0
98.2
91.0

EBITDA (gross)

71,735

53,686

133.6

By cost of sales
Depreciation and
interest – leasing
Depreciation and
interest – rental

(33,023)

(29,593)

111.6

(9,223)

(9,093)

101.4

29,489

15,000

196.6

EBITDA (net)

The interest and depreciation charges related to the leasing
and rental activities are recognised under cost of sales, in
compliance with IFRS. Factoring in these items, gross EBITDA
in 2015 totalled € 71.7 million, an increase of 33.6% from 2014.
Dealergroup Stern showed the sharpest increase, with
excellent results for 2015, along with SternLease, which saw
substantial growth in its fleet of lease vehicles in the past year.
The lower EBITDA in the “Other” division is due to the sale
and leaseback transaction completed in November 2015.
Stern Financial Services’ net debt-to-EBITDA ratio was 2.41 at
year-end 2014 and 2.94 at year-end 2015. For Stern as a whole,
this ratio was 5.46 at the end of 2014 and 4.17 at year-end 2015
(excluding supplier credit).
Result from investments The result from investments
consists of Stern’s share in the minority stakes in a number
of cooperatives with fleets managed by Stern.
Financial income and expenses At € 4.6 million, financial
expenses increased by € 0.4 million from 2014. Interest
charges decreased as a result of the lower Euribor, which fell in
2015 from the previous year. However, utilisation of working
capital at Dealergroup Stern was higher in 2015 following an
increase in activities, which resulted in higher interest charges.
The lower Euribor in 2015 – which is currently actually
negative – has also resulted in higher interest charges relating
to interest-rate swap transactions.

32

Stern Annual Report 2015

Taxes The company recorded profit before tax of
€ 14.4 million in 2015, a total of € 3.4 million of which is due in
tax. Of this tax charge, only € 0.3 million is actually payable in
the immediate future, namely the immediate short-term tax
liability of the fiscal unity Stern Leasing N.V. The remainder of
the tax charge is taken to the deferred tax asset arising from
tax losses carried forward.
In 2014, a tax gain of € 3.7 million was recognised after the
company was able to fully recognize the tax losses available
for compensation at the end of the year, after the SternLease
lease contracts were sold at a book profit for tax purposes to
a newly established sister company (Stern Leasing N.V.)
outside the fiscal unity Stern Groep N.V.
Statement of financial position The balance sheet total at
year-end 2015 was € 585.7 million, versus € 567.6 million at
year-end 2014. Of the € 18.1 million increase (3.2%), a total of
€ 42.2 million is the result of the increase in the leasing and
rental portfolio, € 17.5 million is related to the increase in the
stock of passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, while
€ 17.0 million results from an increase in trade receivables.
These increases are offset by lower operational property, plant
and equipment by € 58.9 million, mainly as a result of the sale
and leaseback of 10 strategic properties. The main reason for
the larger number of passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles was the large number of plug-in hybrids registered in
dealerships’ names at the end of 2015 in order to remain
subject to the 7% additional tax liability rate for another
60 months from that time onward. The substantial trade
receivables concern receivables from leasing companies for
the plug-in hybrids delivered to business drivers in December
2015. These larger-than-usual stocks and trade receivables are
non-recurring in nature.
The number of lease contracts increased to 1,750 from
year-end 2014 (24.0%) to 9,045 at year-end 2015. As a result,
the lease fleet increased by € 39.2 million from year-end 2014.
Equity increased by € 10.2 million during the year under review
to € 150.8 million at year-end 2015. This increase was driven by
various factors, including the profit after tax for 2015 of
€ 11.1 million, the € 0.5 million increase in the value of the
interest rate swaps and a € 1.4 million decrease as a result of
the cash interim dividend paid in December 2015.
Solvency Stern Group’s overall solvency rate at year-end
2015 amounted to 25.7%, versus 24.8% at year-end 2014.
Based on a regular solvency rate of 12.5% for the car leasing
operations and of 20% for the car rental operations, the
solvency rate for the other operations amounted to 33.7%
versus 31.1% at year-end 2014. At year-end 2015, the solvency
rate (after deduction of goodwill) of the other operations
stood at 27.6% (year-end 2014: 25.1%). This rate is important
for the purpose of the bank covenants. The minimum solvency
rate agreed with the banks is 25.0%.

The current dividend policy was adopted at the General
Meeting held in May 2012. This policy is based on the principle
that dividend can only be distributed in the event of excess
solvency. This excess solvency is calculated based on a
solvency rate of 15.0% for the leasing operations and 30.0%
for the other operations. Excess solvency at year-end 2015
stood at € 4.3 million.
Shares and earnings per share The number of shares
issued remained unchanged during the year under review
(5,925,000). At year-end 2015, the company had 250,000 own
– not cancelled – shares in its portfolio (year-end 2014:
255,260 own shares in portfolio). In 2015, the weighted
average of outstanding shares was 5,673,560 (versus 5,659,809
in 2014). Based on the weighted average number of
outstanding shares, earnings per share for 2015 amounted
to € 1.95 (2014: € 0.64).
Equity per share Equity per share, calculated based on
the number of outstanding shares, increased from € 24.79
at year-end 2014 to € 26.57 at year-end 2015.

After the strong demand for vehicles during the fourth quarter
of 2015 (ahead of the increase in the additional tax liability
rate), we expect business for Dealergroup Stern to be far more
evenly distributed in 2016. Some passenger cars registered in
2015 are still scheduled to be delivered to customers in early
2016, subject to the lower tax liability, and by the end of 2016
we may see another – more modest – peak before the
increase of the additional tax liability for plug-in hybrids is
increased by another increment.
The reduction, effective 2017, in the highest additional tax
liability rate from 25% to 22% will curb the number of sales,
as many consumers will wait until 2017 to purchase more
expensive passenger cars and cars with higher carbon
emissions. The overall number of registrations of passenger
cars will be significantly lower in 2016 than the 2015 level,
which was artificially high on account of the registration of a
large number of plug-in hybrids in the fourth quarter of 2015.
However, this does not mean that the revenue of Dealergroup
Stern will follow the same pattern. This corresponds to the
number of deliveries of passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles, which is likely to be a more regular pattern than the
number of registrations. However, it would not be realistic to
expect the exceptionally large contribution by Dealergroup
Stern to be equalled in 2016.
At Stern Financial Services, the growth rate of SternLease in
2016 is expected to be lower than the exceptionally high
growth rate seen in 2015 (24.0%). The car leasing and fleet
management portfolio, which comprised approximately

Stern Mobility Services intends to sharpen its focus in 2016.
New strategic initiatives, including Mango Mobility and
SternLogistics, will henceforth be managed directly by the
Management Team of Stern Group. The 12 SternSchade
branches will be trading as SternPoint from now on, which
also means that the services provided by the car body repair
companies will be extended to include car window repair,
quick service, tyre changes, towbars and other services.
The four remaining SternPoints will become part of the
new, redesigned format. The plan is to expand SternPoint
autonomously and through targeted acquisition into
a national network. The possible benefits of integrating
a portion of SternRent and all of SternTec into SternPoint are
currently being explored. By increasing its focus in this way,
Stern Mobility Services will reduce the number of
administrative overhead and customer contact centres at
Stern Mobility Services from five to two.
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10,000 vehicles at year-end 2015, will nevertheless exceed
11,000 vehicles in 2016.The other financial mobility products
will also show continued or renewed growth. As a result, Stern
Financial Services’ contribution to group profit will not be
lower than that for 2015.

This approach, along with the implementation of market-level
internal price terms ensures that Stern Mobility will contribute
to the group profit in 2016.
We also expect a slight economic slowdown, along with an
increase in contract wages as soon as a new BOVAG Collective
Labour Agreement is signed. This will be offset to some extent
by significant cost savings at the holding companies and by
lower interest charges. On account of all these variables, we
cannot make any definite statements about Stern’s results in
2016. However, in the wake of the measures implemented
Stern has become significantly more stable and strong in
recent years, and we expect the results to gradually improve
further. Since it is impossible to predict government
interventions in the automotive industry, it would not be wise
to rule out temporary setbacks or sudden peaks.

General information
Corporate Governance Since the beginning of 2009,
Stern’s policy has been in line with the provisions of the
Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”), which was
presented by the Frijns Committee in December 2008. Stern
endorses the Code, including the “Comply or Explain” principle
as intended by the drafters of the Code. Stern is of the view
that some of the provisions of the Code are less compatible
with smaller exchange-listed companies, a category in which
Stern is classified. Page 53 and following explain the points
where Stern deviates from the Code. This section also provides
the specific information required under the Code.
Stern Annual Report 2015
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Risks The main risks identified by the Stern Management are
shown on page 50 and following of this Annual Report 2015.
Stern aims to reduce the risks to which it is exposed. As an
integral part of its business operations, it has therefore
implemented specific measures and introduced specific
procedures, a process in which it increasingly makes use of
control systems. The Management Board is accountable to the
Supervisory Board for the effectiveness of these measures,
procedures and systems. The periodic reporting and control
cycle constitutes the core of the control systems. Entities at
all levels of the Stern organisation periodically submit reports
including notes, as prescribed by the head office. These
reports are consistently evaluated and analysed. This includes
the assessment and documentation of business risks and a
quarterly evaluation of these risks (“Stern in Control”). A key
part of this process is ensuring that all relevant information is
submitted in a timely manner. Stern has organised its internal
control systems in accordance with the recommendations of
the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations (COSO) of the
Tradeway Commission.

Management Report

Based on its findings, the Management Board confirms that
the internal controls of the financial reporting provide a
reasonable measure of certainty that the financial reporting
does not contain any material misstatements and that the
internal control systems performed adequately in 2015.
It should be noted that this does not mean that the measures,
procedures and systems provide certainty that the operational
and financial objectives have been achieved, nor does it
provide certainty that any misstatement, inaccuracies, errors,
fraud and non-compliance with laws and/or regulations can be
fully prevented.
Corporate Social Responsibility For the third consecutive
year, Stern has detailed its Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR) policy in its annual report. CSR at Stern initially focused
on health and safety and was subsequently expanded to
include several other CSR topics at all levels of the
organisation. Examples of our CSR policies include involving
stakeholders in creating policies and actually reducing the
impact on the environment through targeted waste and
energy management.
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Statement of Director’s responsibilities In view of the
implementation on 1 January 2009 of the Transparency
Guideline (Section 5:25c, subsection 2c of the Dutch Financial
Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht)), the
Management Board certifies, to the best of its knowledge,
that:
• the 2015 financial statements, as included on pages 85 to
129 of this Annual Report 2015, provide a true and fair view
of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of
Stern Groep N.V. and the associates included in the
consolidation for the 2015 financial year;
• the Report of the Management Board, as included on
page 14 to 34 of this Annual Report 2015, provides a true
and fair view of the status as at 31 December 2015 and of
developments during the 2015 financial year relating to
Stern Groep N.V. and its associates, the details of which are
contained in the 2015 financial statements. This Annual
Report 2015 describes the fundamental risks to which
Stern Groep N.V. is exposed.
Amsterdam, the Netherlands, 8 March 2016
The Management Board
H.H. van der Kwast, Chairman
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SternLease delivered another solid performance
in 2015. Its financial results were once again
excellent and the fleet increased to more than
9,000 vehicles.
Several relatively new leasing services have
proved to be successful, while the effects of the
anticipated market revival are also reflected
in the strong fleet growth. Whereas the Dutch
leasing market overall showed only marginal
growth in 2015, the SternLease fleet grew by
24.0%. After the especially busy last quarter
of 2015, the leasing market is expected to slow
down in 2016. SternLease is nevertheless
expected to continue to show strong growth
in 2016.

Performance in external fleet management (SternPartners)
and financial mobility products (SternPolis, SternCredit and
SternGarant) improved from last year, with marginal growth
in all portfolios except SternGarant.
Stern’s financial mobility products deliver strong results in
their own right, but are also essential to filling the Dealergroup
Stern workshops and Stern’s car body repair companies.
On account of this strategic and commercial interest, the
company aims to generate faster growth in these portfolios.
Further improving sales through Dealergroup Stern and
e-commerce are key tools in this process, while other priorities
include increased cross-selling of the company’s own
insurance, financing and warranty products.

Stern Financial Services – figures
2015

2014

Fleet under
management
Numbers 2015

12,031
2014: 10,114
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SternLease:
SternPartners:
SternRent:
SternCredit (business):

9,045
867
2,119
5,669

SternLease:
SternPartners:
SternRent:
SternCredit (business):

7,295
843
1,976
5,041

Stern Financial Services 

FULL STEAM
AHEAD

Mobility
contracts

Mobility
contracts

SternMobility
Card

Employees
(FTEs)

Numbers 2015

Numbers 2015

Numbers 2015

2014: 26,212

2014: 17,568

2014: 43

25,534

18,650

45
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SternRent generated solid revenue and profit in
2015. The average fleet size increased, as did
the average utilisation ratio and the number of
rental days sold. The mix of vehicles changed in
line with the market trend. SternRent began
gathering customer reviews in the past year.
At 8.9, the customer satisfaction score can
be considered high: 60% of the respondents
awarded SternRent a score of 9 or 10.
SternSchade generated strong revenue growth on the back of
the higher profits at SternLease and SternPolis, more active
marketing strategies in the consumer market, and occasional
cases of hail damage. We are seeing significant revenue
growth, which is actively generated in the various virtual
channels. The majority of brands represented by Stern are
currently working together on setting up a system for
brand-certified car body repair services. In addition, they are
also working on optimising their processes and improving
their efficiency in order to meet changing customer needs and

requirements, and on expanding their services to include
general maintenance, car window repair and other similar
services. Integration with SternPoint is an obvious choice.
SternPoint has been working hard on further developing
its format. Through these new procedures the company
managed to attract a large number of new customers,
particularly in the second half of the year. SternPoint also
significantly improved its average customer satisfaction
score, which currently stands at 8.8.
SternTec enjoyed strong sales in the past year. The launch of
the new Flexmo product line is now complete and is expected
to further increase revenue in 2016. SternTec managed to turn
the losses of the previous year into a clear profit.
Mango saw its revenue grow by an impressive 46.0% in 2015.
The growth in revenue at Mango stores can be described as
significant. The various media campaigns were successful,
and during the year the company worked hard on aligning its
structure with Stern’s processes and procedures in the areas
of logistics, use of IT resources, accounting systems, and so
on. Mango is expected to see its revenue grow further in 2016.

Stern Mobility Services – figures

Damage cases
settled

Interiors
sold

Rental days
sold

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 20,359

2014: 660

2014: 565,867

21,851
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1,290

622,668

Stern Mobility Services 

FOCUS
THROUGH
INTEGRATION

Mobility scooters
sold

Sales of used passenger
cars and light commercial
vehicles

Employees
(FTEs)

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 1,384

2014: 879

2014: 348

2,044

927

350
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Stern Auto is the first Mercedes-Benz dealership in
the Netherlands to earn the official VanPro II certificate.
This certification assures it of support in any high-quality
investments it makes in establishing a dedicated strategy
for delivery vans. There was also a strong growth in the sales
of delivery vans: all variable margins have been achieved.

The year 2015 brought new success to Stern
Auto, which set new sales records with its
attractive Mercedes-Benz models. This increased
the number of workshop hours, and external
hours have remained stable despite the negative
trend nationwide. Sales of over-the-counter
parts increased again thanks to a focus on
acquisition, making this a strong foundation of
SternParts’ future plans. Stern Auto was recently
awarded the highest score of any company
of its kind in the Netherlands, based on the
“2020 strategy” launched by Mercedes-Benz.

SternTrucks set itself the goal of growth in the truck segment,
and is on the way to achieving this objective, having doubled
its sales volume and landing a number of new contracts with
large fleet owners. The amount of work available in after-sales
services continues to fluctuate strongly but is currently at an
acceptable level. A more coordinated management structure
will be established for the truck branches. There is evidently
not enough organic growth to reach the minimum scale
required for a solid, profitable truck business, so the company
is looking for a strategic acquisition.
Having posted a record profit in 2015, Stern Auto looks
to the future with confidence.

Sales of new passenger cars helped boost profit in 2015,
thanks in part to the C350 plug-in hybrid which has an
additional tax liability rate of 7%. The dedicated strategy
for fleet sales, smart and online contributed to this success.
Stern Auto’s national share amounted to more than 22%,
higher than the projected 20.6%. Sales of used passenger
cars increased slightly, although margins are still not up to
desired levels.

Stern 1 – figures

New passenger
vehicles

New light
commercial vehicles

Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 2,156

2014: 1,185

2014: 3,539

3,216
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1,668

3,458

Stern 1 

STRONG
OUTPERFORMANCE

2015

Branches

2014

Employees
(FTEs)

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 11

2014: 363

11

365

Sales:
59
Workshop:
197
Warehouse:
38
Miscellaneous: 71

Sales:
55
Workshop:
192
Warehouse:
42
Miscellaneous: 74
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sale price to increase significantly, which helps boost
dealership returns. It is not certain at this stage whether
Renault will have sufficient production facilities available
in 2016 to meet the higher demand. This development has
presented us with the challenge of retaining our customer
base.

Stern 2 saw its profit increase sharply from last
year: a solid result which exceeded expectations.

Stern 2’s policy continues to rely on strict cost management,
further optimisation of volume and margins on used vehicles
and sales of additional Stern products and services combined
with maximum utilisation of market potential. Availability
of sufficient production capacity for the Dutch market will
determine Stern 2’s returns in 2016. And since this is beyond
our control, Stern 2 needs to monitor this closely.

There was a strong upswing in the domestic market, with
a stable market share for Renault and Dacia. Renault offers
an attractive range of models, but this unfortunately lacks
the popular hybrids eligible for tax credits in the Netherlands.
To compensate for this, the company focused on achieving
high margins on sales of used cars and on customer retention,
and less on following the national trend of new vehicle
registrations. The number of workshop customers surpassed
the national trend.
The addition of the Nissan brand to the Stern 2 portfolio
in mid-2014 turned out to be a good move. The Nissan
dealerships have made a solid contribution to Stern 2’s total
profit. Nissan’s market share in the Netherlands continues to
grow, allowing the contribution to Stern 2’s profit to increase
further.
Renault’s new range of models was exceptionally well received
in the market. Unlike in previous years, the company released
attractive new high-end models – the Talisman and the Espace
– in the past year. This has made it possible for the average

Stern 2 – figures

New
passenger cars

New light
commercial vehicles

Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 4,656

2014: 752

2014: 3,420

5,194
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917

3,341

Stern 2 

SOLID
CONTRIBUTION

2015

Branches

Employees
(FTEs)

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 15

2014: 232

15

231

Sales:
45
Workshop:
134
Warehouse:
15
Miscellaneous: 37

2014

Sales:
47
Workshop:
131
Warehouse:
15
Miscellaneous: 39
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In 2015 the Capelle a/d IJssel branch was merged with the
nearby Rotterdam-Alexanderpolder branch. This has brought
the number of branches which either closed or merged with
another branch to a total of six. By offering its customers ample
personal attention, Ardea Auto has managed to maintain the
revenue previously generated at the closed branches.
The branch located on the A2 motorway in Amsterdam was
converted into a “Ford Store”, an experience centre concept
which will be rolled out worldwide, to create the ultimate brand
experience. A second Dutch Ford Store is scheduled to be
opened in The Hague in 2016.

After completing a large-scale reorganisation in
2014, Stern managed to achieve an impressive
turnaround thanks to an ongoing focus on
reducing costs, increasing volume and improving
profit margins. Ardea Auto worked hard in 2015
on improving quality, optimising its processes
and putting the customer first. An overall to
some extent non-recurring loss in 2014 was
converted into a profit of more than € 1 million
in 2015.

Ardea Auto is ready for the new year, in which it will be less
affected by tax measures than in 2015, which will see Ford’s
competitive position strongly improve compared to other
brands. Having built a solid foundation over the past two years,
Ardea Auto faces the future with confidence.

Notwithstanding the closure of three branches in 2014 and one
branch in 2015, the company used the market potential in 2015
and achieved its targets for all bonus programmes. Sales of new
passenger cars increased by 19.2%. This was also an excellent
year for light commercial vehicles, with higher margins and
a larger market share. The number of used vehicles sold fell
from 2014, but with higher margins. Workshop revenues
increased despite the smaller fleet; the direct employees
available performed their work more effectively.

Stern 3 – figures

New
passenger cars

New light
commercial vehicles

Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 4,623

2014: 1,365

2014: 6,554

5,511
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1,538

5,943

Stern 3 

REMARKABLE
TURNAROUND

2015

Branches

Employees
(FTEs)

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 18

2014: 360

17

345

Sales:
66
Workshop:
186
Warehouse:
34
Miscellaneous: 59

2014

Sales:
66
Workshop:
185
Warehouse:
39
Miscellaneous: 70
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been implemented with successful results. Vireo Auto has
demonstrated that it can create change and opportunities in
a tough market strongly driven by low additional tax liability
rates. Sales of passenger cars increased sharply compared
to 2014, with the positive effects on after-sales gradually
becoming manifest.
Stern 4 made a good contribution to Stern Group’s total
profit in 2015. The current strategy, with a focus on online
marketing, customer care, quality of the sales organisation
and a strict cost management system, will be maintained
in 2016.

Svala Auto experienced its strongest year to
date, with an excellent performance and profit
before tax of more than € 3.7 million. Demand
for Volvos continued to grow significantly.
The workshops also helped greatly to boost
profit. The growing size of the fleet, along with
the focus on customer care and retention are
starting to pay off and offer sufficient after-sales
potential for the coming years.
Jager Auto also generated excellent profits in 2015. There is
growing interest in the premium brands Land Rover and
Jaguar. The arrival of the new Jaguar XE generated additional
sales in the second half of the year. This trend is expected to
continue in the immediate future, partly due to the arrival of
the new Jaguar F-Pace. Vireo Auto, which specialises in Fiat
brands, is a highly dynamic dealership and is starting to show
signs of recovery. The planned online marketing strategy has

Stern 4 – figures

New

New light

passenger cars

commercial vehicles

Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 2,703

2014: 131

2014: 2,592

3,665
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3,778

Stern 4 

EXCEEDS
EXPECTATIONS

2015

Branches

2014

Employees
(FTEs)

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 18

2014: 242

18

263

Sales:
57
Workshop:
144
Warehouse:
22
Miscellaneous: 40

Sales:
51
Workshop:
132
Warehouse:
25
Miscellaneous: 34
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The outlook for the next few years for Kia in the Netherlands
is strong, thanks to the large number of new models being
launched in the market. The expansion of Durmi Auto in the
Greater Alkmaar Area has provided a broader base. Another
positive factor is Durmi Auto being voted “Top Dealer
of the Year” by Kia Nederland for the third consecutive year.

Despite “Dieselgate”, Heron Auto has benefited
from the huge demand for hybrids in the Dutch
market. This demand has increased spectacularly
in recent months, and Heron Auto has been able
to accommodate it. Revenue from workshops
remained stable, and margins on used cars were
significantly better than last year. The addition
of the Škoda brand (following the acquisition of
the Lakeman dealership business) will create
extra opportunities in the coming years in both
the business and consumer markets.

Havik Auto and Wander did good business in 2015. Wander
in Groningen in particular achieved surprisingly strong results.
The launch of a large number of new Opel models has revived
this brand in the Netherlands. The recently launched
passenger cars, including the KARL, the Corsa and the new
Astra, were well received in the market, as was the new Vivaro
in the light commercial vehicle market.
Stern 5 has had a surprisingly good year and faces the future
with confidence.

This was a reasonable year for Durmi Auto. Whereas the
majority of Kia dealers struggled in 2015 (on account of the
discontinuation of several models), Durmi Auto performed
well in the business market, particularly with the soonto-be-discontinued Kia Sportage.

Stern 5 – figures

New
passenger cars

New light
commercial vehicles

Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 5,203

2014: 552

2014: 5,944

6,613
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685

6,992

Stern 5 

SURPRISINGLY
GOOD YEAR

2015

Branches

2014

Employees
(FTEs)

Figures 2015

Figures 2015

2014: 15

2014: 304

18

324

Sales:
58
Workshop:
171
Warehouse:
34
Miscellaneous: 61

Sales:
52
Workshop:
159
Warehouse:
34
Miscellaneous: 59
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Risks
Note 31 to the financial statements on page 120 and following
describes a number of specific risks to which Stern is exposed.
The note details the company’s various credit, liquidity and
market risks. Stern does not consider these risks to be
exceptional for the company in terms of either nature or scale.
To the extent relevant, Stern takes out insurance policies to
cover a number of common risks, which enables it to offset
the financial impact of contingencies as much as possible.
The process of identifying and managing risk relating to our
business operations has become more professional in recent
years.
The management uses a structured process to assess the main
risks which could potentially affect Stern. We have listed the
risks we consider to be material to our business operations
below in alphabetic order.

Management Report

Acquisitions are a key part of our growth strategy.
We mitigate the resulting risks as much as possible by always
completing a careful acquisition process, conducting
a detailed due diligence analysis and focusing extensively
on the post-acquisition stage. Many risks and their impact
(including their financial impact) can be reduced in this way.
Stern will allocate fewer funds for the acquisition of car
dealerships in the coming years. It will continue to pursue
partnerships and joint ventures with other companies in
order to increase its scope of control and geographical area
without committing substantial resources. Despite all the
precautionary measures and analysis, acquisitions generally
involve greater risk than organic growth. This is evident from
the large number of mergers and acquisitions in the market
that fail to meet their objectives. This may be due to cultural
differences and employees who maintain different agendas,
while the integration of IT systems and other measures can
also be detrimental.
Deferred tax asset Based on IFRS regulations, Stern values
its tax loss carry forward balance at € 3.5 million. The valuation
of the tax loss carry forward balance is based on projections of
the future development of Stern’s result, including its result
for tax purposes. If the outlook were to deteriorate at any time
in the future, causing the results to fall significantly below
the most recent projections, a write-off of all or part of the
deferred tax asset cannot be ruled out.
Dependence on suppliers Stern represents a number of
leading brands, thereby keeping the risks associated with
a specific brand manageable. The company generates
revenues from both sales and after-sales activities.
The cancellation of supplier contracts, for example as a result
of the bankruptcy of a manufacturer or importer or through
the cancellation or termination of the distribution contract,
will mainly affect sales activities in the short term.
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Based on European regulations for the automotive industry,
manufacturers and importers have a significant influence
on investments, margins and rates charged by car dealers.
This influence is often difficult to predict. The aim of the
in-house development of mobility products and services is
to acquire an independent position in the automotive industry,
reducing the cyclical nature of the results, and reducing risk.
IT Effective IT systems combined with high-quality data are
vital to Stern. This extends far beyond ensuring the continuity
of data processing; it also involves the integrity of the data
and software and the related decision-making process. This is
a complex system on account of the number of customers,
products, branches, suppliers and the mutual interdependence
between the parties.
Non-performing or poorly performing IT systems can
jeopardise the continuity of the entire company within
a relatively short space of time. We are therefore
implementing a growing number of measures to reduce
the probability of such risk. Data and data quality are vital to
effective business operations and for the information and data
we exchange with our customers and suppliers. In addition,
we impose strict requirements for data and privacy, including
data protection, which is becoming increasingly important.
Stern annually invests a large amount of time and financial
resources in the further optimisation and security of the
centrally integrated IT environment, with a focus on continuity
and stability. This applies both to the standard applications of
the importers we use and to the personalised applications we
develop in-house. Protection of the IT systems against outside
threats and security measures within the company remain as
essential as ever in an increasingly digital world affected by
many different manifestations of cybercrime.
In the event of contingencies, our back-up centre is equipped
to take over most of the operations in order to ensure
continuity. These back-up facilities are tested on a regular
basis. We have a firewall structure in place which ensures
high-level protection of our systems against external threats.
Financing Due to trends in the financial markets, Stern has
been faced with restrictive and risk-averse credit policies of
banks since the end of 2008. This can sometimes make it
challenging for a company such as Stern to secure sufficient
financing for growth or to retain its existing funding.
The company must satisfy the requirements set by the banks
at all times.
Stern has agreed with the banks that the solvency rate of its
leasing operations must be at least 12.5%. A minimum of 20%
applies to the car rental operations. For the remaining
activities, a minimum solvency rate of 25% is maintained after
deduction of goodwill. In addition, on a 12-month rolling basis,

Stern must maintain an ICR of at least 2.75% (see note 23 to
the financial statements). If the bank covenants are breached,
an additional spread of 150 basis points will apply.
On account of external and internal causes and influences,
the terms under which the bank provides funding may be
become more onerous in comparison to previous contractual
agreements. As indicated in note 23 in the financial
statements, the total of the existing credit facility (A and B)
has to be extended and increased in the second half of 2016.
Goodwill As part of the required impairment calculations,
Stern has made projections for future trends in profit from
the cash-generating units. Based on calculations which were
recently re-performed, the cash-generating units identified
have sufficient headroom to avoid impairment. If the outlook
were to deteriorate from the projections at any time in the
future, a write-off of the acquisition goodwill cannot be ruled
out.

The acquisition of companies also entails risk with regard
to environmental issues. A range of targeted environmental
inspections are performed with each acquisition. Any risks are
contractually hedged in order to avoid them arising at Stern.
Following the acquisition of a company, the procedures
applicable at Stern are directly implemented.
Government, legislation and regulation Stern’s
operations are influenced by a multitude of laws and
regulations at both domestic and European level. In some
cases, the government takes radical measures which
materially affect Stern’s business operations or financial
results. Some of its business operations could potentially
be jeopardised in the short term as a result. Environmental
measures and not properly considered opportunistic changes
relating to taxes on the ownership
and use of cars can have a substantial impact on business
operations. We have only a limited degree of control in this
area, and although we attempt to identify the consequences
of laws or impending laws at an early stage, there is often
no other option than to accept the consequences. Political
decisions are also sometimes impossible to predict.

Residual value SternLease and, occasionally, Dealergroup
Stern enter into long-term contracts confirming a previously
established residual value for the vehicles concerned.
This residual value is based on an estimate made at the time
the contract is signed. The actual residual value is impacted
by a variety of factors over which the dealership in question
has no control. Similar risks are associated with a portion
of the SternRent rental fleet. For the ongoing assessment of
the residual values, Stern has established a lease and rental
fleet residual value committee, which reports on a monthly
basis on the latest trends in the automotive market and the
consequences for current estimates of residual values and the
rates to be set for new lease contracts and rental contracts.
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Environment The operation of car dealerships, car body
repair companies and petrol stations entails risks for the
environment. Stern has made reducing this risk a priority in
every aspect of its business. The operating companies have
to be continuously alert to the environmental aspects relevant
to their business operations. This extends not only to
compliance with environmental regulations, but in some cases
preventive measures have to be taken. The effectiveness
of the measures implemented is continually monitored in
order to reduce risks as far as possible. The various measures
and reports are recorded in a monitoring system. Stern is
supported in this process by an external engineering firm.

Interest on lease financing Lease contracts are generally
entered into for a period of 3-5 years. The lease contract then
specifies an interest rate for the entire leasing period.
This creates risks for Stern with regard to fluctuations in
capital-market interest rates. These risks are limited as much
as possible with the use of financial instruments. These types
of risks also apply to rental contracts with longer terms.
Financial instruments can fluctuate significantly in price,
so that reducing risk may entail high costs. Stern uses hedge
accounting when recognising interest rate swaps, so as
to ensure that value changes in the interest rate swaps are
taken directly to equity.

Risk management and monitoring systems Stern believes
that risk management should be part of the day-to-day work
of all Stern employees: not because this is prescribed by the
company, but because this promotes transparency and
improves business operations.
Stern’s top priority is actually being in control, and being
theoretically in control is not an objective in itself. Stern
comprises 37 companies with a total of 140 company sites.
The operations at all these various companies and sites must
be transparent at all times. Stern relies on an effective
administrative organisation, which makes it possible to
determine whether duties should be carried out at central or
local level. The administrative organisation requires effective,
consistently implemented reporting and monitoring systems.
Stern is always working on further improving these systems.
It is important in this respect that these systems are organised
in such a way that commercial operations are not obstructed
and that the management is kept up to date at all times of
the latest financial developments. The continuous changes in,
and extension of, the administrative systems require that
employees change the way they perform their work.
The Management has drafted an Accounting Manual which
is validated annually and describes the guidelines for
management reporting and external financial reporting in
detail. This Accounting Manual is discussed with the Audit
Committee and subsequently approved. In addition to the
Accounting Manual, Stern also maintains a number of detailed
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authorisation schedules, which specify the powers and
authorities of various members of management. The unit
directors and controllers submit a detailed statement every
year verifying that the financial information presented in the
report provides a true and fair picture and that this has been
prepared in accordance with the Accounting Manual.
In 2014 the company began formalising its risk identification
and risk management process. At Stern, this process is known
as “Stern in Control” (SIC). The Controlling, Analysis and
Reporting department (Stern CAR) has been set up at Stern
Group. This department is charged with monitoring the
accounts and internal controls at Stern’s operating companies.
The functional departments at the operating companies will
of course remain responsible for maintaining their own
adequate accounts and internal controls.
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Specific risk analyses have been performed for the various
business operations at Stern. Key controls have been
identified for all identified key risks, and any key controls
which were not yet up to standard have been adjusted
accordingly. The key controls at all Stern entities are assessed
on a quarterly basis. These verification activities are assessed
by Stern CAR. The outcome of the tests is reported by the
Management on a quarterly basis and discussed with the Audit
Committee. The external auditor (Ernst & Young) also reviews
and evaluates the outcome of the SIC activities performed.
Parts of the accounts are assessed not only within the
company (internal controls), but also by an external auditor
as part of the verification of the financial statements.
Since Stern operates a large number of sites and branches,
it uses internal benchmarking methods on a regular basis.
The management information from the IBM-Cognosconsolidation application supports the internal controls and
vice versa. Overall controls are used to offset potential gaps
in internal controls if they are related to the informal and
entrepreneurial company culture. In 2016 we will implement
additional measures for managing fraud risk.
Due to the centralised approach and the direct management
of and monitoring of the business operations by the
Management and central staff department, Stern cannot be
confronted with “surprises” in its administrative process.
Based on many years of experience, it can be stated that the
periodic reports provide a reliable picture of the development
of our business operations. There is no need for any significant
changes. As far as we are concerned, improving management
information is an ongoing process.
The Audit Committee devotes attention to reporting and the
administrative organisation on a quarterly basis. In addition,
there is close contact with the external auditor.
The management letter is discussed in detail by the external
auditor, the Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board.
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We take the view that the internal risk management and
monitoring systems provide reasonable certainty that the
financial reports do not contain any material misstatement
and that these systems functioned adequately during the year
under review. We also refer to the statement of Director’s
responsibilities on page 34 of this Annual Report.

Corporate Governance
The Dutch Corporate Governance Code, as approved in
December 2008, is designated in Section 391 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code as a code of conduct to which Dutch
exchange-listed companies must make reference in their
financial statements. Companies are required to indicate
to what extent they comply with the provisions of the Code
(referred to below as the “Code”). Stern uses the Code as
a guideline in the process of further improving its corporate
governance. With every respect for the Code, Stern notes
that a number of the practices defined in the Code are less
compatible with smaller exchange-listed companies such
as Stern. As a result, Stern does not comply with the Code
in some minor areas, also in the long term. With reference
to the relevant provision of the Code, Stern indicates below
in which areas the company departs from the Code.

CFO’s severance payment In 2015 the departing CFO
received a severance payment that was higher than one year’s
fixed remuneration, which is not compliant with the best
practice provisions. The departing CFO still had an
employment contract drafted prior to the implementation
of the Corporate Governance Code. In recruiting a new CFO,
the company will comply with the provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (Code II.2.8).
Internal audit function Given the size of the company,
it was decided not to appoint an internal auditor (code V.3).
Supervisory Board Due to various factors, including its
current size, the Supervisory Board is currently of the opinion
that the appointment of a deputy chairman is not advisable.
In the event of the Chairman’s absence, a temporary chairman
will be appointed (III.4.1.f).

Stern Groep N.V. is a statutory two-tier company with no
protective measures in place.
Stern acknowledges the importance of the full and active
participation of shareholders in the decisions made by
the General Meeting.
The General Meeting is held at least once a year. Extraordinary
General Meetings may be held at the request of the
Management Board or the Supervisory Board. Shareholders
who represent at least 1% of the issued share capital are
entitled to submit agenda proposals up to sixty days prior
to the meeting. The Management Board has the option
to fix a registration date for the exercise of the voting rights.
Resolutions are passed with an absolute majority of votes,
unless the law or the articles of association prescribe a larger
majority.
The General Meeting approves the financial statements
and discharges the members of the Management Board of
their liability in respect of their policy and the members of
the Supervisory Board of their liability in respect of their
supervision during the past financial year.
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Governance The sole member of the Management Board of
Stern Group has been appointed for an indefinite period. Stern
believes this is more appropriate, in view of the company’s
size, than an appointment for a maximum of four years (II.1.1).
The employment contract with the Management Board does
not contain any provisions relating to severance pay. Any
future contracts will attempt to comply with the Code (II.2.8).

Structure and shareholders’ meeting

In addition, decisions made by the Management Board
regarding important changes to Stern’s identity are subject to
the approval of the General Meeting. The company’s articles
of association may be amended by resolution of the General
Meeting, on condition that the resolution is passed by a
majority of at least two-thirds of the votes cast and at least
half of the issued share capital is represented. If the proposal
to pass a resolution regarding an amendment to the Articles of
Association is initiated by the Management Board, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, such a resolution may be
passed with an absolute majority of votes, irrespective of the
share capital represented.

Information provision to the General Meeting and meeting
logistics Presentations for analysts and institutional and
other investors and presentations for press conferences are
posted on the Stern Group website immediately on conclusion
of the meeting in question (IV.3.1).

Management and control systems
For a description of the main features of the management and
control systems in connection with Stern’s financial reporting
process, please refer to the section titled “Risks, Accounts and
IT” on page 50 and to the “Risk” section on page 34 of the
Report of the Management Board.
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Management Board
The Management Board governs the company and is
responsible for achieving the company’s targets and
objectives and implementing its policies and strategy,
and the profits arising therefrom.
The members of the Management Board are appointed by
the Supervisory Board. The latter informs the General Meeting
of any proposed appointments of members of the
Management Board. The Supervisory Board can suspend or
dismiss members of the Management Board at any time.
The Supervisory Board will not dismiss a member of the
Management before the General Meeting has been consulted
on the proposed dismissal.
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The Supervisory Board determines the number of members
of the Management Board. The Management Board currently
has one member, Mr H.H. van der Kwast (Chairman).
Mr Van der Kwast was appointed Managing Director effective
21 June 2000. He also serves as chairman of the supervisory
board of Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. and is board
member of the Johan Cruyff Foundation and a board member
of the Netherlands Golf Federation. Mr Van der Kwast was
re-elected as the chairman of the supervisory board of
Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. and appointed for a period
of one year, followed by a maximum period of one year
as a regular member of the supervisory board of Bovemij
Verzekeringsgroep N.V.
The remuneration of the members of the Management Board
is approved by the Supervisory Board in accordance with
the company’s remuneration policy. The notes to the financial
statements contain details on the implementation of Stern’s
remuneration policy during the 2015 financial year.
A specification of the remuneration as specified in sections
383c to e of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code (“Claw Back Act”)
is included on page 123 of this Annual Report 2015.
The Management Board convenes at the request of individual
members. All decisions are made on a unanimous basis.
Specific decisions made in the articles of association are
subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board and the
General Meeting.
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The General Meeting passes resolutions on the issue of shares
with the approval of the Supervisory Board. The Management
Board is authorised to issue shares if and to the extent that the
Management Board has been designated as a competent
body for this purpose by the General Meeting.
The Management Board requires the approval of the
Supervisory Board for such decisions. On 13 May 2015,
the General Meeting decided to authorise the Management
Board to issue shares for a period of eighteen months.
An extension of this authorisation for a period of eighteen
months will be resubmitted for approval to the General
Meeting of 11 May 2016.
Shares may only be repurchased if the General Meeting has
authorised the Management Board to do so. On 13 May 2015,
the General Meeting resolved to authorise the Management
Board to repurchase shares for a period of eighteen months.
The granting of this authorisation to the Management Board
for a period of eighteen months will be resubmitted for
approval to the General Meeting of 11 May 2016.
The General Meeting will also be asked for approval to grant
authorisation to the Management Board for a period of
eighteen months, after approval has been obtained from
the Supervisory Board, to decide to sell the shares in its own
capital acquired by the company.
Decisions to enter into transactions where there are
conflicting interests involving directors which are of
substantial importance to the company or the member of
the Management Board concerned are subject to the approval
of the Supervisory Board. Several transactions involving
a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest were
submitted to the Supervisory Board for approval or ratification
in 2015. These transactions are specified and detailed on
page 122 of this Annual Report (“Related party disclosures”).

Supervisory Board

Capital and shares

The Supervisory Board is charged with monitoring the
implementation of the policies set by the Management Board
and day-to-day operations at Stern, as well as advising the
Management Board.

Stern Group exclusively issues ordinary shares. These shares
may be issued either in registered or bearer form, at the
discretion of the holder.
The authorised capital amounts to € 900,000, divided into
9,000,000 ordinary shares in the amount of € 0.10.
The issued share capital amounts to € 592,500 and consists
of 5,925,000 ordinary shares.

Supervisory Board members are appointed by the General
Meeting at the recommendation of the Supervisory Board.
The General Meeting maintains a right of recommendation for
the Supervisory Board member to be appointed. In the event
of an absolute majority of the votes cast, the General Meeting
is authorised to dismiss all members of the Supervisory Board,
provided that such majority represents at least one-third of
the issued share capital. Supervisory Board members are
appointed for a four-year period and resign from the Board,
unless they are reappointed, at the time specified in the
rotation schedule. The General Meeting may grant fixed
remuneration to the Supervisory Board members.

The shares are listed on the NYSE Euronext Amsterdam stock
exchange, where they are freely tradable.
The following stakes of 5% or more were registered at Stern
Group as of 8 March 2016, based on the number of shares
outstanding:
NPM Capital N.V.
26.5%
Merel Investments B.V.
17.6%
Bibiana Beheer B.V.
10.2%
Todlin N.V.
7.1%
Otus Capital Management Ltd.
6.0%
Invesco Ltd
5.3%
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The Supervisory Board is comprised of a minimum of three
members and appoints a chairman from among these
members. The Supervisory Board currently consists of three
members; two of these members satisfy the criteria for
impartiality under the Corporate Governance Code.
The Supervisory Code has established an Audit Committee
consisting of two members.

There are no shares to which special controlling rights are
attached. Each share entitles the holder to one vote. There are
no restrictions on the exercise of the voting rights associated
with the shares. No depositary receipts for shares are issued.

A set of regulations is in place governing the duties and
procedures of the Supervisory Board, which has been posted
on the company’s website. These regulations include personal
profiles of the members of the Supervisory Board and the
regulations of the Audit Committee.
For further information about the members of the Supervisory
Board and its procedures, please refer to the Report of the
Supervisory Board on page 12 and following of this Annual
Report 2015. For the remuneration of the Supervisory Board,
we refer to the section “Remuneration of the Management
Board and the Supervisory Board” section on page 123 of this
Annual Report 2015.
Any decisions to enter into transactions involving conflicts
of interest of the Supervisory Board members which are of
material importance to the company or the Supervisory Board
member concerned require the approval of the Supervisory
Board. One Supervisory Board member purchased a total of
25,000 shares in Stern Group in November 2015. No further
conflicts of interest were reported in 2015.
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Small is beautiful
Just like terns come in different sizes, so too do the projects
devoted to their conservation and survival. One of the largest
projects of its kind is the restoration ecology project being
undertaken in the Dutch Wadden Sea Conservation Area,
which covers a total of approximately 2,400 square
kilometres. The purpose of the project, which is being carried
out over the span of many years, is to improve breeding and
foraging opportunities for various species of tern. An example
of a smaller-scale project is the 1,800-hectare Hooge Platen
conservation project in the Western Scheldt estuary in Zeeland
province.
In 2012 a sandbank in this area was protected from erosion.
This was not just any sandbank, but a major breeding ground
for large terns, common terns and little terns. Another
relatively small project funded in 2015 involved the
construction of four floating breeding facilities in the Emerput
Lake, a 12-hectare body of water located near Breda in
the south of the Netherlands.
Management Report

These 1.3-metre, square-shaped, island-type facilities offer
safe breeding grounds for black-headed gulls and common
terns. The black-headed gulls are known to protect the rare
black-necked grebe, a species that breeds in this area. The
project also comprises the construction of a birdwatching
platform, an extremely generous initiative of the West Brabant
Bird Working Group, to which the Dutch Society for the
Protection of Birds is pleased to contribute with the support
of Stern Groep N.V.
Bird and nature conservation projects come in every shape
and size: from large-scale and majestic to small and beautiful.
Stern Groep N.V. wholeheartedly supports the Dutch Society
for the Protection of Birds in each of these projects, in our
shared desire to protect these precious and defenceless
creatures.

Acknowledgement Dutch Society for the Protection of Birds
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(Amounts x € 1,000, unless otherwise stated)

Five-year overview
2015

2014

2013

1,095,181
18,809
11,067
7.3

898,299
3,750
3,622
2.6

917,590
8,234
3,058
2.2

935,991
(5,095)
(6,886)
(4.9)

938,619
11,781
6,035
4.0

30,070
269,264
37,971
150,779
147,772
585,695
12.5
20.0
33.7

30,066
285,936
40,479
140,568
217,298
567,607
12.5
20.0
31.1

30,283
271,067
34,956
138,323
40,194
524,374
12.5
17.5
31.9

30,116
259,861
35,820
133,957
42,460
504,170
12.5
17.5
31.6

31,364
243,260
32,496
149,375
42,619
515,174
10.0
15.0
35.1

26.57
1.95
1.00
18.24
10.99
18.12

24.79
0.64
–
16.99
11.55
13.00

24.50
0.57
0.71
15.50
10.00
14.82

23.77
(1.28)
–
21.05
13.02
13.80

26.30
1.11
1.00
25.50
18.00
20.80

5,925,000
5,675,000
5,673,560

5,925,000
5,669,740
5,659,809

5,925,000
5,646,667
5,393,943

5,925,000
5,636,667
5,398,986

5,925,000
5,679,167
5,422,500

102,831

73,707

79,880

74,244

112,788

Number of permanent employees at year end

2,177

2,133

2,134

2,252

2,379

Number of FTEs at year end

1,979

1,950

1,941

2,056

2,153

Revenue details
Net revenue
Operating profit
Profit after tax
Return on equity (profit after tax/equity) (in %)
Balance sheet details
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Financial assets
Equity
Non-current liabilities
Balance sheet total
Solvency of car leasing operations (in %)1
Solvency of car rental operations (in %)1
Solvency of other operations (in %)1

2012

2011

(Amounts in euros)
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Per share of € 0.01
Equity 2
Profit after tax 3
Dividend
Highest price
Lowest price
Price at year end
Number of shares
Entitled to profit
Outstanding at end of financial year4
Average outstanding2
Total market capitalisation at year end

1 Based on the standard solvency ratio.
2 Based on the number of shares outstanding.
3 Weighted in proportion to time.
4 Adjusted based on the stock dividend for 2014.
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Figures
2014

2013

2012

2011

3,216
5,194
5,511
3,665
6,613
24,199

2,156
4,656
4,623
2,703
5,203
19,341

1,638
5,259
7,743
2,273
4,484
21,397

1,742
5,651
8,237
2,676
5,387
23,693

1,717
5,262
8,300
3,788
5,656
24,723

449,350

387,835

417,036

502,544

555,920

1,668
917
1,538
202
685
5,010

1,185
752
1,365
131
552
3,985

1,267
781
965
28
612
3,653

1,293
1,053
1,214
95
619
4,274

1,276
910
1,024
110
922
4,242

Total market

57,707

51,774

50,571

56,568

58,654

Used passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles
Stern 1
Stern 2
Stern 3
Stern 4
Stern 5
SternPoint
Total

3,458
3,341
5,943
3,778
6,992
927
24,439

3,539
3,420
6,554
2,592
5,944
879
22,928

3,441
2,837
7,934
2,541
4,798
358
21,909

3,487
2,720
7,743
2,959
5,036
0
21,945

3,339
3,632
8,005
3,638
5,196
0
23,810

9,045
867
2,119
11,299
11,406
8,498
18,650

7,295
843
1,976
10,995
10,819
9,439
17,568

6,096
871
2,075
10,821
11,492
9,975
17,095

5,348
805
2,190
9,692
12,158
9,474
15,657

5,000
748
2,272
12,383
12,776
9,854
14,854

Total market
New light commercial vehicles
Stern 1
Stern 2
Stern 3
Stern 4
Stern 5
Total

Stern mobility contracts
SternLease
SternPartners
SternRent
SternPolis
SternCredit
SternGarant
SternMobility Card

Mobility
contracts
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2015
Dealergroup Stern
New passenger cars
Stern 1
Stern 2
Stern 3
Stern 4
Stern 5
Total

59

Personnel
2015

2014

Male

Female

Total

Male

Female

Total

Employees at year end
in FTEs
Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other
Total

1,377
27
321
42
1,767

151
18
29
14
212

1,528
45
350
56
1,979

1,349
26
319
43
1,737

151
17
29
16
213

1,500
43
348
59
1,950

Employees at year end
in absolute numbers
Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other
Total

1,480
30
331
43
1,889

214
27
34
18
293

1,694
47
375
61
2,177

1,437
29
328
45
1,839

215
25
35
19
294

1,652
45
372
64
2,133

2015
Management Report
60

2014

Permanent
contract

Fixed term

Total

Permanent
contract

Fixed term

Total

Employees at year end
in FTEs
Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other
Total

1,301
42
285
51
1,679

227
3
65
5
300

1,528
45
350
56
1,979

1,351
45
274
48
1,718

149
1
71
11
232

1,500
43
348
59
1,950

Employees of Dealergroup
Stern at year end in FTEs
Stern 1
Stern 2
Stern 3
Stern 4
Stern 5
Total

329
189
309
203
271
1,301

36
42
36
60
53
227

365
231
345
263
324
1,528

343
190
331
213
274
1,351

20
42
29
28
30
149

363
232
360
241
304
1,500

Employees of Stern Financial
Services at year end in FTEs
SternLease
Total

37
37

8
8

45
45

36
36

7
7

43
43

Employees of Stern Mobility
Services at year end in FTEs
SternRent
SternSchade
SternTec
SternPoint
Mango Mobility Services
Total

80
148
14
28
20
290

5
28
2
11
14
60

85
176
16
39
34
350

84
150
15
21
13
283

4
27
3
12
19
65

88
177
18
33
32
348
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Personnel
Number of employees at year-end 2015 (in FTEs)

88%

Personnel
Permanent employees/fixed term (in FTEs)

12%

Permanent
contract

83%

Men

Women

Permanent
contract

2014: 1,737

2014: 213

2014: 1,718

1,767

212

Fixed-term
contract

1,679

Number of employees (in FTEs)
Per division/unit
2015

2014: 232

300

365

Stern 1

363

Stern 2

231

Stern 2

232

Stern 3

345

Stern 3

360

Stern 4

263

Stern 4

241

Stern 5

324

Stern 5

304

Stern Financial Services

45

Stern Financial Services

43

Stern Mobility Services

350

Stern Mobility Services

348

Miscellaneous

56

Employees Stern Financial Services
Year end in FTEs
50
40

300

975

30

225

650

20

150

325

10

75

0

2015

2014

59

Employees Stern Mobility Services
Year end in FTEs
375

1,300

2014

Management Report

Stern 1

Employees Dealergroup Stern
Year end in FTEs
1,625

2015

Fixed-term
contract

2014

Miscellaneous

0

17%

0

2015

2014
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Corporate Social Responsibility
About this CSR Report
At Stern, we look beyond profit and loss and are mindful of the
impact our company’s business operations have on people and
the environment in the short and longer term. We look beyond
the realm of legislation and regulation. Stern looks for
sustainable solutions which contribute to society and/or help
protect the environment, while at the same time leading to
direct or indirect financial gains. This is the third consecutive
year in which we outline our Corporate Social Responsibility
(CSR) policy in our Annual Report. We have expanded on the
information covered in previous years: for the first time this
year, we have based our report on the G4 Guidelines for
Sustainability Reports set by the Global Reporting Initiative
(GRI). Stern reports in accordance with the “Core” option.
The corresponding index is shown on page 80 and following
of this report.

Corporate Social Responsibility

This report describes the various sustainability efforts Stern
made in 2015 in relation to economic, social and environment
aspects, and business operations. This report contains the
data and information for all Stern business units; any
exceptions are clearly specified in the report. On page 141 and

following of this report you will find a list of our companies,
branches and associates.
Stern has made every effort to ensure that the contents of this
report are accurate and complete, as we strive to inform our
stakeholders, and involve them in our CSR policy, as much as
possible. The basic data collected for this report correspond
to the data previously published in periodic reports as far as
possible, so as to facilitate comparison. Most of the data relate
to the performance of Stern itself. Where relevant, the details
of our subcontractors and suppliers are included as well.
All basic data have been verified and validated within the
company. The topics covered in this report were selected
based on the GRI Guidelines mentioned above, as well as on
management systems and the relevance of the topics to Stern
and its stakeholders.
Stern has identified a total of eight material aspects based on
this information. We have only used self-assessment to date,
which is to say that these aspects have not been evaluated
externally and discussed with all the relevant stakeholders.
However, the interests of all stakeholders relevant to Stern
were considered as part of the self-assessment. These external
interests are absolutely taken into account in our

CSR management approach

CSR management approach

Stakeholders

Engaged

Value creation

Inventive

Core values
Goals
Mission & vision
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Materiality

Loyal

communications policy. Pages 66 and 67 of this Annual Report
contain a table of the various stakeholder groups with which
Stern maintained relationships in 2015. This table also shows,
for each of the individual stakeholders, the communication
media and channels, the CSR topics discussed and the
importance of these topics to the CSR policy pursued by Stern.
The company intends to further refine this in 2016 based on
a structured stakeholder dialogue, and we may be making
slightly altered decisions on which basis we will then set
priorities for the sustainability agenda for 2016 and beyond.
In this Annual Report 2015, Stern reports on the following
CSR components established on the basis of the GRI:
• stakeholders and stakeholder dialogue;
•	
value creation, i.e. the value Stern adds through its
business operations;
•	
material issues, i.e. CSR issues for which Stern is
accountable.

The correlation between these three CSR components and the
strategic framework (Stern’s Compass, see page 6 of this
report) is shown in a diagram. We use an integrated approach,
and based on this integrated approach we show, in the CRS
diagram below, the interrelationship between stakeholders,
value creation and the material issues. The Annual Report
contains information on the following eight topics, which
Stern considers material:
• diversity;
• health and safety;
• business ethics;
• procurement;
• business operations;
• waste management;
• energy management;
• contribution to society.
These material topics are subdivided into:
• economic aspects;
• social aspects;
• environmental aspects.
Corporate Social Responsibility

MVO-structuurschema

CSR diagram
*

*
Procurement

Business operations

*
**
Business ethics

Waste
management
Customers
Suppliers
Shareholders

**

***

Employees
Industry organisations
Training and
educational institutions

Energy
management

Health and safety

Charitable organisations/
NGOs

€

Stakeholders
***
***

Value creation

Contribution to society

Diversity
Materiality
*
**
***

Proﬁt: economic aspects
Planet: environmental aspects
People: social aspects
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Stakeholder dialogue
Stern always involves its stakeholders closely in setting and
further developing its CSR policy. Stern considers its main
stakeholders to be its customers, suppliers, shareholders/
financiers and employees, along with coordinating industry
organisations, public authorities and non-governmental
organisations (NGOs).

Corporate Social Responsibility
66

The schedule below shows the various stakeholder groups
with which Stern maintained relationships in 2015.
The communication media and channels, the CSR issues
discussed and the importance of these issues for the CSR policy
pursued by Stern are all shown for the individual stakeholders
in the schedule.

Stakeholder

Who?

Communication
media and channels

Customers

• All customers

• Customer satisfaction • Quality experience on • Continuous
survey
the delivery of new
improvement of our
• Account reviews
vehicles
services so as to build
• Online newsletters
• Quality of the work
long-term customer
• Sustainable business
performed
relationships
brochure
(maintenance/repair) • More sustainable
(also available online) • Building a “greener”
product range
fleet; alternative
electric vehicles
• Certification of
Stern companies

Suppliers

• All suppliers

• Account reviews
• Supplier day

•
•
•
•

Shareholders/
financiers

• All shareholders
• Banks
• Captives

• General meeting
• Potential investors,
associates, banks,
analysts and captives

•
•
•
•
•
•

Employees

• All employees
• Employee
representative
bodies

• Works Council
meetings
• Workshops
• Training & Education
• SternIntern staff
magazine
• Email newsletter
Stern Nieuws
• Intranet

• Occupational health
• Aligning the
and safety laws
behaviour of
• Risk assessment and
employees
evaluation (RA&E)
throughout the
• Code of Conduct
organisation with the
• First response
business objectives
(Company Emergency • Safeguarding
Response Team)
employee health
• Sickness absence
and safety
• Training and education
opportunities
• Waste management
• Energy policy
• Re-certification for
Erkend Duurzaam
quality seal
• Diversity

Stern Annual Report 2015

Topics
discussed

Safety
Waste streams
Energy policy
Sustainable
procurement
• Training & Education
• Environmental
certificates for
products supplied
• Code of Conduct

Importance of
CSR policy to Stern

• Sustainable value
chain management
• Learning about
the CSR policies
of suppliers
• Long-term
relationships
with suppliers

Remuneration
• Long-term financial
Strategy
stability
Corporate governance • Transparency
Reporting methods
• Remuneration policy
Corporate ethics
Financing requirement

Stern intends to reassess the material topics in 2016 based on
a structured stakeholder dialogue and, possibly, to make some
new decisions on this basis. We will be reporting on this in the
form of a “Materiality Matrix”, based on which priorities will
be set for the Sustainability Agenda.

Stakeholder

Who?

Communication
media and channels

Topics
discussed

Importance of
CSR policy to Stern

Industry
organisations

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Meetings
Workshops
Surveys
Controls
Audits

• Erkend Duurzaam
certification
• Sustainability issues
in the industry
• Training & Education
• Service provider
processes

• Staying up to date on
social trends and
developments
• Sustainable business
operations and
processes
• Innovation

Public authorities

• Dutch government
• Local (municipal)
authorities
• Tax & Customs
Administration

• Meetings
• Inspections
• Transparent
benchmark

• Environmental
permits
• Transparent reports
• Waste management
• Legislation

•
•
•
•

Training and
educational
institutions

• Amsterdam
elektrisch
• Innovam
• ROC Amsterdam
(Regional Education
Centre)
• City of Amsterdam
– South East district

• Meetings and joint
initiative with other
car dealerships

• NexTechnician:
• Preparing employees
a unique range of
for innovations
training modules
relating to hybrid and
facilitated by the
electric vehicles
business sector in
order to stay on top of
future technological
advances in the
industry

Charitable
organisations/
NGOs

• Dutch Society for
• Meetings
the Protection of
• Seminars
Birds
• Forteiland Pampus
• Vrije School Parcival
(Steiner-based
secondary school)

BOVAG
ARN
IvDM
FOCWA
VNA
OCDM

Corporate Social Responsibility

Environmental issues
Code of Conduct
Transparency
Ensuring that policy
complies with legal
standards

• Specific projects to
• Philantropy
improve the habitat
• Social contribution to
of terns in
improving the living
the Netherlands
conditions of the bird
• Collecting and
that inspired the
recycling used
name of our company
computers and
(stern is Dutch for
telephones
“tern”)
• Transport to and from
school of pre-school
children
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Value creation
The table below shows the value added by Stern through its
business processes, its position in the business supply chain
and society. The table is divided into the following categories:
• Input;
• Added value;
• Output & Outcome.

The “Output & Outcome” column also shows the abovementioned material issues. We report on these issues in
the following pages.

CSR value creation model
Input

Added value
Strategic framework

Financial resources

Consultancy

Corporate Social Responsibility

Market expertise and strategy
Loyal

Materials

• Businesses
• Consumers

Goals

Core values

Human resources

Inventive

Intellectual resources

Mission & vision

Fast delivery from stock
Services

• Fleet management
• Leasing, warranty, insurance products
• Financial services

Temporary transport

Maintenance & car body repair

Engaged

Social resources

Natural resources
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Network and branches

Interaction with car manufacturers
and dealerships

Output & Outcome
MaterialiteitMateriality

Financial results
Corporate Social Responsibility

Business ethics

Customer satisfaction
• Business
• Consumers

Procurement

Profit

Innovation by car manufacturers
and dealerships

Business operations
Lower environmental impact
Waste management

Energy management

Planet

Safe mobility

Relevance to society

Health and safety

Employee satisfaction

Diversity

People
Contribution to society

Conducting business openly
and honestly
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Diversity
In order to remain competitive in the fast-changing
automobile industry, Stern promotes creativity and innovation
by getting people with different backgrounds to work
together. Stern believes that diversity helps us to find optimal
solutions. This awareness is what prompted us, at the end
of 2014, to concentrate different group activities at a central
location in Amsterdam. Several departments moved into t
he new offices during 2015, which visibly increased the
effectiveness of our organisation. The new corporate Stern
location also accommodates a large auditorium, which has
made it possible for us to inform the management of our
many branches several times a year in one place and to involve
them in the company’s planning and progress. In 2015 the
auditorium was used for the purpose of training employees,
including a course on selling cars in the digital age.
Stern strives to foster an enjoyable work environment for
talented men and women. When it comes to the recruitment
of new staff and the training, promotional opportunities and
the remuneration of its current employees, Stern pursues
a policy of equal opportunity: under no circumstances do we
discriminate on the basis of race, sex, age, religion, political
affiliations, national origin or socioeconomic background.
Corporate Social Responsibility

Due to the nature of (especially) garage work and the fact that
men tend to be more interested in working in the automotive
industry than women, the male-female ratio at Sterns does
not reflect that of society. The number of women employed
at the company fell by 0.3% in 2015, while the number of men
increased marginally. At the end of 2015, the male/female
ratio was 86.5%/13.5%. The total number of employees
increased by 2.1% from the previous year. The table below
shows the staff breakdown at Stern in both absolute numbers
and FTEs.

Stern employs people in all age categories. Each category
is well represented. The number of employees under the age
of 30 increased slightly in 2015 from the previous year, while
there was a slight decline in the number of employees aged
30-49. Conversely, the number of employees aged 50 and
older rose by 4%. It should be noted that the average age of
our workforce (41.9) fell overall from 2014 (42.9). Stern will
continue to work on reducing this average age in the coming
years and has set itself the target of reducing the average age
by one year each year.
Any decisions we currently make as part of our human
resources policy are driven by economic factors. Stern will
continue to pursue this policy in 2016. Average job tenure
among our employees was 11.9 years at year-end 2015,
remaining virtually unchanged from 2014 (12.1 years).
A large number of Stern branches have been accredited
as work placement companies and as such provide
apprenticeships for mechanics and service technicians.
Stern branches located in the Greater Amsterdam Area are
affiliated with NexTechnician, a regional education centre
where schools, businesses and local authorities work together
to ensure that the training provided at the centre meets
demand in the labour market in the automotive industry.
Students and employees at mobility companies have access
to state-of-the-art facilities and are given the opportunity to
discover the latest advances in technology at the centre, both
during their training and after they have started their careers.

Breakdown of staﬀ by age
2014

2015
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< 30 years: 409 18.8%

< 30 years:

372

17.5%

30-39 years: 444 20.4%

30-39 years: 451

21.1%

40-49 years: 622 28.6%

40-49 years: 635 29.8%

50-59 years: 484 22.2%

50-59 years: 474 22.2%

60-69 years: 218 10.0%

60-69 years: 201

Total: 2,177
Average age: 41.9

Total: 2,133
Average age: 42.9

9.4%

Health and Safety
The only way Stern can guarantee its services in the long term
is by creating a safe and secure working environment.
The company assesses the occupational aspects of health,
safety and wellbeing on a regular basis and implements further
improvements where necessary. Good and safe working
conditions are a basic requirement for effective employee
performance. Stern has long considered its health and safety
policy to be a key priority.

On joining the company new employees receive a personal
login ID for Insite (Stern’s web-based intranet environment),
which provides access to the Employee Manual. This Manual

Sickness absence
In %
6

Stern pursues a strict policy in order to reduce the number of
instances of absenteeism at each of its companies. Every
quarter, the social and medical team (SMT) discusses options
at each of the companies for reducing absenteeism at a specific
branch or department, along with individual cases. Each SMT
consists of the HRM department, the company doctor, the
management and, in some cases, the branch manager or
supervisor. The HRM department is also involved by closely
supervising sick employees, based on the Eligibility for
Permanent Invalidity Benefit (Restrictions) Act (Wet verbetering
poortwachter) for both people with long-term work-related
disabilities and, if required, the manager or supervisor.
Absenteeism increased slightly in 2015 to 4.0% (2014: 3.9%),
remaining above the national industry average of 3.4% (source:
BOVAG, as of 30 June 2015). The absenteeism rate of 4.0% in
2015 is divided into short-term (0.8%), medium-term (0.6%)
and long-term (2.7%) absenteeism. Short-term absenteeism
increased by 0.2% from last year; medium-term absenteeism
was marginally lower (-0.1%). The additional efforts made by
the company to reduce long-term absenteeism (defined as
more than 43 days) has not yet resulted in a long-term
decrease. Stern will be launching a new pilot programme in
2016 (for which it has retained the services of an external service
provider) with the objective of increasing the long-term
employability of its employees. This will motivate managers
and employees to adopt personal leadership and change policy
as the standard within the company. The HRM departments will
be implementing a new online tool in mid-2016 which facilitates
the analysis of available employee information, making it easier
to respond and make the necessary changes.

Corporate Social Responsibility

The risk assessment and evaluation (RA+E), a programme
introduced by BOVAG/FOCWA, a Dutch association of
dealerships and companies operating in the automotive
industry, serves as the basis for the various companies’ safety
policies. All Stern branches run their own RA+E programmes.
As part of the programme, the risks to which employees are
exposed are examined and measures for improvement are
defined and planned. These measures are subsequently
implemented in order to keep these risks to a minimum. The
Company Emergency Response Team (CERT) also contributes
to safety within the organisation. In accordance with the Dutch
Working Conditions Act (Arbowet), there is at least one CERT
member available at all branches with 15 or more employees.
In addition, Stern has drafted a business emergency plan for
each of its branches. These plans set out, among other things,
procedures for managing contingencies, including an
evacuation plan. A contact has been designated for each branch
who is responsible for ensuring that the information contained
in the business emergency plan is updated regularly. In addition
to consolidation, Stern has added a new set of safety
procedures for working on electric and hybrid vehicles equipped
with electric engines and high-voltage batteries. Manual tools,
garage lifts, revolving doors, extinguishers and fluid-proof floors
at the garages are inspected and replaced if necessary.

reminds employees, among other things, of the importance and
required use of safety footwear, safety glasses or ear protectors.
Employees who due to the nature of their duties and under the
Working Conditions Act are required to use such protective
devices receive these items from the employer free of charge.
Employees required to wear special footwear for medical reasons
receive an allowance toward the purchase of these items.

Sickness absence 2015 by type
In %
Short-term
absence

5

Medium-term
absence

4
3

Long-term
absence

2
Total

1

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

0

1

2

3

4
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Business ethics
Stern expects all its employees, suppliers and other
stakeholders to conduct themselves in an ethical manner.
In order to bring this to the attention as well as promote and
encourage this ethical behaviour, Stern drafted a General
Code of Conduct in 2015. The code, based on ten general rules,
is available on the Stern website.
In addition to the Code of Conduct, all our sales staff have
received regular training since 1 January 2006 on the Financial
Supervision Act (Wet op het financieel toezicht). Ethics are a
key part of this training in addition to developing professional
competence.
Stern has implemented a whistleblowing policy in order to
ensure compliance with the Code of Conduct. This policy
makes it possible for all employees and other stakeholders to
report any violations of the Code of Conduct on a confidential
basis. Stern makes a record of all reports received in order
to gather information on how the whistleblowing policy can
improve processes and how violations can be prevented in
the future. No violations of the Code of Conduct were reported
in 2015.

Corporate Social Responsibility

In 2015, Stern continued the corporate ethics policy pursued in
previous years. The company is satisfied with the quality
management system established in recent years. No changes
were made in this area, and at this point it does not look as
though this will be necessary in 2016. The policy pursued
meets all the applicable requirements.
Stern endeavours to provide as complete a picture as possible
of its organisation and actions. That is why Stern provides
much additional information in its annual reports about the
policies it has pursued and specific issues in addition to the
financial statements. Besides the information contained in
this Annual Report 2015, Stern publishes the following
documents in the “Corporate Governance” section of its
website: the company’s Articles of Association, the regulations
of the Supervisory Board, Audit Committee and Management
Board, the Code of Conduct, the whistleblowing policy and
the Report of the General Meeting.
Stern is aware that its remuneration policy cannot consist
of short-term incentives alone, as this can potentially lead to
high-risk behaviour. Short-term incentives have been known
to underline the company’s stability and continuity. In order
to guarantee long-term stability for the company, Stern has
therefore linked its remuneration policy to the strategic plan.
Employees who are satisfied are less likely to leave the
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company. A lower staff turnover also results in lower
recruitment and training costs, and satisfied employees are
more productive. Stern’s employees are motivated people
who are each given their share of responsibility. The working
environment at all Stern branches is pleasant and informal.
Staff turnover (here defined as the number of FTEs leaving
the company versus the number of FTEs employed at the
company) was only 1.2% in 2015. This is one of the reasons
Stern will be able to maintain its high service levels, now and
in the future.

Procurement
Stern aims to build a long-term relationship with suppliers.
It is only then that Stern can align processes in such a way that
both volume and efficiency gains can be increased. This calls
for close cooperation – based on strong business relationships
and open communication – in which progress is monitored
regularly and critically. Stern continued to develop its CSR
policy together with its suppliers in 2015, based on the reports
published. A well-defined CSR policy is a clear factor in the
decision to renew contracts with suppliers. Stern will continue
to consider sustainability aspects in 2016 in its decisions
regarding the purchase of products and services and in
entering into partnerships with suppliers and service
providers. In making its decisions, it will also carefully balance
the factors TCO (total cost of ownership, i.e. the economic
aspects involved) and the CSR value of the goods or services
purchased. Sustainability and cost savings remain the main
factors for Stern in the process of selecting a supplier based on
responsible criteria.

Business operations
As a retailer, Stern has only limited control over the product
range of the current 21 car brands represented by
Dealergroup Stern. The tax measures introduced by the Dutch
government have created a far higher demand for fuel-efficient
cars in recent years. Car manufacturers have met this demand
by launching highly energy-efficient, hybrid and fully electric
models in the market. Following a change in the tax rules for
business drivers which became effective on 1 January 2016,
a relatively large number of hybrid vehicles with lower
emissions were sold in 2015. Stern’s response to this trend was
to start importing eligible cars from surrounding European
countries in addition to ordering cars from Dutch importers.
Following the acquisition of the operations of Mango
Mobility B.V., Stern expanded its range of vehicles as of late
December 2014 to include fully electric vehicles which drive
up to 45 kilometres an hour. These vehicles include bicycles,
scooters, smaller compact cars and mobility scooters.

SternLogistics Dealergroup Stern supplies brand
components to a large number of car body repair companies,
including of course the twelve car body repair companies
owned and operated by Stern itself. The distribution of these
components was integrated for the first time in 2014, resulting
in an environmental gain and an indirect financial gain. Prior
to the integration, all companies managed their own parts
logistics. This involved the use of 33 light commercial vehicles
which collectively covered a distance of 8,100 kilometres
a day. Following the integration, Stern only used a total of
19 vehicles for the delivery of parts to 550 delivery addresses

in 2014, while the daily mileage completed by these vehicles
fell to 6,600 kilometres. This change continued in 2015. A total
of 1,100 delivery addresses were stocked in 2015 by 22 vehicles
which had an average mileage of 6,000 kilometres a day.
An average of 475 delivery addresses are serviced every day.
SternLogistics has also fully integrated all other internal
transports. During the last few months of 2015, our people
worked hard on further integrating and collaborating with
the various external parties, including importers, in order to
increase the number of brand components and improve the
quality of the services provided to our customers in terms of
completeness and frequency of delivery.

More sustainable Stern ﬂeet
CO₂ emissions in grams per kilometer
2015

2014

< 105

51%

< 105

33%

106 – 130

30%

106 – 130

46%

131 – 180

12%

131 – 180

12%

181 – 200

7%

181 – 200

9%
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SternRent Stern aims to improve the sustainability of its own
vehicle fleet, the majority of which is managed by SternRent B.V.
In 2015 it was once again possible to replace the number of cars
with relatively high carbon emissions in grams per kilometre with
more environmentally friendly cars thanks to the launch of new
cars in the market. Average carbon emissions generated by the
passenger cars in Stern’s fleet of rental vehicles fell to 110 grams
per kilometre or less in 2015.
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Erkend Duurzaam Since 2009, car
dealerships can obtain an Erkend Duurzaam
certificate if they can demonstrate that they
have implemented sustainability and CSR
in their business operations. The Erkend
Duurzaam programme is organised by the Institute for
Sustainable Mobility (Instituut voor Duurzame Mobiliteit,
or IvDM), which runs the programme on behalf of
stakeholders BOVAG, RAI Vereniging, FOCWA Schadeherstel
and STIBA. An independent assessment is conducted by ARN,
the Dutch expertise centre for recycling in the mobility sector.
The Erkend Duurzaam scan assesses the following six areas:
Business Operations, Communications, Procurement,
Employees, Finance and Sales. These areas form part of
a company’s day-to-day business operations, where they
influence people within and outside the company, the
environment, and the economic effects of the goods and
services supplied. The Erkend Duurzaam certificate has grown
to become the leading sustainability quality mark in the
industry over the past few years. In accordance with the
objective, all Stern companies were recertified for a two-year
period in 2015. The Stern branches audited by ARN achieved
an average score of 91%, versus the branch average of 75%
reported by ARN.
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Waste management
Since 2006, Stern has been working with a specialised partner
in waste management in order to gain greater control over its
waste disposal and recycling processes and, in doing so,
improve its waste performance. The results, which the company
attained over a period of many years, underscore that carefully
managing operational and financial results is part and parcel of
a responsible environmental policy.

Waste segregation Dealergroup Stern
In %
80

The total amount of waste generated increased by 40,000
kilograms in 2015 from the previous year. This increase was the
result of higher car sales and an increase in the number of visits
to our workshops. This is reflected in higher volumes of specific
waste streams, such as car windows, batteries, car tyres, timber
and cardboard (as a packaging material).
We made progress in further reducing the amount of residual
waste. All Stern business units have set targets for minimising
these non-segregated, relatively expensive waste streams and
further improving the sustainability of its business processes.
A sustainability ambassador, supervised by the external waste
management partners, oversees progress in each of our units.
The ambassadors convene each quarter to share knowledge
and experiences and set concrete business cases. Based on
the data and information acquired over the past few years,
the group is able to benchmark individual branches and
apply best practices at a more comprehensive level.
This relates mainly to the operational level of after-sales,
where the bulk of the waste is generated.
This active management of our waste performance once again
proved successful in 2015. While our business has increased,
the percentage of waste segregated has also increased by 2%
to 79%, and the company managed to reduce the amount
of residual waste per mechanic. Various initiatives have
contributed, including improved management of disposal
frequency and the size of the containers used, and actively
making changes on-site and involving employees in the waste
collection process. In addition, the analysis of data of specific
waste streams has led to improved collection of used batteries
and other items.

Residuals per mechanic Dealergroup Stern
In kilos
1,000

78

960

76

920

74

880

72

840

70

74

Besides resulting in measurable improvements in our
environmental performance, the programme has also given
Stern access to information on its waste costs and made these
costs manageable to a large extent.

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
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Although the target for the waste segregation percentage for
2015 was achieved, progress as measured based on the waste
performance indicators “Residual Waste Per Mechanic” and
“Waste Costs Per Mechanic” has fallen below target. While the
amount of residual waste per mechanic decreased, it
nevertheless failed to reach the target. The performance
indicator “Waste Costs Per Mechanic” even showed an increase.
Both results can be explained in part by the sharp growth of the
business. Increased sales and more visits to our workshops
generate higher waste volumes, thereby resulting in higher
costs. In car body repair, for example, the number of bumpers
disposed increased by 30%, while dealerships saw the number
of disposed batteries rise by 27%.
Besides the increase in volume, external factors generated
a sharp increase in total waste costs: a total of more than
€ 121,000. On account of the lower prices of natural resources
worldwide, specific waste streams, such as processed oil, metals
and batteries, are resulting in significantly lower yields. This
trend is exemplified by the market for processed oil, which was
both confronted with falling prices and has changed markedly

Waste performance indicators 2016

as a result of acquisitions, the arrival of new market players and
the elimination of processing capabilities in the Dutch market.
This has resulted in a decrease of 84% in yields in euros, while
the volume in kilos fell by only 3%. This processed oil, in
particular, has proved an unmanageable, dynamic yield factor
and could distort the picture of the performance achieved.
Another external factor which contributed to the cost increase
was the waste tax implemented on 1 January 2015, which
resulted in higher rates for residual waste.
These external trends have highlighted for Stern once again
the importance and added value of controlling waste. Based
on a controlled waste management process and factual
insights, the performance is transparent and can be adjusted
on an ongoing basis. Furthermore, the insights acquired can be
used to detect and reduce the waste of natural resources in
operational processes. Stern will be developing new initiatives
for this purpose in 2016.
The table below shows the waste performance indicators
defined for 2016.

Target for 2016

Difference

SternSchade
Amount of residual waste per mechanic (in kg)
Percentage of waste segregated
Cost price per mechanic

660
71%
€ 406

650
72%
€ 395

–2%
+1%
-3%

Dealergroup Stern
Amount of residual waste per mechanic (in kg)
Percentage of waste segregated
Cost price per mechanic

912
79%
€ 494

890
80%
€ 480

–2%
+1%
–3%

Waste costs per mechanic Dealergroup Stern
In euros
700

Total waste costs Dealergroup Stern
In € x 1,000
600

600

500

500

400

400

300

300

200

200
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Current situation

100
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Energy management
In 2007 Stern introduced a new, strategic policy aimed at
reducing the energy performance of its property portfolio.
The objective of this policy is to keep track of its own energy
consumption and to actively combat waste. The company
aims to bring the energy consumption of all branches in line
with that of the best-performing branch in 2014 by 2020.
In order to more efficiently track its energy consumption, the
company installed a number of “smart” meters in 2013 which
enable all branches to live-track their energy performance.
An energy portal is used to monitor energy consumption.
The sustainability ambassadors and branches receive monthly
energy reports via this portal. These reports compare the
monthly performance against the target set for each
individual branch. If the energy consumption of an individual
branch exceeds the target, the reason for this is investigated.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Stern launched a pilot project in 2015 in order to reduce
energy consumption at its branches. A total of five branches
were selected with high energy consumption and a variety
of energy profiles. A detailed profile analysis has been made
in order to identify inefficiency in energy consumption
and systems. Together with an installation and electrical
engineering company, these analyses were translated into
concrete measures, with a focus on quick wins. In 2015, these
measures resulted in a reduction of both power consumption
and gas consumption at the branches participating in the pilot
project. The pilot project will be expanded across a larger
number of branches in 2016. In compliance with the Energy
Efficiency Directive (EED), all branches that are medium and
large consumers of energy will be subjected to an energy
audit.

As part of this audit, the waste streams for each branch
are charted and the energy savings potential is calculated.
Both processes will ensure a continuous decrease in energy
consumption at Stern in the coming years.
In gathering data on its energy consumption and working to
reduce this consumption, Stern has completed the first two
steps of the Trias Energetica model. In 2016 we will also be
focusing on the third step of the Trias Energetica model,
i.e. the use of sustainable energy generation. With a large
amount of available roof surface, Stern will focus mainly on
using solar energy based on PV panels.
The graph below shows total electricity and gas consumption
at Stern for the period 2010-2015. For electricity, consumption
is divided into high and low costs, distinguishing between
consumption during peak hours and off-peak hours. The graph
shows the actual consumption of gas, not adjusted for
external factors.
Stern consumed marginally more electricity and gas in 2015
than in 2014. The reason for this higher consumption is the
commissioning of a large number of recharging stations in
2015. These stations are used both in the daytime (peak rate)
and at night (off-peak rate) to recharge electric vehicles. Gas
consumption has also increased slightly from 2014. However,
when we adjust for the average difference in temperature
between 2015 (10.9°C) and 2014 (11.7°C), we can see a
significantly lower consumption rate.

Stern’s energy consumption
kWh and m3 x 1,000 (left axis); number of gas and electric meters (right axis)
14,000
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Contribution to society
When it comes to making a fundamental contribution to
society, Stern prefers causes which align with its origin and/or
core business. In 2002, the company began supporting the
Dutch Society for the Protection of Birds in its fight to create
a liveable world for birds and people alike. Since our company
was named after a species of bird (stern is the Dutch word for
“tern”), supporting this cause is an obvious choice. Stern
supports specific projects which contribute to improving the
habitat of terns in the Netherlands. We once again made a
donation of € 40,000 in 2015, and we will be donating the
same amount to the Society in 2016.
On the occasion of National Bird Week (May 2015), Stern and
the Dutch Society for the Protection of Birds organised a
birdwatching outing for customers of our Naarden branch.
Since this morning walk turned out to be a success, several
other sites will be organising similar outings during the 2016
edition of National Bird Week.

Corporate Social Responsibility

Birdwatching outing organised for customers of the Naarden
branch during National Bird Week (May 2015).

Stern Annual Report 2015

77

Stern has also committed to the Netherlands Golf Federation
for a three-year period, starting in 2016. Both Stern and the
NGF support the Dutch Society for the Protection of Birds in
their efforts to protect birds and their habitats. The NFGinitiated project Committed to Birds is also in keeping with
Stern’s objective. This programme is dedicated to raising
awareness among golf clubs of the surrounding nature and
the birds dwelling on their courses. Stern has also teamed up
with the NGF to highlight its commitment to birds and their
survival by supporting the annual Bird Watching Day on golf
courses across the Netherlands, the soon-to-be-launched
Stern Birdie Ranking (a list of Birdies scored) and the Stern
Birdie Tournament, a golf match organised as part of the same
initiative.

Corporate Social Responsibility
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The Stichting Forteiland Pampus, which Stern began
supporting in 2011, is dedicated to bringing self-sufficiency
back to this artificial island, in line with its original design.
Stern has been contributing financially to a test set-up of car
batteries in order to store locally generated electricity. In 2015
Pampus managed to save 30% energy through this set-up.
Stern will continue to support Pampus in 2016.
Since August 2014, Stern has been supporting Vrije School
Parcival, a public, Steiner-based preschool, kindergarten and
primary school located in Amstelveen, near Amsterdam. Stern
helps provide transport facilities for children in the preschool,
who have various disabilities. Due to a government grant
being discontinued, there were no longer funds available to
pay for the transport to and from school of this specific group
of children. Stern’s contribution guarantees that they will
continue to have access to transport facilities.

Corporate Social Responsibility

“Both Stern and the Royal Netherlands Golf Federation support
the Dutch Society for the Protection of Birds in their efforts to
protect birds and their habitats. The NFG-initiated project
‘Committed to Birds’ is also in keeping with Stern’s objective.
This programme is dedicated to raising awareness among golf
clubs of the surrounding nature and the birds dwelling on their
courses.
We will be developing several new projects in 2016, including the
annual Bird Watching Day, the soon-to-be-launched Birdie
Ranking and the Birdie Tournament, a golf match organised as
part of the same initiative. We are delighted with this partnership and feel Stern is an ideal partner to the NGF when it comes
to sustainability.”

Jeroen Stevens
Royal Netherlands Golf Federation
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GRI index
For this report, we have used the G4 guidelines for sustainability reporting of the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).
We report according to the “Core” option.

GRI
indicator Description

Explanation/reference

Page in
the report

Note on omitted
or partial reporting

Strategy
G4-1

Statement of the CEO

Preface
Report of the Management
Board

G4-2

Key effects, risks and
opportunities

Report of the Management
Board

14-61

Stern Groep N.V.

–

2
14-61

Corporate profile

Corporate Social Responsibility
80

G4-3

Name of the organisation

G4-4

Primary products, and/or services Portfolio of car brands
Mobility services

4
5

G4-5

Location of organisation’s
headquarters

Pieter Braaijweg 6
1114 AR AmsterdamDuivendrecht
The Netherlands

–

G4-6

Number of countries where
the organisation operates

The Netherlands only

Inside cover

G4-7

Nature of ownership and legal
form

Shareholder information

10, 53

G4-8

Markets served

Report of the Management
Board

8-9, 26-33,
36-49

G4-9

Scale of the organisation

Profile
Outline of 2015
Five-year overview
Figures

3
8-9
58
59

G4-10

Workforce composition

Employees/Personnel
Diversity

22, 60-61
70

G4-11

Percentage of employees
covered by CLAs

CLA Motor Vehicles: 1,567 FTE
CLA Auto Body Shops: 192 FTE

36-49

G4-12

Value chain description

Report of the Management
Board
Precurement
Value creation

14, 26-33
72
68-69

G4-13

Significant changes during
the reporting period

Report of the Management
Board

14-17, 26-33

G4-14

Precautionary principle

Risks

34, 50-52

G4-15

Externally developed economic,
environmental, and social
charters, principles, or other
initiatives

–

–
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The external initiatives endorsed
by Stern will be listed in the 2016
annual report.

GRI
indicator Description

Explanation/reference

Page in
the report

Note on omitted
or partial reporting

Material aspects
G4-16

Membership of associations
and/or national or international
interest organisations

Stakeholder dialogue BOVAG,
66-67
ARN, IvDM, FOCWA, VNA and
OCDM
Report of the Supervisory Board 12-13

G4-17

Operational structure
of the organisation
Entities included in the
consolidated financial
statements

Profile
Report of the Management
Board
Organisational diagram
Financial statements

3

G4-18

Process for defining report
content and scope

About this CSR report

64-65

G4-19

Overview of material aspects
to determine report content
and scope

CSR structural diagram
Stakeholder dialogue
Value creation

65
66-67
68-69

G4-20

Aspect boundary within
the organisation for each
material subject

CSR report
CSR structural diagram
Stakeholder dialogue
Value creation
About this CSR report

64-79
65
66-67
68-69
64-65

G4-21

Aspect boundary outside the
organisation for each material
subject

Stakeholder dialogue
About this report

66-67
64-65

G4-22

Re-statements of information
provided in previous annual
reports

Not applicable

–

G4-23

Significant changes in scope
Not applicable
relative to the previous reporting
period

–

20-21
140
92-93

Corporate Social Responsibility

Stakeholder involvement
G4-24

List of stakeholder groups
engaged by the organisation

Stakeholder dialogue

66-67

G4-25

Basis for identifying and
selecting stakeholders
with whom to engage

Stakeholder dialogue

66-67

G4-26

Approach taken to engaging
stakeholders

Stakeholder dialogue
About this CSR report

66-67
64-65

A stakeholder dialogue will
be organised in 2016 to test
the materiality, strategy and
priorities for the sustainable
business operation of Stern.
An account of this will be
included in the subsequent
annual report.
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GRI
indicator Description
G4-27

Key topics and concerns that
have been raised through
stakeholder engagement

Explanation/reference
Stakeholder dialogue BOVAG,
ARN, IvDM, FOCWA, VNA
and OCDM
Stakeholder dialogue
About this CSR report

Page in
the report

Note on omitted
or partial reporting

67

A stakeholder dialogue will
be organised in 2016 to test
the materiality, strategy and
priorities for the sustainable
business operation of Stern.
An account of this will be
included in the subsequent
annual report.

66-67
64-65

Reporting details
G4-28

Reporting period

1 January to 31 December 2015

8-9, 14-49

G4-29

Date of most recent previous
report (if any)

9 April 2015

–

G4-30

Reporting cycle

Annual

–

G4-31

Contact information

jaarrapport@stern.nl

Colophon

G4-32

GRI table of contents

About this CSR report
GRI 4 “Core”

64-65
80-83

Governance

Corporate Social Responsibility

G4-34

Organisational governance
structure

Corporate Governance

53-55

G4-35

Process for delegating
Structure
responsibility for economic,
Corporate Governance
environmental and social aspects
to the highest governing body
and executive management

20-21
53-55

G4-36

Manager responsible for
economic, environmental and
social aspects and whether they
report to the highest governing
body

Structure
Corporate Governance

20-21
53-55

G4-38

Composition of highest
governing body

Supervisory Board
Structure
Corporate Governance

12-15
20-21
53-55

Ethics and integrity
G4-56

Organisational values, principles, Stern’s compass
standards and codes of conduct Business ethics
Procurement

G4-DMA Economic aspects

Financial statements

85-138

G4-EC1

Direct economic values

Financial statements

85-138

G4-EC7

Development and impact of
infrastructure investments and
services provided primarily for
public benefit

Report of the Management
Board

14-27

Insight into and description of
significant indirect economic
consequences, including their
scale

Report of the Management
Board

14-17

Business ethics

72

G4-EC8

G4-DMA Integrity

82

6-7
72
72
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GRI
indicator Description
G4-PR5

Explanation/reference

Page in
the report

Customer satisfaction

G4-SO11 Number of formal complaints

Note on omitted
or partial reporting
All the Dealergroup Stern
companies participate in the
customer satisfaction surveys
required by the respective
importers. The measurement
methodology and reporting vary
per importer. The 2016 annual
report will include the results per
company, with an explanation of
the methodology.
Stern Mobility Services and Stern
Financial Services started their
own uniform measurement of
customer satisfaction in 2015.
The results of this over a full year
will be reported next year.

–

–

G4-DMA Social

Diversity

70

G4-LA12 Diversity

Diversity

70

G4-LA10 Training and education

Diversity
Health & Safety

70
71

G4-DMA Environment

Business operations
Waste management
Energy management
Contribution to society

73
74-75
76
77

G4-EN3

Energy management

76

–

–

The various complaints
procedures of the organisation
will be described in 2016.

Material aspects

G4-EN15 Greenhouse gas emissions –
scope 1

Corporate Social Responsibility

Energy use within the
organisation

Will be stated with effect from
the 2016 annual report.
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87
88
90
91
92
92
100
101
103
103
104
104
104
105
105
105
107
107
110
111
111
112
112
113
113
113
114
114
116
117
118
119
119
119
119
120
122
122
123
124

Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated statement of income for 2015
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for 2015
Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2015
Statement of changes in equity for 2015
Consolidated statement of cash flows for 2015
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1. Accounting principles
2. Segment reporting
3. Business combinations and divestments
4. Net revenue
5. Cost of sales
6. Other income
7. Employee expenses
8. Other operating expenses
9. Result from associates
10. Financial income and expenses
11. Income taxes
12. Earnings per share
13. Intangible assets
14. Property, plant and equipment
15. Investment property
16. Investments in associates
17. Other financial assets
18. Inventory
19. Trade receivables
20. Other receivables
21. Cash and cash equivalents
22. Equity
23. Interest-bearing loans
24. Pension liabilities
25. Provisions
26. Financial instruments
27. Trade and other payables
28. Tax and social security contributions
29. Other liabilities
30. Note to the statement of cash flows
31. Objectives and policy regarding the management
of financial risks
32. Contingent assets and liabilities
33. Related party disclosures
34. Remuneration of the Management Board
and the Supervisory Board
35. Subsequent events

125
125
126

Company financial statements
Company statement of income for 2015
Company statement of financial position
at 31 December 2015

127
127
127
128
128
129

Notes to the company financial statements
1. Accounting principles
2. Property, plant and equipment
3. Financial assets
4. Equity
5. Other notes

130
130

Other information
Profit appropriation according to the articles
of association
Dividend
Independent auditor’s report

130
131

(amounts x € 1,000)

Consolidated statement of income for 2015
Note

2014

Net revenue
Cost of sales
Gross profit

4
5

1,095,181
(906,952)
188,229

898,299
(732,566)
165,733

Other income
Employee expenses
Amortisation and impairment
of intangible assets
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant
and equipment and investment property
Other operating expenses
Operating profit

6
7

6,159
(110,713)

5,342
(106,992)

13

(160)

(1,301)

14/15
8

(10,092)
(54,614)
18,809

(9,544)
(49,488)
3,750

Income from associates
Financial income and expenses
Profit/ (loss) before tax

9
10

195
(4,570)
14,434

213
(4,236)
(273)

Income taxes

11

(3,367)

3,895

11,067

3,622

5,673,560

5,659,809

€ 1.95
€ 1.95

€ 0.64
€ 0.64

Financial statements

Profit/ (loss) after tax (attributable to
the Shareholders of Stern Groep N.V.)
Earnings per share
Weighted average number of outstanding shares
Earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

86

2015
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(amounts x € 1,000)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for 2015
Note
Profit after tax (attributable to the shareholders
of Stern Groep N.V.)
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be transferred to
the statement of income in the following periods
Effective portion of changes to the cash flow hedge
Income taxes
Income and expenses not recognised
in the statement of income
Total comprehensive income after tax
(attributable to the shareholders
of Stern Groep N.V.)

31

2015

2014

11,067

3,622

667
(166)

(529)
132

501

(397)

11,568

3,225

Financial statements
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(amounts x € 1,000)

Consolidated statement of financial position
at 31 December 2015
Note

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Investments in associates
Other financial assets
Deferred tax assets

13
14
15
16
17
11

30,070
269,264
2,666
956
11,453
25,562
339,971

30,066
285,936
2,777
674
11,161
28,644
359,258

Current assets
Inventory
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

18
19
20
21

189,050
49,405
6,661
608
245,724

170,664
32,419
3,630
1,636
208,349

585,695

567,607

Assets

Financial statements

Total assets

88
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(amounts x € 1,000)

Note

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

593
114,734
22,774
2,005
10,673
150,779

593
114,734
21,544
1,110
2,588
140,569

Equity and liabilities
Equity (attributable to the shareholders
of Stern Groep N.V.)
Issued capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves
Revaluation reserve
Undistributed result

22

23
25
29

145,373
1,177
1,222
147,772

214,398
1,163
1,737
217,298

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans
Provisions
Trade and other payables
Derivatives
Tax and social security contributions
Other liabilities

23
25
27
26
28
29

151,083
2,955
101,624
1,714
2,968
26,800
287,144

78,160
1,008
103,443
2,381
2,728
22,020
209,740

585,695

567,607

Total equity and liabilities
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Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans
Provisions
Advances from lease and warranties

89

(amounts x € 1,000)

Statement of changes in equity for 2015
Issued
capital

Share
premium
reserve

Other
reserves

593

114,734

21,544

1,110

2,588

140,569

Result after tax
Other comprehensive income
after tax
Total comprehensive income
for 2015 (attributable
to the shareholders
of Stern Groep N.V.)

–

–

–

394

10,673

11,067

–

–

–

501

–

501

–

–

–

895

10,673

11,568

Result appropriation
Cash dividend
Sale of shares

–
–
–

–
–
–

2,588
(1,425)
67

–
–
–

(2,588)
–
–

–
(1,425)
67

593

114,734

22,774

Issued
capital

Share
premium
reserve

Other
reserves

593

118,877

15,962

473

2,418

138,323

Result after tax
Other comprehensive income
after tax
Total comprehensive income
for 2014 (attributable
to the shareholders
of Stern Groep N.V.)

–

–

–

1,034

2,588

3,622

–

–

–

(397)

–

–

–

637

2,588

3,225

Result appropriation
Cash dividend
Stock dividend
Sale of shares
Repurchase of own shares
Stern Share-based
compensation Plan

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
(4,143)
–
–

2,418
(1,132)
4,143
11
(18)

–
–
–
–
–

(2,418)
–
–
–
–

–
(1,132)
–
11
(18)

–

–

160

–

–

160

593

114,734

21,544

1,110

2,588

140,569

Balance at 1 January 2015

Balance at 31 December 2015

Financial statements

Balance at 1 January 2014

Balance at 31 December 2014

90
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Revaluation Undistributed
reserve
result

2,005

Total

10,673

150,779

Revaluation Undistributed
reserve
result

Total

–

(397)

(amounts x € 1,000)

Consolidated statement of cash flows for 2015
Note
Profit/ (loss) before tax

Cash flow from operating activities
Investments in property, plant and equipment
Acquisitions, excluding cash received
Divestments of intangible assets
Divestments of property, plant and equipment
Cash flow from investment activities
Dividends paid
Share-based compensation expenses
Repurchase of own shares
Sale of shares
Movement in debts to credit institutions
Cash flow from financing activities

14,434

9
10
13

47,582

13
3

–
–
–

25

(213)
(1,034)
4,236
274
43,986
1,027
(1,414)
160

(5,094)
1,961
(515)

(2,756)
(518)
(647)

(17,986)
(20,016)
2,655

(11,119)
4,088
25,386
27,162

–
(4,356)

61,183
94
(5,148)

(4,356)
22,806
14
3
13
14/15

(126,461)
(965)
196
100,856

23

(1,425)
–
–
67
3,898

(5,054)
56,129
(92,923)
(14,896)
–
39,966

(26,374)

(67,853)
(1,132)
(160)
(18)
11
13,976

2,540

Increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at opening date
Cash and cash equivalents at closing date
Movement in cash

(273)

(195)
(394)
4,570
160

14/15

2014

12,677

(1,028)
21
21

Financial statements

Adjustments for:
Result from associates
Result Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V.
Interest expense in result
Amortisation of intangible assets
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and investment property
Impairment of goodwill/write-down
of purchase price
Badwill
Share-based compensation expenses
Income from sale of property, plant
and equipment
Contribution to/ (withdrawal from) provisions
Advances from lease and guarantees
Movements in working capital:
• movement in inventory
• movement in accounts receivable
• movement in accounts payable
Cash flow from business operations
Dividend received from associates
Interest paid

2015

1,636
608

953
683
1,636

(1,028)

953
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(amounts x € 1,000)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1 Accounting policies
Stern Groep N.V. has its registered office in Amsterdam and is
active in car mobility in the Netherlands. Stern Group’s shares
are listed on NYSE Euronext Amsterdam. The company’s core
business consists of:
• Dealergroup Stern is engaged in the sale of new and used
passenger cars and light commercial vehicles, as well as the
provision of maintenance and repair of passenger cars and
light commercial vehicles.
• Stern Financial Services is involved in dealer leasing,
regional leasing, fleet management and the sale of financial
and other mobility products.
• Stern Mobility Services is engaged in the sale of used cars
and electric transport, the provision of maintenance and
repair of passenger cars, car body repair services, car rental
and the fitting of interiors for light commercial vehicles.
The core businesses are mainly concentrated in the provinces
of North and South Holland, Utrecht and North Brabant.

Financial statements

The Management Board prepared the financial statements
on 8 March 2016. The annual financial statements will be
submitted for adoption to the General Meeting of
Shareholders on 11 May 2016.

General policies for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
according to the accounting policies of Stern Groep N.V. and
according to the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as published by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) and adopted by the European Union.
The financial statements are denominated in euros.
All transactions in the financial year were in euros.
The valuation and the determination of the result are made on
the basis of historical cost. Unless otherwise stated under the
item concerned, the assets and liabilities are included at
historical cost. Income and expenses are allocated to the year
to which they relate. Profits are only recognised to the extent
that they have been realised on the closing date. Losses and
risks originating before the end of the reporting year are
included if they are known prior to the preparation of the
financial statements. All balances, transactions, income and
expenses within the group and profits and losses arising from
transactions within the group that are included in the assets
have been fully eliminated.
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Principles for consolidation
and group relationships
The consolidated financial statements include the figures for
the company financial statements of Stern Groep N.V. and its
group companies (all of which are 100%-owned subsidiaries).
Group companies are legal entities and companies over which
the company exercises control. Control is defined as the power
to direct the financial and operational policy of the group
companies in order to obtain benefits from their activities.
The companies included in the consolidation are shown in the
list below, which is prepared according to the organisational
structure.
SternFacilitair B.V., Amsterdam
• SternPixel B.V., Hoofddorp
• SternFacilitair MN B.V., Amsterdam
• SternFacilitair SLB B.V., Amsterdam
Stern Dealers B.V., Amsterdam
• Stern 1 B.V., Utrecht
Stern Auto B.V., Utrecht
Stern Auto II B.V., Utrecht
• Stern 2 B.V., Eindhoven
Arend Auto B.V., Eindhoven
Arend Motors B.V., Eindhoven
• Stern 3 B.V., Rotterdam
Ardea Auto B.V., Hoofddorp
• Stern 4 B.V., Amsterdam
Svala Auto B.V., Haarlem
Jager Auto B.V., Purmerend
Vireo Auto B.V., Purmerend
• Stern 5 B.V., Purmerend
Heron Auto B.V., Purmerend
Heron Auto Agenten B.V., Purmerend
Durmi Auto B.V., Purmerend
Havik Auto B.V., Wormerveer
• Stern 6 B.V., Amsterdam
Falco Auto B.V., Wormerveer
Stern Financial Services B.V., Purmerend
• Stern Leasing N.V., Purmerend
• SternLease B.V., Purmerend
• SternPartners B.V., Purmerend
Stern Mobility Services Purmerend
• SternRent B.V., Purmerend
• SternPoint B.V., Amsterdam
• Mango Mobility Services B.V., Amsterdam
• SternSchade B.V., Amsterdam
• SternTec B.V., Wateringen
• SternExclusief B.V., Purmerend
• Flexmo B.V., Wateringen

This list shows the situation as at 31 December 2015.
The financial data of the group companies included in the
consolidation are fully recognised in the consolidated financial
statements after elimination of intra-group debt relationships
and transactions. For a list of group companies at year-end
2014, see the 2014 financial statements.
Stern Groep N.V. has accepted joint and several liability for the
obligations arising from legal actions taken by the companies
appearing in the list above (all 100%-owned), in accordance
with Section 403 of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
Stern Groep N.V. is a fiscal unity for corporate income tax
purposes which includes its subsidiaries, with the exception of
Stern Leasing N.V. and SternLease B.V., which together form
a separate fiscal unity. Under the standard conditions applying
to fiscal unities, the participating companies are jointly and
severally liable for corporate income tax due.
Group companies are consolidated from the date on which
control can be exercised and the share held by Stern Groep
N.V. is at least 50%, or from the date on which economic risk
is assumed. The results of group companies that have been
divested are included in the consolidation until the date on
which decisive control is no longer exercised.

The most significant assumptions for the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at closing date that have
a considerable risk of a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the following financial year
are:
Stern Groep N.V. determines at least once a year whether
goodwill has been subject to impairment and/or whether
there are onerous activities that could require recognition of
an impairment of assets. This involves estimating the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
attributed and the onerous activities. To estimate the value
in use, Stern Groep N.V. has to estimate the expected future
cash flows of the cash-generating unit and determine a
suitable discount rate to calculate the present value of these
cash flows. Estimates of future cash flows are based on
assumptions with respect to gross margins and developments
in operating expenses. These estimates are inherently
uncertain, meaning that actual cash flows may vary from the
management estimates. The carrying amount of the goodwill
as at 31 December 2015 was € 29.5 million (year-end 2014:
€ 29.1 million). For further information, see note 13 Intangible
assets.

The residual values of the cars made available to customers
under operating lease contracts are estimated once a year.
These residual values are periodically checked by the residual
value committee. This committee includes employees
possessing specific expertise, extensive knowledge of the
market and years of experience in the valuation of residual
values of cars. Apart from their own knowledge and
experience, these employees also use independent
information in their estimation of residual values, such as
Autotelex.
For the inventory of new passenger cars and light commercial
vehicles, a check is made to establish whether all the key
rights to economic benefits and all major risks have been
transferred by the importers to Stern Groep N.V. If these rights
and risks have been transferred as of the closing date,
Stern Groep N.V. has power of disposal and the passenger
cars and light commercial vehicles concerned are recognised
in the statement of financial position under Inventory
(note 18). While the major rights and risks have not yet been
transferred to Stern Groep N.V., the passenger cars and light
commercial vehicles are not recognised in the statement of
financial position and are disclosed as contingent liabilities
(note 32).

Financial statements

Significant accounting judgements
and estimates

by the management to determine the amount of deferred tax
assetsthat can be recognised. The actual taxable profits
against which tax loss carry forward balance can be offset may
vary from these management estimates. The carrying amount
of the deferred tax asset recognised as at 31 December 2015
was € 25.6 million (year-end 2014: € 28.6 million). For further
information, see note 11 Income taxes.

In November 2015 Stern Groep N.V. sold and leased back
ten premises (sale and leaseback, note 14). The assessment
of whether this transaction constitutes an operating lease or
a financial lease involved an evaluation of all the contractual
conditions. The key Management's estimates relate to the
economic life of the premises and the present value of the
minimum lease payments in comparison to the fair value
of the premises. Based on this assessment, the sale and
leaseback transaction qualifies as an operating lease, meaning
that not all the major risks and rewards of ownership are
retained by Stern Group. The difference between the carrying
amount and the sales price of € 2.0 million is recognised as
a gain under Other income in the statement of income for
2015.

To the extent that it is likely that there will be taxable profit
against which the (tax) losses can be offset, deferred tax
assets are recognised for tax loss carry forward balance and
temporary differences between valuations for commercial
and tax purposes. A significant degree of estimation of the
probable timing and level of future taxable profits is required
Stern Annual Report 2015
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Summary of the main principles
for financial reporting
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill Business combinations are recognised using the
acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is determined
as the total of the payment transferred (the fair value as at
the acquisition date) and the amount of any minority interest
in the acquired party. For each business combination, the
acquiring party values the minority interest in the acquired
party at either fair value or a proportion of the net assets
of the acquired party. Costs relating to the acquisition are
charged directly to the statement of income.
When Stern Groep N.V. acquires a company, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities acquired for the purpose of
correct classification and registration, in accordance with the
contractual conditions, the economic circumstances and other
relevant circumstances. This also concerns the separation of
derivatives contractually entered into by the acquired party.

Financial statements

If the business combination is realised in various phases, the
fair value of the interest previously held by the acquiring party
in the acquired party is recalculated as at the acquisition date
with changes in value recognised in the statement of income.
Any contingent payments transferred by the acquiring party
are recognised at fair value as at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent
payment classified as an asset or a liability are, in accordance
with IAS 39, recognised either in the statement of income or
as a change in other comprehensive income. If the contingent
payment is classified as equity, revaluation is only effected on
definitive settlement in equity.
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, that is the amount by
which the payment transferred exceeds the net value of the
assets and liabilities acquired. If this payment is less than the
fair value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the
difference is recognised in the statement of income.
After initial recognition goodwill is measured at cost, less
any accumulated impairments. For the purpose of impairment
testing, from the acquisition date the goodwill arising from
a business combination is attributed to the cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination, regardless of whether assets or liabilities of
the acquired entity are attributed to these units.
If goodwill is part of a cash-generating unit and a part of the
business operation within this unit is divested, the goodwill
relating to the divested operation is included in the carrying
amount of this operation for the purpose of establishing the
result arising from the divestment. Goodwill divested in
such circumstances is calculated on the basis of the relative
proportion of the value of the divested operation and
the part of the cash-generating unit that is retained.
Licences Licences for the operation of fuel sales, with
the associated entitlement to the operating results, that are
acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. The cost of
licences acquired in a business combination is the approximate
94
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fair value of these licences on the date of acquisition.
Subsequently, licences are carried at cost less cumulative
amortisation and any cumulative impairments. Licences are
determined as having either a limited or an indefinite useful
life. Licences with a limited useful life are amortised over the
period of use, taking account of residual value and tested for
impairment annually. The amortisation period and method for
a licence with a limited useful life is assessed at least at the
end of each financial year. Changes in the expected useful life
or in the expected pattern of the future economic benefits
from the asset are recognised by means of a change to the
amortisation period or method and treated as a changed
estimate. The amortisation expense on intangible non-current
assets with a limited useful life is recognised in the statement
of income in the cost category appropriate to the intangible
asset. Licences with an indefinite useful life are not amortised,
and are tested annually for impairment.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment Property, plant and
equipment is carried at cost, excluding the costs of daily
maintenance, after deduction of cumulative depreciation and
cumulative impairments. This cost also includes the costs of
replacing parts of property, plant or equipment if these costs
meet the criteria for recognition in the statement of financial
position. Depreciation is applied on a straight-line basis based
on the useful life of the asset in question. The carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment are tested for
impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Any impairments are charged to the statement of income.
A reversal of an impairment is credited to the statement of
income up to the carrying amount that would have been
determined if no impairment of the asset had been recognised
in previous years.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised in
the statement of financial position in case of divestment or if
no future economic benefits are expected to be realised from
its use. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of the
asset in the statement of financial position (which is calculated
as the difference between the net proceeds on divestment and
the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised in the
statement of income during the year in which the asset
is derecognised in the statement of financial position.
The residual value of the asset and its useful life are assessed
annually and adjusted if necessary at year end.
Construction in progress Construction in progress for own
use is measured at the direct costs incurred as at closing date,
plus directly related financing costs and less any impairment.
The financing costs are attributed to the carrying amount of
the asset in production until the asset in question is ready for
use. The interest rate is determined as the interest rate the
company pays on its short-term finance (Euribor plus a
spread).
Operating lease cars This item concerns cars leased under
operating lease contracts. Operating lease cars concern the
leasing of cars whereby not all the risks and benefits

associated with ownership are transferred to the lessee.
Depending on their nature, the assets in question are
recognised by Stern Group as operating lease cars under
property, plant and equipment in the statement of financial
position. Operating lease cars are carried at cost after
deduction of cumulative depreciation and any cumulative
impairments. The assets are depreciated over the useful life
to the expected residual value. The depreciation expenses are
recognised in the statement of income under cost of sales.
The residual value of the asset is assessed annually and
adjusted if necessary at year end.
The cost of operating lease cars consists of the purchase
price and any directly attributable expenses in connection
with preparation of the asset in question for the intended
use. Any trade discounts are deducted when calculating the
purchase price.

Operating lease contracts Lease payments relating to
operating leases are expensed by Stern Groep N.V. on a
straight-line basis during the lease term.
Rental of cars The cost of cars held for rental consists of the
purchase price plus any directly attributable costs for bringing
the assets in question up to the desired level of operation.
Trade discounts are deducted in the calculation of the
purchase price. Account is also taken of volume discounts,
which are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. Hire
cars are recognised at cost after deduction of cumulative
depreciation and any cumulative impairments. Depreciation
is applied to hire cars on a straight-line basis over the useful
life to the expected residual value. The depreciation expenses
are recognised under cost of sales. Losses arising from
impairments are usually due to a negative development in
the residual value of the hire cars. An assessment is made at
the closing date to establish whether there are indications
of impairment. lf such indications exist, the asset's recoverable
value is estimated. Impairments are recognised in the
statement of income under cost of sales at such time and to
the extent that the carrying amount of the hire cars exceeds
their recoverable value.
Investment property On initial recognition investment
property is measured at cost, including transaction costs.
After initial recognition, investment property is measured
at cost after deduction of cumulative depreciation and

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investments in associates Investments in associates are
recognised according to the equity method. An associate is an
entity over which Stern Groep N.V. has material influence but
is not a subsidiary or part of a collective agreement. Under the
equity method, investments in associates are recognised in
the statement of financial position at cost plus changes in the
share of Stern Groep N.V. in the net assets of the associate
after acquisition. The goodwill relating to an associate is
recognised in the cost of the investment and is not amortised.
After application of the equity method, Stern Groep N.V.
determines whether an impairment needs to be recognised
for its net investment in the associate. The share in the
operating profit of the associate is recognised in the
statement of income. If a change is recognised directly in the
equity of the associate, Stern Groep N.V. recognises its share
in the change and includes this in the statement of changes in
equity if necessary. The reporting dates of the associates and
Stern Groep N.V. are the same and their accounting policies
are in accordance with those applied by Stern Groep N.V.
for similar transactions and events in similar circumstances.
The share of Stern Groep N.V. in the results from transactions
between Stern Groep N.V. and its associates are eliminated.
Once there is no longer material influence over an associate,
Stern Groep N.V. changes the measurement of its remaining
investment in the fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate at the time of loss of
material influence and the fair value of the remaining
investment plus the proceeds of the divestment is recognised
in the statement of income.

Financial statements

Losses arising from impairments are usually due to a negative
development in the residual value of the lease cars. An
assessment is made at the closing date to establish whether
there are indications of impairment. lf such indications exist,
the asset's recoverable value is estimated. Impairments are
recognised if the carrying amount of the operating lease asset
exceeds the recoverable value. The recoverable value is
defined as the fair value less the costs of sale or the value in
use of the asset, whichever is the higher. The value in use is
the expected sales result on disposal of the item and other
estimated future cash flows that can be attributed to the item.
Impairments are recognised directly in the statement of
income under cost of sales.

impairments. The carrying amount consists of the costs of
replacing a part of the existing property as soon as these costs
are incurred and the conditions for recognition are met, and
excludes the costs of the daily maintenance of the property.
Depreciation expenses are recognised in the result under
depreciation of property, plant and equipment. Investment
property is derecognised in the statement of financial position
if they are divested or if they are permanently taken out of use
and no future economic benefits are expected to accrue from
the divestment. Gains or losses arising from taking out of use
or divestment of a real estate investment are recognised in
the statement of income in the year in which they occur.
Reclassification to investment property is only effected if
there is a change in use as evidenced by termination of own
use, the commencement of an operating lease with another
party or completion of construction or redevelopment
activities. Reclassification from investment property is
only effected if there is a change of use as evidenced by
commencement of own use, or the start of development
for the purpose of a later sale.

Other financial assets Investments in equity instruments
are measured at fair value. The resulting changes in value
are recognised in the statement of income. Investments in
participating interests over which Stern Groep N.V. has no
material influence are measured at fair value, with changes
in value recognised in the statement of income.
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Loans and receivables Loans and receivables are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or definite payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial recognition,
these financial assets are measured at amortised cost subject
to application of the effective interest method, after
deduction of any impairments. The calculation of the
amortised cost includes any premium or discount and direct
transaction costs and commissions. The amortisation is
recognised under financial income in the statement of income,
while impairments are recognised under financial expenses.

registration certificates and includes BPM for passenger cars
with vehicle registration certificates.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

Trade and other receivables Trade and other receivables
are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method and after
deduction of the provision for uncollectibility. A provision for
uncollectibility is formed at such time as a receivable cannot
be collected in full. The amount of the provision is determined
as the difference between the carrying amount of the
receivable and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The contribution to the reserve is recognised in the statement
of income.

Financial statements

Impairment of assets Stern Groep N.V. assesses whether
there are indications that an asset has been subject to
impairment as at the reporting date. If such indications exist,
or if the annual test for impairment of an asset is required,
Stern Groep N.V. estimates the recoverable value of the asset.
An asset’s recoverable value is the fair value of the asset or
cash-generating unit after deduction of costs of sale or the
value in use, whichever is the higher. If the carrying amount
of an asset is higher than its recoverable value, the asset is
considered to be subject to impairment and will be written
down to its recoverable value. The determination of the value
in use consists of calculating the present value of the
estimated future cash flows, with application of a discount
rate after tax that takes account of the current market
assessments of the time value of money and the specific risks
of the asset. Impairments of continued business operations
are recognised in the statement of income in the cost category
corresponding to the asset in question. At each reporting date,
there is an assessment of whether there are indications that a
previously recognised impairment no longer exists or has been
reduced. If such indication exists, the recoverable value is
estimated. A previously recognised loss due to impairment is
only reversed if a change has occurred in the estimate that
was used to determine the asset’s recoverable value since the
recognition of the most recent impairment. If this is the case,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable
value. This increased amount may not be higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (after
deduction of depreciation) if no impairment of the asset had
been recognised in previous years. Such reversals are
recognised in the result. After such a reversal, the depreciation
expense is adjusted in order that the revised carrying amount
of the asset (after deduction of any residual value) is
systematically attributed to future periods over the remaining
useful life. An impairment recognised for goodwill is no longer
reversed in a later period.
CURRENT ASSETS
Inventory Inventory is carried at the cost of acquisition or
the lower net realizable value. The fair value of the inventory
of used passenger cars and light commercial vehicles is the
directly realisable amount upon sale. The acquisition price of
the inventory of used and new passenger cars that are subject
to luxury tax (hereinafter BPM) on private motor vehicles and
motorcycles (Belasting Personenauto’s en Motorrijwielen, or
BPM), excludes BPM for passenger cars without vehicle
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The valuation of the inventory of so called second-hand
‘margin’ cars purchased under the VAT margin scheme takes
account of the associated deferred VAT liability. This means
that the deferred VAT liability is deducted from the carrying
amount of the inventory of second-hand margin cars
purchased under the VAT margin scheme, taking into account
the sales margin included in the acquisition price.

Cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents
concern freely available credits at banks and cash in hand.
LIABILITIES
Provisions A provision is recognised if (i) Stern Groep N.V.
has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a
past event; (ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and (iii) a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. If Stern Groep
N.V. expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset only when
reimbursement is virtually certain, for instance as a result of
an insurance contract. The expense relating to any provision is
presented in the statement of income net of any
reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is
material, provisions are discounted at a rate before tax that
reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.
Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to
the passage of time is recognised as a financial expense.
Under IAS 19, a provision for future jubilees has to be
included. This provision is formed during the course of the
employment of an employee. The provision is included at
present value using the projected unit credit method, with
actuarial results being recognised directly in the statement of
income.
Pensions and other arrangements for severance
payments The pensions of virtually all the employees of
Stern Groep N.V. are placed with the Occupational Pension
Fund for the Metal and Technology Industry (Pensioenfonds
Metaal en Techniek, or PMT). This pension scheme qualifies
as a defined benefit pension scheme, in which the pension
benefit is based on the length of service and the average
salary of the employee during their service. The balance
of the assets and liabilities relating to the scheme must be
recognised in the statement of financial position as a

receivable or an obligation. The PMT has stated that it is not
able to provide the information to participating companies
that is required for defined benefit pension schemes under
IAS 19. There is moreover no contractual agreement between
the PMT and Stern Groep N.V. stating that shortfalls have to
be made up by Stern Groep N.V. For this reason, the scheme
is treated as a defined contribution scheme and the pension
contributions due over the financial year are recognised as
pension expense in the result. The employees who do not have
their pension scheme with the PMT have their pensions with
Nationale Nederlanden N.V. This pension scheme is a defined
contribution scheme.
Advance receipts from lease and warranty Advanced
receipts from lease and warranty relating to repairs,
maintenance and tyres concern payments received for
services to be rendered after the closing date in relation to
maintenance, repairs and the replacement of tyres. The part
of these advance receipts that relates to the next subsequent
financial year is recognised under current liabilities.

Income tax payable and netting of income tax This item
concerns income tax payable and net of income tax assets and
liabilities for current and prior years, carried at the amount
expected to be claimed from or paid to the Dutch Tax
Authorities. The tax amount is computed on the basis
of enacted tax rates and applicable tax law.
Deferred tax A provision is formed for deferred tax liabilities
based on the temporary differences at closing date between
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in these financial statements. Deferred tax assets are
recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused
tax facilities and unused tax loss carry forwards to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the deferred tax asset can be utilised, enabling the
deductible temporary differences, unused tax facilities and
unused tax loss carry forwards to be used.
The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is assessed at
the balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is not
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available against
which some or all of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are assessed at the closing
date and recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available in the future against which
the deferred tax asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are carried at amounts measured at the tax rates
expected to be applicable to the period in which the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on enacted tax rates
and applicable tax law. The tax on items recognised directly
in equity is accounted for directly in equity instead of in the

Trade and other payables and other liabilities Trade and
other payables and other liabilities are initially recognised in
the statement of financial position at fair value. They are
subsequently carried at amortised cost. Given their usually
short term to maturity, the fair value and amortised cost of
these items is generally more or less equal to their nominal
value.

Financial instruments
Financial assets Under IAS 39, financial instruments are
recognised as financial assets at fair value with changes in
value recognised in the statement of income as loans and
receivables, as investments held to maturity, or financial
assets available for sale. On initial recognition, financial assets
are measured at fair value. In the event that a financial asset is
not recognised at fair value with changes in value recognised
in the statement of income, the fair value is increased by the
directly attributable transaction costs. Other financial
instruments are recognised at cost.
Financial statements

Interest-bearing loans All loans are carried on initial
recognition at the fair value of the consideration received less
directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition,
interest-bearing loans are subsequently carried at amortised
cost calculated using the effective interest method. Gains and
losses are recognised in the result after tax once the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired.

statement of income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
presented as a net amount if there is a legally enforceable
right to set off deferred tax assets against deferred tax
liabilities and the deferred tax is related to the same taxable
entity and the same tax authority.

For a description of the subsequent measurement of financial
assets, see the accounting policies for the individual assets.
Stern Groep N.V. assesses at the time it becomes a party to
the contract whether the contract includes an embedded
derivative. A derivative embedded in a contract is separated
from the contract and is not measured at fair value (with
changes in value recognised in the statement of income) if
on the basis of the analysis of economic factors and risks the
embedded derivative is not intrinsically related to the contract.
Stern Groep N.V. determines the classification of its financial
assets after initial recognition and, if permitted and applicable,
a reassessment is made at the end of each financial year. All
regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the transaction date, being the date on which Stern Groep
N.V. enters into the obligation to purchase the asset. Regular
purchases and sales are purchases and sales of financial assets
for which assets have to be provided within a term that
generally is determined by regulations or usual practice in
the market.
Financial liabilities Stern Groep N.V. uses derivative
financial instruments (interest rate swaps) to hedge its interest
rate risk. On initial recognition, these financial instruments are
included at fair value as of the date on which the contract is
entered into and subsequently the fair value is recalculated
as of the closing date. Any gains or losses arising from changes
in the fair value of the derivatives that are not part of a
hedge relationship are recognised directly in the result.
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For a description of the subsequent measurement of financial
liabilities, see the accounting policies for the individual
liabilities.

Financial statements

Derivatives and hedge accounting Hedge accounting is
used to cover the risk of possible variability of cash flows in
connection with interest payments. Stern Groep N.V. formally
designates and documents the hedge relationship on
conclusion of a hedging transaction, as well as the purpose
and policy of Stern Groep N.V. with respect to the
management of financial risks when entering into the hedge
relationship. Cash flow hedges that comply with the strict
conditions for hedge accounting are recognised as follows:
The part of the gain or loss on the hedge instrument for which
it has been established that an effective hedge exists is
recognised taking account of the tax effect outside the
statement of income in other comprehensive income.
The non-effective part is recognised in the statement of
income. The amounts recognised in equity are transferred to
the statement of income in the same period in which the
hedged income or expense is recognised or the expected sale
or purchase is effected. Recognition is made under financial
income and expenses. If the expected transaction is
subsequently not expected to take place, the amounts that
were first included in equity are transferred to the result.
If the hedge instrument expires, is sold, terminated, exercised
(without replacement or roll-over) or if the classification as a
hedge is withdrawn, the amounts initially recognised in equity
remain in equity until the expected transaction is effected.
If the transaction in question is not expected to occur, the
amount is charged to the statement of income.

Principles for determination
of the result
Net revenue Net revenue includes the income from goods
and services supplied in the financial year (excluding BPM)
after deduction of discounts, payments for service costs and
excluding the value-added tax payable on revenue. Income
from the sale of goods is recognised in the statement of
income if all major rights to economic benefits as well as all
major risks with respect to these goods are transferred to
the purchaser. Income from services (car rental, car leasing,
financial products, fleet management, car body repair services
and the interiors for light commercial vehicles) is recognised
on the date the services are provided.
Income from car rental is recognised on a linear basis over
the rental period. Income from leasing is recognised on a linear
basis over the agreed lease period. For fleet management,
the income is recognised on a linear basis over the contract
term, taking account of historical statistical and projected
maintenance costs. In the case of car body repair services
and the interiors for light commercial vehicles, revenue is
recognised on the date the repaired car is delivered to the
customer.
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Income from the operation of fuel stations is recognised on
the date that the goods are supplied to third parties. In the
case of cars sold with a repurchase commitment, virtually
all risks and benefits are transferred to the purchaser.
The revenue is recognised on that date.
A presentation adjustment has been made with respect to net
revenue (note 4) compared to the previous year in order that
the information provided on the activities better reflects the
internal management. The comparative figures have been
adjusted to enable comparison.
Cost of sales Cost of sales consists of the costs directly
associated with the delivery of goods and services (excluding
BPM), other than employee expenses, interest expenses and
the depreciation expenses relating to the lease and hire
activities.
Other income Other income is recognised in the statement
of income as soon as the services in question are provided or
the rights to the economic benefits and all major risks in
relation to the non-current assets are transferred to the
purchaser. The commission income for the financing of cars is
recognised on the date that the loan is provided by the credit
provider. Regarding the insurance activities, the commission
income is recognised on the date that the premium is paid
by the end customer. Income from sales of subsidiaries or
interests in subsidiaries is recognised when the ownership
is transferred.
Sale and leaseback For sale and leaseback transactions that
qualify as operating leases, meaning that all major risks and
benefits of ownership are transferred to the purchaser, the
difference between the carrying amount and the sale price
of the asset is recognised directly in the statement of income
under other income.
Result from participating interests The share in the result
of non-consolidated participating interests attributable to
Stern Groep N.V. is recognised under result from participating
interests. This result is determined on the basis of the
principles applied by Stern Groep N.V. for valuation and result
determination. The result from participating interests also
includes the difference between the proceeds realised from
the sale of a participating interest and the carrying amount at
the time of the sale.
Income taxes Income taxes consists of current and deferred
tax. Current tax concerns the expected tax payable on the
taxable profit in the financial year on the basis of prevailing
tax rates.

Principles for the preparation of the
consolidated statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flow is prepared using the indirect
method. Receipts and payments arising from interest and
corporate income tax and dividends received from nonconsolidated participating interests are included under cash
flow from operating activities. Dividends paid are recognised
under cash flow from financing activities. The price paid to

acquire participating interests is recognised under cash flow
from investment activities. The repayment of long-term loans
concerns the net position resulting from the transfer of the
revolving facilities. Transactions not involving an exchange
of cash are not included in the statement of cash flow.

Changes to IFRS
The following standards and changes to existing standards
came into effect at the beginning of the 2015 financial year:
• The annual improvement cycle 2011-2013 concerns a
collection of minor changes to IFRS 1 First-time adoption
of IFRS, IFRS 3 Business combinations, IFRS 13 Fair value
measurement and IAS 40 Investment property. Effective
as of 1 January 2015.
None of the above standards and changes have a material
effect on the consolidated financial statements of Stern
Group.

Recent publications (IFRS)

The following standards and interpretations were issued on
the date of publication of the financial statements of Stern
Group but have not yet come into effect for entities applying
EU-IFRS:
New standards
• IFRS 9 Financial instruments is the new standard for
financial instruments that will replace IAS 39 Financial
instruments in due course. Effective as of 1 January 2018.
• IFRS 14 Regulatory deferral accounts in connection with
price regulation is intended to provide a temporary solution
for rate regulated activities. This standard applies only to
companies applying IFRS for the first time and includes an
option to continue the local GAAP principle under IFRS as
well. Effective as of 1 January 2016.
• IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers is the new
standard for revenue recognition. Effective as of 1 January
2018.
• IFRS 16 Leases is the new standard for leases and replaces
the current IAS 17 Leases. The most important change is
that this new standard prescribes the lessees recognise a
user right and a lease obligation for most lease contracts
in their statement of financial position. Effective as of
1 January 2019.

Annual improvements and changes
The changes concerned are as follows:
• The annual improvements cycle 2010-2012 concerns a
collection of minor changes with respect to IFRS 2 Sharebased payments, IFRS 3 Business combinations, IFRS 8
Operating segments, IFRS 13 Fair value measurement,
IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment, IAS 38 Intangible
assets and IAS 24 Related parties. Effective as of 1 February
2015. The annual improvements cycle 2012-2014 concerns
a collection of minor changes with respect to IFRS 5
Non-current assets held for sale, IFRS 7 Financial
instruments: Disclosures, IAS 19 Employee benefits and
IAS 34 Interim financial reporting. Effective as of
1 January 2016.
• Changes to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 with respect to
the application of consolidation exemption. Effective
as of 1 January 2016.
• Changes to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 with respect to the sale
or receipt of assets between the investor and the associate
or joint venture.
• Changes to IFRS 11 Joint arrangements with respect to the
recognition of acquisitions of participating interests in joint
arrangements. Effective as of 1 January 2016.
• Changes to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements with
respect to initiative in relation to provision of information.
Effective as of 1 January 2016.
• Changes to IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment and
IAS 41 Agriculture with respect to the extension of the
scope of IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment to include
bearer plants. Effective as of 1 January 2016.
• Changes to IAS 16 Property, plant and equipment and
IAS 38 Intangible assets with respect to depreciation and
amortisation methods. Effective as of 1 January 2016.
• Changes to IAS 19 Employee benefits with respect to
employer contributions. Effective as of 1 February 2015.
• Changes to IAS 27 Company only financial statements with
respect to application of the equity method. Effective
as of 1 January 2016.
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The IASB regularly publishes new accounting standards,
changes to existing standards and interpretations. These new
accounting standards, changes to existing standards and
interpretations subsequently have to be adopted by the
European Union. Stern Groep N.V. does not expect that, apart
from IFRS 16 Leases, the application of these new standards,
changes to standards and interpretations will have any
material effect on the financial statements of Stern Groep N.V.
in future years.

IFRS 16 Leases is expected to have a material effect on the
consolidated statement of financial position of Stern Group
with effect from 1 January 2019. The right of use for leased
business premises and other operating assets will be
recognised in the statement of financial position along with
the present value of the lease obligation, the net effect of
which will be a higher balance sheet total and lower solvency.
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2 Segment reporting
The segments within Stern Groep N.V. are distinguished according to the different products and services they
provide. The segments are separately organised and managed according to the nature of their products and
services, whereby each segment represents a strategic business unit that supplies different products and serves
different markets. This classification corresponds to the internal reporting structure of Stern Groep N.V. Stern
generates all its revenue in the Netherlands.
Internal settlement prices between the operating segments are set on a commercial basis in a manner that is
similar to that used for transactions with third parties. The revenue per segment also consists of the mutual
transactions between the operating segments that are eliminated on consolidation.
The segments Dealergroup Stern, Stern Financial Services and Stern Mobility Services have already been
described earlier in these financial statements (see note 1). The Other segment concerns the Holdings. SternRent
is recognised for the first time under the Stern Mobility Services segment (previously under Stern Financial
Services). This change brings the segmental analysis better into line with the changed organisational structure
and internal reporting lines at Stern Group. The comparative figures have been adjusted to enable comparison.

2015 financial year

Statement of financial position
Total assets according to the
statement of financial position
Total associates
Financial statements

Total liabilities according to the
statement of financial position
Investments in property,
plant and equipment
Statement of income
Net revenue
Revenue to segments

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible
assets
Operating profit/ (loss)
Result from associates
Financial income and expenses
Profit/ (loss) before tax
Income taxes
Profit/ (loss) after tax
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Dealer
Group
Stern

Stern
Financial
Services

Stern
Mobility
Services

Other

Eliminations

Total

267,470

195,670

50,944

71,611

–

585,695

–

956

–

–

–

956

178,212

161,925

41,708

53,071

–

434,916

3,672

95,058

23,782

3,949

–

126,461

955,130
89,663
1,044,793

80,297
14,885
95,182

58,633
25,450
84,083

1,121
–
1,121

(3,388)

(29,229)

(8,483)

(6,482)

–

(47,582)

(160)

–

(160)

(2,941)

–

–

–

15,251

8,445

–
(1,946)

–
129,998
(129,998)

1,095,181
–
1,095,181

18,809
195
(4,570)
14,434
(3,367)
11,067

2014 financial year

Statement of financial position
Total assets according to the
statement of financial position

Dealer
Group
Stern

Stern
Financial
Services

Stern
Mobility
Services

Other

Eliminations

Total

232,862

156,840

48,338

129,567

–

567,607

–

674

–

–

–

674

158,699

111,695

39,663

116,981

–

427,038

3,455

56,770

29,341

3,357

–

92,923

772,502
71,885
844,387

72,116
12,948
85,064

52,387
20,505
72,892

1,294
–
1,294

(3,263)

(26,085)

(8,364)

(6,158)

Total associates
Total liabilities according to the
statement of financial position
Investments in property,
plant and equipment
Income statement
Net revenue
Revenue to segments

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

–

–

Amortisation of intangible
assets

–

–

234

8,453

Operating profit

(1,027)

–
(2,570)

898,299
–
898,299

–

(43,870)

–

(1,027)

(274)

–

(274)

(2,367)

–

3,750

–

Result from associates
Financial income and expenses
Profit/ (loss) before tax
Income taxes
Profit/ (loss) after tax

Financial statements

Impairment of goodwill/
write-down of purchase price

–
(105,338)
(105,338)

213
(4,236)
(273)
3,895
3,622

3 Business combinations and divestments
The following activities were acquired in 2015:
Number of locations
Lakeman (Škoda), Purmerend

Acquired on 1-7-2015

1
1
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Acquisitions in 2015 The fair values as at the acquisition dates of the assets and liabilities of activities acquired
in 2015 are as follows:
Fair value recognised
on acquisition
Property, plant and equipment
Inventory
Receivables
Current liabilities
Net identified assets and liabilities
Goodwill
Acquisition price
Less: cash and cash equivalents obtained
Net cash flow

100
399
(10)
(4)
485
480
(965)
–
(965)

Goodwill was paid for the acquisition effected in 2015 since the management is of the opinion that the company
acquired will realise returns in the future that financially justify the payment of goodwill.
The result before tax of the activity acquired is, from the date of acquisition in 2015, € 104,000 and the revenue
amounts to € 2.2 million.
The following activities were acquired in 2014:
Number of locations
Financial statements

Wander Groningen (Opel/Kia)
Wander Assen (Opel/Kia)
Koops Utrecht (Fiat/Nissan)
Koops Amersfoort (Fiat/Nissan)
Blankespoor The Hague (Jaguar)
Mango Mobility (e-Mobility)

Acquired on 30-1-2014
Acquired on 30-1-2014
Acquired on 5-11-2014
Acquired on 5-11-2014
Acquired on 1-10-2014
Acquired on 23-12-2014

1
1
1
1
1
9
14

Acquisitions in 2014 The fair values as at the acquisition dates of the assets and liabilities of activities acquired
are as follows:
Fair value recognised
on acquisition
Property, plant and equipment
Inventory
Receivables
Current liabilities
Net identified assets and liabilities
Goodwill / write-down of purchase price
Badwill
Acquisition price
Less: cash and cash equivalents obtained
Net cash flow
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1,466
16,384
728
(3,352)
15,226
1,084
(1,414)
(14,896)
–
(14,896)

Badwill was recognised in relation to four acquisitions, partly due to the fact that the assets and liabilities
acquired in these transactions originated from bankruptcies. The prices paid to the receiver were lower than the
fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired. In the acquisition of the Koops Furness locations, part of the assets
(cars) were received from the importer and not from the receiver. Since this transaction with the importer was
contractually linked to the receiver, this is treated as one PPA in the financial statements.
The result before tax of the activities acquired from the date of acquisition in 2014 was € 136,000 negative.
The result before tax and the revenue of the activities acquired for the whole of 2014 are not known.

4 Net sales
New passenger cars
New light commercial vehicles
Used passenger cars and light commercial vehicles
Workshops
Warehouse
Revenue Dealergroup Stern

2014

522,918
123,917
264,937
80,420
104,933

384,981
97,509
236,649
76,755
95,507

1,097,125

891,401

23,705
2,972
9,908
7,641
95,524
40,453
1,121

21,683
1,854
11,281
0
85,326
38,650
1,294

Revenue before elimination of inter-company
and internal revenue
Elimination of internal revenue

1,278,449
(53,270)

1,051,489
(47,852)

Revenue before elimination of inter-company revenue

1,225,179

1,003,637

Elimination of inter-company revenue
Net revenue

(129,998)

Financial statements

Car body repair services
Light commercial vehicle interiors
Universal garage activities
E-Mobility
Leasing
Car rental income
Other revenue

2015

(105,338)

1,095,181

898,299

2015

2014

5 Cost of sales
Costs of trade goods and related
Costs of work outsourced to third parties
Interest expenses for financing of lease and rental of cars
Depreciation expenses for lease and rental of cars

(859,173)
(5,531)
(5,184)
(37,064)

(688,856)
(5,023)
(4,766)
(33,921)

Cost of sales

(906,952)

(732,566)
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6 Other income
Other income includes receipts of rent from third parties, dividend received and the revaluation of the interest in
Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. In 2014 this item also includes the badwill relating to acquisitions, for which see
note 3: Business combinations and divestments. In 2015 this item includes the book gain of € 2.0 million on the
sale of 10 strategic premises. These premises have been leased back for a term of 17 years (sale and leaseback).

7. Employee expenses
2015
Salaries
Social security contributions
Pension costs
Restructuring costs
Other employee expenses
Total

2014

(79,470)
(12,567)
(8,493)
(1,364)
(8,819)

(76,481)
(12,844)
(7,665)
(2,637)
(7,365)

(110,713)

(106,992)

Other employee expenses include the hiring of temporary personnel and car costs.

Financial statements

Dealergroup Stern
Stern Financial Services
Stern Mobility Services
Other

Number

2015
in FTE

Number

2014
in FTE

1,694
47
375
61

1,528
45
350
56

1,652
45
372
64

1,500
43
348
59

2,177

1,979

2,133

1,950

In these financial statements, the FTEs of SternRent are recognised for the first time under the Stern Mobility
Services segment (previously recognised under Stern Financial Services), see note 2: Segmentation.
The comparative figures have been adjusted to enable comparison.
Share-based payments The General Meeting of 18 May 2010 approved the Stern Share-based compensation
Plan 2010 for a term of five years and including three tranches. The costs of these share-based transactions,
including changes in the fair value of the obligations, are recognised in the period in which the conditions for
performance and/or service provision are met. The results from share-based payments to be settled in equity
instruments in 2015 were nil (2014: € 333,000), since the Stern Shares Plan was fully settled in 2014. These costs
are recognised under Other employee expenses.

8 Other operating expenses
2015

104

2014

General expenses
ICT costs
Restructuring costs
Accommodation costs
Selling expenses

(20,464)
(3,363)
–
(24,580)
(6,207)

(19,222)
(3,348)
(393)
(21,414)
(5,111)

Total

(54,614)

(49,488)
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The auditor’s fee is recognised under General expenses. The auditor’s fee is as follows:
2015
Audit of the financial statements

(492)

2014
(448)

These expenses concern the expenses estimated for the financial year. The additional work for the audit for 2014
is recognised in 2015.

9 Result from associates
2015

2014

195

213

2015

2014

Interest expense on interest-bearing loans
Changes in interest rate swaps designated as ineffective

(4,570)
–

(4,256)
20

Total

(4,570)

(4,236)

2015

2014

Profit/ (loss) before tax
Plus: Amortisation of goodwill/ write-down of purchase price
Less: Result from investments
Deductible costs subject to limitation

14,434
–
(760)
354

(273)
1,027
(1,656)
–

Taxable amount

14,028

(902)

Income taxes in result
Adjustment to previous years
Environmental investment allowance
Tax income (expense) relating to measurement of deferred tax
asset from forward carry-over loss

(3,507)
(117)
257

226
–
–

Tax according to the consolidated statement of income

(3,367)

Share in results

10 Financial income and expenses

Financial statements

11 Income taxes

Effective tax rate (in % of the result before tax)
Standard tax rate

–

23%
25%

3,669
3,895
1,427%
25%
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The presentation of the deferred tax assets is based on the development of each relevant item in the financial
statements as follows. The development of the deferred tax assets is as follows:
Intangible
non-current
assets
Balance at 1 January 2014

Property,
plant and
equipment

Provision
Tax losses
and available for
liabilities compensation

(82)

(2,300)

1,936

Income taxes in result
Other changes

–
20,000

–
2,882

Movements in 2014
financial year

20,000

Balance at 31 December 2014

Total

24,720

24,274

–
37

3,895
(22,444)

3,895
475

2,882

37

(18,549)

4,370

19,918

582

1,973

6,171

28,644

Income taxes in result
Other changes

(851)
–

–
–

131
285

(2,647)
–

(3,367)
285

Movements in 2015
financial year

(851)

–

416

(2,647)

(3,082)

582

2,389

Balance at 31 December 2015

19,067

3,524

25,562

Financial statements

The shares in SternLease B.V. were transferred to the newly incorporated Stern Leasing N.V. by Stern Financial
Services B.V. on 31 December 2015. As of this date, a tax group for corporate income tax was formed in addition
to the existing tax group for Stern Groep N.V. in which the other companies are included.
In the tax group for the leasing activities, there is a difference between the goodwill for tax purposes and the
commercial goodwill. At year-end 2015, this difference amounted to € 76.3 million. Deferred tax is recognised for
this temporary difference at 25%, and the deferred tax at year-end 2015 amounted to € 19.1 million. Agreements
have been made with the Dutch Tax Authorities regarding the realisation of this difference, the amortisation of
goodwill for tax purposes. These agreements are established in an advanced tax ruling. The most important
agreement is that the amortisation for tax purposes will be capped if the minimum results to be realised for tax
purposes agreed with the Dutch Tax Authorities are not realised. The part not amortised will then be moved to
the subsequent year. Projections for the taxable income from the operations of Stern Leasing N.V. show that
recognition of this deferred tax for a term of 19 years on the basis of IAS 12 is justified.
The total tax loss carry forward balance as at 31 December 2015 amounts to € 14.2 million (2014: € 24.6 million).
This balance is fully recognised in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015. The corresponding
deferred tax asset amounts to € 3.5 million. The aforementioned takes into account the expected results for tax
purposes in the next seven years. No tax planning is expected to be required for the realisation of the tax loss
carry forward balance.
An amount of approximately € 2.2 million is considered as short term (2014: € 1.1 million) with respect to
the deferred tax asset recognised at year-end 2015 related to the tax loss carry forward balance. Next to
the possibility of realization of tax losses through future taxable income the company has temporary
differences between commercial valuations and valuations for tax purposes of assets and liabilities amounting
to € 11.9 million negative (2014: € 9.8 million negative).
€ 3.0 million of these differences were valued and recognised (after netting off) at year-end 2015, as part of
the deferred tax asset (year-end 2014: € 2.5 million).
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12 Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the result after tax attributable to the shareholders in Stern Groep
N.V. by the weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the result after tax attributable to the shareholders in Stern
Groep N.V. by the sum of the weighted average number of outstanding shares during the year and the weighted
average number of potential shares that could lead to dilution.
The data relating to the result and shares used in the calculation of the ordinary and diluted earnings per share
are presented in the following overview:
2015

2014

Profit/ (loss) after tax attributable to shareholders
in Stern Groep N.V.

11,067

3,622

Weighted average number of outstanding shares

5,673,560

5,659,809

Weighted average number of outstanding shares
given full dilution

5,673,560

5,659,809

Basic earnings per share

€ 1.95

€ 0.64

Diluted earnings per share

€ 1.95

€ 0.64

Goodwill

Licences

Total

Acquisition cost
Balance at 31 December 2013
Acquisition
Balance at 31 December 2014

34,660
1,084
35,744

1,753
–
1,753

36,413
1,084
37,497

Acquisition
Divestments
Balance at 31 December 2015

360
–
36,104

–
(399)
1,354

360
(399)
37,458

Cumulative amortisation
Balance at 31 December 2013
Impairment
Amortisation
Balance at 31 December 2014
Amortisation
Divestments
Balance at 31 December 2015

5,583
1,027
–
6,610
–
–
6,610

547
–
274
821
160
(203)
778

6,130
1,027
274
7,431
160
(203)
7,388

Carrying amount at 31 December 2015

29,494

576

30,070

Carrying amount at 31 December 2014

29,134

932

30,066
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13 Intangible assets
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Goodwill impairment test
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired as a result of business combinations is allocated to the
individual cash-generating units (which are also reporting segments) as follows:
• the cash-generating unit Dealergroup Stern;
• the cash-generating unit Stern Financial Services;
• the cash-generating unit Stern Mobility Services.
With effect from 2015, the activities of SternRent B.V. are recognised under the segment Stern Mobility Services
(previously recognised under Stern Financial Services). This adjustment has not led to a change in the allocation
of goodwill to the segments Stern Mobility Services and Stern Financial Services.
Cash-generating unit Dealergroup Stern
The recoverable amount of the unit Dealergroup Stern is determined on the basis of a value in use calculated
using cash-flow projections based on the 5-year financial forecasts approved by the Management Board. Over
this term, account is taken of average growth in revenue of 0.8%. The weighted average cost of capital (WACC)
applied to the cash-flow projections is 6.5% after tax (2014: 7.0% after tax). The cash flows after the 5-year term
are extrapolated without taking account of growth.
Cash-generating unit Stern Financial Services
The recoverable amount of the unit Stern Financial Services is determined on the basis of a value in use
calculated on the basis of future distributable dividends, assuming a normative solvency of 12.5% and the 5-year
financial forecasts approved by the Management Board. The weighted average cost of capital applied to the
distributable dividends is 11.6% (2014: 11.9%). The distributable dividends after the 5-year term are extrapolated
with taking account of growth.

Financial statements

Cash-generating unit Stern Mobility Services
The impairment test for the segment Stern Mobility Services led to the complete write-off of the goodwill in
2014 due to onerous operations.
With effect from 2015, SternRent is recognised under the segment Stern Mobility Services (previously recognised
under Stern Financial Services). On the basis of the requirements of IFRS (IAS 36-87), the Management Board
has assessed whether as a result of this change part of the goodwill of the cash-generating unit Stern Financial
Services should be transferred to the cash-generating unit Stern Mobility Services. As a result of this assessment,
all the goodwill has been allocated to Stern Financial Services.
The allocation of the carrying amounts of goodwill and the other intangible assets to the cash-generating units is
as follows:
Dealergroup Stern

Carrying amount of goodwill
Carrying amount of licences

Stern Financical
Services

Other

Total

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

19,344
–

18,984
–

10,150
–

10,150
–

–
576

–
932

29,494
576

29,134
932

The difference between the value in use and the carrying value of the cash-generating unit Dealergroup Stern at
year-end 2015 was € 33.2 million (2014: € 27.2 million), for the cash-generating unit Stern Financial Services this
difference was € 16.5 million (2014: € 14.8 million).
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The impairment test shows that significant changes to the assumptions used for the segments Dealergroup
Stern and Stern Financial Services will not lead to an impairment of the goodwill. The headroom at the segment
Dealergroup Stern would be nil with a WACC of 7.92% (currently calculated at 6.45%). The headroom at the
segment Dealergroup Stern would be nil with a decline in annual revenue from sales of 4.8% (currently
calculated at annual growth of 0.8%). The headroom at the segment Dealergroup Stern would be nil with a
decline in annual revenue from after-sales of 2.8% (currently calculated at an annual decline of 0.2%). If national
sales in the coming years remain at 400,000 vehicles, the headroom at the segment Dealergroup Stern would
decline to € 10.2 million.
For the segment Stern Financial Services, the headroom would be nil given a weighted average cost of capital on
distributable dividends of 17.4% (currently calculated at 11.6%).
Key assumptions for the calculation of the value in use of the cash-generating units Dealergroup Stern and
Stern Financial Services The following describes the key assumptions used in the cash-flow projections
specified by the Management Board for the assessment of potential or necessary impairment of goodwill.
Estimated gross margins The estimated gross margins are based on the average gross margins realised in the
year directly preceding the estimation year.
Inflation of other operating expenses The determination of inflation of other operating expenses is based on
forecasts for price index figures during the estimation year. The values of these key assumptions are consistent
with external information sources.
Fuel licences The economic life of the fuel licences was assessed as at 31 December 2015 and it was established
that the values can be maintained. The remaining term of amortisation of the fuel licences with a limited life is up
to 10 years.
Financial statements
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14 Property, plant and equipment
Machinery
Land and
and
buildings equipment

Other
assets

Assets
under
construc
tion

301
–
709
–
–

Cars
Total
for lease property,
and rental plant and
Sub-total activities equipment

Financial statements

Acquisition cost
Balance at 31 December 2013
Addition due to acquisition
Investments/in use
Disposals
Reclassification

133,021
–
1,818
(54)
(1,634)

23,449
304
1,197
(41)
–

19,301
1,162
2,586
(1,706)
–

Balance at 31 December 2014

133,151

24,909

21,343

Addition due to acquisition
Investments/in use
Disposals

–
915
(64,696)

33
1,851
(5,910)

67
3,494
(1,209)

Balance at 31 December 2015

69,370

20,883

Cumulative depreciation
Balance at 31 December 2013
Depreciation
Disposals
Reclassification

23,139
4,146
(45)
(639)

13,496
2,180
(27)
–

4,949
3,102
(1,343)
–

–
–
–
–

41,584
9,428
(1,415)
(639)

23,292
34,442
(29,349)
–

64,876
43,870
(30,764)
(639)

Balance at 31 December 2014

26,601

15,649

6,708

–

48,958

28,385

77,343

Depreciation
Disposals

4,187
(13,052)

2,007
(2,569)

3,787
(794)

–
–

9,981
(16,415)

37,490
(32,945)

47,471
(49,360)

Balance at 31 December 2015

17,736

15,087

9,701

–

42,524

32,930

75,454

Carrying amount at 31 December 2015

51,634

5,796

13,994

1,174

72,598

196,666

269,264

106,550

9,260

14,635

1,010

131,455

154,481

285,936

5–20

3–10

Carrying amount at 31 December 2014
Estimated economic life in years

20–30 *

23,695

176,072
1,466
6,310
(1,801)
(1,634)

159,871
–
86,613
(63,618)
–

335,943
1,466
92,923
(65,419)
(1,634)

1,010

180,413

182,866

363,279

–
164
–

100
6,424
(71,815)

–
120,037
(73,307)

100
126,461
(145,122)

229,596

344,718

1,174

115,122

* No depreciation is applied to land in ownership.

Stern Group sold and leased back ten premises in November 2015. This transaction generated proceeds of
€ 57.2 million and a book gain of € 2.0 million. The book gain is recognised under Other income. The lease
agreements are agreed on an at arm’s length basis and have a term of 17 years. For the future lease obligations,
see note 32: Contingent events and liabilities.
Depreciation of lease and rental cars is recognised under Cost of sales. Lease and rental cars are passenger cars
and light commercial vehicles provided under operating lease and hire contracts. The majority of the lease
contracts have a term of up to 48 months.
The minimum contractual lease receipts amount to:
• for the coming year € 56.2 million (2014: € 47.4 million);
• for 2017 to year-end 2020 € 92.5 million (2014: € 67.1 million);
• after 2020 € 0.5 million (2014 : € 0.3 million).
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15 Investment property
2015

2014

Balance as at 1 January
Plus: Transferred from property, plant and equipment
Less: Carrying amount of premises sold
Depreciation

2,777
–
–
(111)

4,453
995
(2,556)
(115)

Balance at 31 December

2,666

2,777

Investment property is immovable property held for the purpose of realising rental income or capital
appreciation or both. The estimated economic life is 30 years, taking account of a residual value. The rental
income received in 2015 amounted to € 237,000 (2014: € 394,000).

16 Investments in associates
The reporting dates and the accounting policies for the associates are the same as those used by Stern Groep
N.V. SternPartners B.V. (100% subsidiary of Stern Groep N.V.) is engaged in fleet management and together with
third parties participates in a number of cooperative associations with liability limited to the amount invested.
The interests of SternPartners B.V. vary and are recognised under Associates.
SternPartners B.V. held the following interests at year-end 2015, all of which are located in Purmerend:

Coöperatieve Contractpartners I U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners VIII U.A.
Coöperatie Ballast Nedam Infra Materieel Lease U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners V U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners XIV U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners XXV U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners XXXII U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners XXXIV U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners XLII U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners LI U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners LIII U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners LIV U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners LVII U.A.
Coöperatieve Vereniging Internal Fleet Service U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners XIX U.A.
Coöperatieve Contractpartners XLV U.A.

Share in Stern Groep N.V.
2015
2014
45%
45%
45%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%

Financial statements

Cooperative

45%
45%
45%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
20%
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The following table shows the combined financial details of the interests of Stern Groep N.V. in all its associates.

Share in the assets of associates
Non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Equity (and carrying amount of the investment)
at 31 December

2015

2014

2,975
654
(341)
(2,332)

3,480
720
(341)
(3,185)

956

674

2,092
195

2,454
213

2015

2014

Interests of SternPartners B.V. (less than 20%)
Interest in Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. (5.03%)
Other

178
11,126
149

262
10,732
167

Total

11,453

11,161

Share in the revenue and result of associates
Revenue
Result

17 Other financial assets

Financial statements

The interest in Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. is measured on the basis of a valuation of Bovemij
Verzekeringsgroep N.V. carried out by PwC Consulting. This valuation was based on an unweighted average of
the value based on a dividend discount method (DDM) and a price/earnings multiple method based on European
listed companies considered to be comparable. Since these methods are based on liquid shares in large listed
companies, a discount of 20% has been applied to reflect the limited tradability of the depositary receipts for
shares.

18 Inventory
2015

2014

New passenger cars and light commercial vehicles
Used passenger cars and light commercial vehicles
Parts
Other

126,235
48,612
11,041
3,162

115,439
41,886
11,295
2,044

Total

189,050

170,664

The provision for inventory at year-end 2015 amounted to € 4.5 million (2014: € 4.6 million). The provision for
inventory declined by a net € 0.1 million in 2015 (2014: € 0.1 million). This change is recognised under Cost of
sales.
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19 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are not interest-bearing and are generally subject to a payment term of 30 days. Payments not
made within this period are considered to be overdue. The analysis of trade receivables overdue but not subject
to impairment as at year end is as follows:
Age of trade receivables
Not
overdue

< 30

31-60

Days
61-90
91-180

31 December 2015

39,325

8,070

1,400

333

31 December 2014

22,804

7,280

1,569

276

181-365

> 365

Carrying
amount

104

16

157

49,405

191

103

196

32,419

A provision is recognized for the full amount of trade receivables for which collection is doubtful, excluding
value-added tax. This applies also to receivables for which collection agencies have been engaged.
Movement in provision for trade receivables

Balance as at 1 January
Contribution charged to statement of income
Release to statement of income
Withdrawal/use in financial year

2014

949
375
(10)
(270)

1,276
527
(272)
(582)

1,044

Financial statements

Balance at 31 December

2015

949

20 Other receivables
The items included within Other receivables have a term to maturity of up to one year. The Other receivables also
include prepayments and accrued income.

21 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are entirely at the disposal of Stern Groep N.V. and concern cash in hand and at banks.
Interest is paid on credit balances at banks at variable rates based on daily interest rates.

22 Equity
Issued capital The company’s authorised share capital stands at € 900,000, divided into 9,000,000 ordinary
shares with a nominal value of € 0.10. The issued capital amounts to € 592,500 (2014: € 592,500) and consists
of 5,925,000 shares (2014: 5,925,000 shares). No changes occurred during the year.
Share premium reserve This reserve changes if shares are issued at an issue price higher than the nominal
value. Dividend distributed in shares is also charged to this reserve.
Revaluation reserve The revaluation reserve consists of the unrealised part of the revaluation of financial
assets to fair value (balance at year-end 2015: € 3.2 million and at year-end 2014: € 2.8 million) and a cash flow
hedge reserve. The cash flow hedge reserve amounted to € 1.2 million negative at year-end 2015 (year-end 2014:
€ 1.7 million negative) and consists of the effective part of the cumulative changes to the net value of the
financial instruments to which cash flow hedge accounting is applied. The legal reserve for these two items
amounted to € 3.2 million at year-end 2015 (year-end 2014: € 2.8 million).
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Other reserves The shares in the company temporarily repurchased by Stern Groep N.V. are deducted from
the other reserves. At year-end 2015, Stern Groep N.V. held 250,000 of its own shares (year-end 2014:
255,260 shares).

23 Interest-bearing loans

Current
Mortgage loans
Credit institutions
Financing of used passenger cars
Financing of rental fleet
Other financing

Effective
Interest rate

Maturity
date

2.51%
2.20%
1.34%
1.89%

2016
2016
2016
2016

Total 31 December
Non-current
Mortgage loans
Credit institutions
Financing of lease cars
Total 31 December

2.51%

2017/2029

2.30%

2017

2015

2014

1,849
68,112
50,597
30,525
–

3,053
–
45,225
29,807
75

151,083

78,160

15,458
–
129,915

38,115
70,274
106,009

145,373

214,398

Financial statements

Mortgage loans The mortgage loans recognised under interest-bearing loans have a weighted average
interest rate of 2.51% (2014: 2.00%). These loans are secured by mortgages on business premises with a carrying
amount of € 31.2 million (2014: € 81.9 million). A sum of € 13.9 million has an interest rate based on 1- to 3-month
Euribor (2014: € 37.1 million). Of the balance at year-end 2015, € 0.9 million had a term to maturity of more than
five years (2014: € 6 million).
Financing of used passenger cars A credit facility is provided by a finance company affiliated to a car
manufacturer for the financing of used passenger cars in an amount of € 52.5 million (2014: € 58.0 million), of
which € 50.6 million was drawn down at year-end 2015 (2014: € 45.2 million). A pledge is provided for this facility
on the used passenger cars and light commercial vehicles financed. The interest rate is 1-month Euribor plus a
spread. The credit limit is reviewed each year in June, and the facility is therefore expected to be extended again
in June 2016.
Financing of rental fleet A credit facility is provided by a finance company affiliated to a car manufacturer
for the financing of the rental fleet of SternRent in an amount of € 34.0 million (2014: € 35.0 million), of which
€ 30.5 million was drawn down at year-end 2015 (2014: € 29.8 million). A pledge is provided for these facilities on
the rental cars financed. The interest rate is 1-month Euribor plus a spread. The credit limit is reviewed each year
in June, and the facility is therefore expected to be extended again in June 2016.
Credit institutions and financing of lease cars At year-end 2015, Stern Groep N.V. had credit facilities with
credit institutions for an amount of € 75 million for retail activities (2014: € 85 million), of which € 68.1 million was
drawn down at year-end 2015 (2014: € 70.3 million). This facility was reduced to € 70 million on 29 February 2016.
This facility is secured by a pledge on the trade receivables, the inventory of new passenger cars and light
commercial vehicles paid for and the business inventory. The facility runs until 30 June 2016 and the interest rate
is 3-month Euribor plus a spread.

114

Stern Annual Report 2015

At year-end 2015, Stern Groep N.V. had financing facilities with credit institutions for its leasing operations for
an amount of € 130 million (2014: € 115 million), of which € 129.9 million was drawn down at year-end 2015
(year-end 2014: € 106.0 million). This facility is secured by a pledge on the entire car lease portfolio and the rights
associated with the concluded lease contracts, to the extent that this has not been provided to other banks.
The facility runs until 30 June 2017 and the interest rate is 3-month Euribor plus a spread.
Bank covenants Regarding the facilities with credit institutions (the facilities of € 75 million and the
€ 130 million), agreements have been made with respect to minimum ratios to be achieved. The agreed ratios
relate to the minimum capital base, the minimum solvency and the interest coverage ratio (ICR).
The capital base is calculated as the total equity less goodwill and should be € 100 million at a minimum.
The capital base at 31 December 2015 was € 121.3 million (2014: € 111.4 million).
Solvency is calculated on the basis of adjusted equity (excluding goodwill). The bank covenants state a standard
solvency ratio of 12.5% for the leasing operations, a standard solvency ratio of 20% for the rental operations and
a minimum solvency ratio of 25% for the remaining activities.
The solvency ratio for the leasing operations at 31 December 2015 was 12.5% and 20% for the rental operations.
The solvency ratio for the other activities were 27.6% (the minimum is 25%).
The bank covenants stipulate a minimum ICR of 2.75 at 31 December 2015 and 3.00 at 30 June 2016. This
concerns a 12-month ICR that is calculated quarterly on the basis of EBITDA and the net interest expenses over
the past 12 months. Up to € 2.5 million of restructuring expenses on a 12-months basis may be excluded from
the calculation of the ICR. Stern expects to continue to be able to operate within its covenants during the current
year. Meeting the covenants, also as at mid-2016, depends partly on realising EBITDA in line with the 2016
budget and the size of the working capital.
Financial statements

The ICR is the result of EBITDA divided by net interest expenses, with up to € 2.5 million of restructuring
expenses on a 12-months basis allowed to be excluded from this calculation. The ICR at year-end 2015 was 3.67
(minimum 2.75).
If the ratios stated in the bank covenants are breached, account has to be taken of an additional interest spread
of 150 basis points, and in such case the credit institutions also have the option of revising the conditions
included in the agreed upon covenants. If the company fails to operate within the covenants, the facilities may in
principle be payable on demand. The Management Board actively monitors that the company operates within
the covenants.
Conditions are set by the credit institutions with respect to the distribution of dividend. Until 31 March 2016,
no dividend may be distributed (apart from up to € 1.5 million of interim dividend in 2015) and the dividend
payments may not exceed 40% of the net profit in the financial year.
Stern Groep N.V. operated within the agreed upon ratios during 2015.
The table below provides an overview of the maturity dates of the financial obligations of Stern Groep N.V. at
31 December 2015 on the basis of contractual and not discounted payments of interest and repayments, without
taking into account hedge transactions entered into (see note 31).
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Balance at 31 December 2015
Mortgage loans
Financing of used passenger cars
Financing of rental fleet
Credit institutions
Financing of lease cars
Derivatives

Balance at 31 December 2014
Mortgage loans
Financing of used passenger cars
Financing of rental fleet
Credit institutions
Financing of lease cars
Derivatives
Other financing

Carrying
amount
year-end

within
12 months

1 to
5 years

> 5 years

17,307
50,597
30,525
68,112
129,915
1,714

2,260
50,936
30,813
68,861
2,988
860

15,330
–
–
–
131,409
854

986
–
–
–
–
–

298,170

156,718

147,593

986

41,168
45,225
29,807
70,274
106,009
2,381
75

3,844
45,933
30,454
1,599
2,519
108
77

33,451
–
–
71,072
109,787
2,121
–

6,357
–
–
–
–
–
–

294,939

84,534

216,431

6,357

Financial statements

24 Pension commitments
The PMT pension fund The pensions of virtually all the employees of Stern Groep N.V. are placed with the
PMT pension fund. This pension scheme qualifies as a defined benefit scheme, under which the pension benefit
is based on the length of service and the average salary of the employee during that service.
IAS 19 requires that certain information on defined benefit schemes is disclosed in the financial statements.
In particular, the balance of the assets and liabilities relating to the scheme must be recognised in the statement
of financial position as a receivable or a liability. The PMT has stated that it is not able to provide the information
to participating companies that is required for defined benefit pension schemes under IAS 19. The PMT has not
included any prospective elements in its administration for the valuation of the pension liabilities. It also does not
have an objective formula for attribution of a proportionate share in the provision for pension liabilities, fund
investments and the costs of the pension scheme for the individual members. There is moreover no contractual
agreement between the PMT and Stern Groep N.V. stating that shortfalls have to be made up by Stern Groep
N.V. For this reason, the scheme is treated as a defined contribution scheme and the pension contributions due
over the financial year are recognised as pension expense in the result.
A statement from the PMT shows that the coverage ratio at year-end 2015 was 97.4% (year-end 2014: 102.8%).
PMT also states that the recovery is lagging with respect to its recovery plan, that the indexation of
the pensions has been further postponed and that curtailment measures cannot be ruled out.
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25 Provisions
Jubilee
provision
Balance at 31 December 2013
Usage
Contribution from statement
of income

1,218
(102)

Warranty Restructuring
provision
provision

Other

Total

582
(1,678)

889
(800)

–
–

2,689
(2,580)

59

1,688

315

–

2,062

Balance at 31 December 2014

1,175

592

404

–

2,171

Usage
Contribution from statement
of income

(65)

(1,805)

(404)

–

(2,274)

77

1,820

–

2,338

4,235

Balance at 31 December 2015

1,187

607

–

2,338

4,132

Non-current part
Current part

1,056
131

121
486

–
–

–
2,338

1,177
2,955

Balance at 31 December 2015

1,187

607

–

2,338

4,132

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are measured at the present value of the expected
cash flows necessary to meet the liabilities. The discount rate used at year-end 2015 is 5% (2014: 5%).
Financial statements

Jubilee provision This concerns the estimated costs of payments on the occasion of anniversaries of
personnel, taking account of mortality probabilities, personnel leaving employment and salary developments
during the time until the anniversary in question.
Warranty provision This provision concerns the estimated costs arising from warranty on products and
services provided by Stern Groep N.V. and is mainly short-term in nature. With respect to warranty on passenger
cars and light commercial vehicles, account is taken of payments from the vehicle manufacturers.
Restructuring provision This provision concerns the estimated costs relating to approved and communicated
restructuring plans. In 2015, € 0.4 million of these costs (2014: € 0.4 million) related to costs associated with the
closure of locations or the discontinuation of activities.
Other This provision concerns the estimated costs (€ 1.1 million) for a potentially negative outcome of current
proceedings regarding the division of the employee contribution and the employer contribution to the pension
contributions between BOVAG and the PMT pension fund and for the potential negative effects of the “Diesel
Scandal” (€ 1.2 million) in connection with rigged software in vehicles from Volkswagen.
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26 Financial instruments
Fair value The following overview presents a comparison between the carrying amounts and the fair values of
all the financial assets and liabilities of Stern Groep N.V. recognised in the financial statements, including assets
and liabilities classified as held for sale:
Carrying amount
2015
2014
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Interests of SternPartners B.V. (less than 20%)
Interest in Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V.
Other
Financial liabilities
Mortgage loans
Financing of used passenger cars
Financing of rental fleet
Credit institutions
Financing of lease cars
Derivatives
Other financing

2015

Fair value
2014

608
178
11,126
149

1,636
262
10,732
167

608
178
11,126
149

1,636
262
10,732
167

17,307
50,597
30,525
68,112
129,915
1,714
–

41,168
45,225
29,807
70,274
106,009
2,381
75

17,307
50,597
30,525
68,112
129,915
1,714
–

41,168
45,225
29,807
70,274
106,009
2,381
75

Financial statements

Investments in participating interests in which the interest of Stern Groep N.V. is less than 20% are carried at fair
value. This is determined in the same manner as the measurement of associates (that is, using the equity
method).
The fair value of the interest in Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. is based on an external valuation report as at
31 December of the previous year, taking account of particular developments during the current year. The fair
value of the loans under the other financial assets is calculated with the application of the market interest rate.
The fair value of the derivatives and drawn down loans is calculated as the present value of the expected cash
flows at prevailing market rates. Financing is effected mainly on the basis of a short-term interest rate so that
the carrying amount approximates the fair value of the financial liabilities.
Stern Groep N.V. uses the following three levels for the classification and disclosure of financial instruments
measured at fair value:
• Level 1 : price quotations in active markets;
• Level 2: proprietary valuation techniques for which input can be derived from observable market data;
• Level 3: proprietary valuation techniques for which input cannot be derived from observable market data.
The following analysis shows the financial instruments measured at fair value classified according to
measurement level:
Level 1
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Level 2

Level 3

Total

Year-end 2015
Other financial non-current assets
Derivatives

–
–

–
(1,714)

11,453
–

11,453
(1,714)

Year-end 2014
Other financial non-current assets
Derivatives

–
–

–
(2,381)

11,161
–

11,161
(2,381)
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The development of financial instruments in level 3 in the year was as follows:
Level 3

2015

2014

Balance as at 1 January
Result from investments in the year
Revaluation
Repayments

11,161
(84)
394
(18)

10,023
104
1,034
–

Balance at 31 December

11,453

11,161

27 Trade and other payables
This item includes the credit facilities provided by car manufacturers for the performance of the underlying
dealer master contracts. A pledge is provided for this facility on the passenger cars and light commercial vehicles
financed, including parts and accessories. The interest rates are based on Euribor plus a spread.

28 Tax and social security contributions
The payroll tax and security contributions due under this item amounted to € 2.7 million at year-end 2015 (2014:
€ 2.7 million), the corporate income tax due amounted to € 0.3 million (2014: nil) and the value-added tax at
year-end 2015 was nil (2014: nil).

29 Other liabilities
Financial statements

The other liabilities include € 5.6 million of payments to employees (2014: € 5.1 million). This also includes the
short-term part of advance receipts from lease and rental activities of € 1.0 million (2014: € 0.2 million). The other
liabilities mainly consists of advance receipts from customers and importers at closing date.

30	Note to the statement of cash flow
The statement of cash flow shows the movements in cash and cash equivalents. The preparation of this
statement is based on a comparison between the opening balance and the closing balance. Changes that have
not led to cash flow, such as impairments and transfers between bank accounts, are then eliminated.
Changes in the working capital can mostly be derived from the overview of changes in the relevant items in
the statement of financial position, taking account of changes arising from companies acquired and divested
(see note 3).
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31	Objectives and policy regarding the management of financial risks
Financial instruments and risk policy The interest rate profile of the financial liabilities, after taking account of
the hedge transactions entered into, is as follows:

Liabilities at variable interest rates
Liabilities with fixed interest rates

Liabilities with fixed interest rates
Weighted average interest rate (%)
Weighted average maturity (years)

2015

2014

45,956
250,500

97,558
195,000

296,456

292,558

2.7
2.0

2.9
2.0

The interest rates for the financial liabilities are mainly based on Euribor (note 23). As at 31 December 2015,
Stern Group had a number of outstanding contracts for interest rate swaps for a total amount of € 250.5 million
(2014: € 195.0 million). The interest rate swaps are concluded in order to convert liabilities at variable interest
rates into liabilities with fixed interest rates. The average remaining maturity of the interest rate swaps is
24 months (2014: 24 months), with a weighted average interest rate, including the spread for the liability in
question, of 2.7% (2014: 2.9%).

Financial statements

The most important financial instruments (other than derivatives) held by Stern Groep N.V. are bank loans and
overdrafts, financial lease and lease/purchase agreements, and cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the business operations. Stern Groep N.V. has various other
financial assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and payables, that arise directly as a result of its business
operations. Stern Groep N.V. also enters into transactions for interest rate swaps. The purpose of the interest
rate swaps is to limit the interest rate risk to which Stern Groep N.V. is exposed as a result of its business
operations and its sources of funding. In principle, Stern Groep N.V. does not trade in financial instruments, nor
did it do so during the year under review.
The main risks arising from the financial instruments held by Stern Groep N.V. are interest rate risk and credit
risk. The Management Board evaluates and approves the policy with respect to the mitigation of these risks.
Interest rate risk Stern Groep N.V. strives to mitigate the risks arising from its operational activities and the
funding thereof. The interest rate risk regarding the implicit interest rate in operating lease contracts (interest
income) and the interest payments on the corresponding lease financing is hedged by means of interest rate
swaps. After initial recognition, these instruments are carried at fair value (at year-end 2015 this amounted to
€ 1.7 million negative and at year-end 2014 € 2.4 million negative). The following overview shows the carrying
amounts of the interest rate swaps to which hedge accounting is applied at year-end 2015.
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Nominal
value

Carrying
amount

2015
Fair
value

Nominal
value

Carrying
amount

2014
Fair
value

Mortgage loans
Financing of used passenger cars
Financing of rental fleet
Credit institutions
Financing of lease cars

15,000
30,000
25,000
50,000
130,500

(248)
(498)
(29)
(57)
(882)

(248)
(498)
(29)
(57)
(882)

30,000
15,000
–
75,000
75,000

(898)
(450)
–
(260)
(773)

(898)
(450)
–
(260)
(773)

Total 31 December

250,500

(1,714)

(1,714)

195,000

(2,381)

(2,381)
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The fair value of the interest rate swaps is determined as the fair value on the basis of market interest rates as
at 31 December 2015 and 2014 respectively. Cash flow hedge accounting is applied to these hedges. The hedges
of the future cash flows are considered to be effective and an unrealised positive result of € 0.7 million (2014:
€ 0.4 million negative) with a deferred tax item of € 0.2 million (2014: a gain of € 0.1 million) concerning the
hedging instrument, was transferred to the statement of other comprehensive income in 2015 and 2014
respectively. The ineffective part of the swaps was nil (2014: a gain of € 20,000). No provisions are included in
the swap agreements regarding the provision of security in case of a negative value of the contracts (margin
requirement).
Besides the interest rate swaps mentioned here, the company has concluded interest rate swaps with a principal
amount of € 3.1 million that matures mid-2018. Hedge accounting is not applied to these interest rate swaps.
The carrying amount of these swaps at year-end 2015 was € 0.3 million negative (2014: € 0.4 million negative).
This amount is recognised under current liabilities.
Credit risk Stern Groep N.V. deals only with creditworthy third parties. The policy at Stern Groep N.V. is that
all customers wishing to trade with deferred payment must be subjected to credit verification procedures.
Furthermore, open balances are continuously monitored to ensure that Stern Groep N.V. is not exposed to
material risk as a result of doubtful debtors. Credit risk is incurred on the other financial assets of Stern Groep
N.V., which consist of cash and cash equivalents, financial assets available for sale and certain derivatives,
to the extent that the counterparty may default on an amount not exceeding the carrying amounts of these
instruments.
Since Stern Groep N.V. deals only with creditworthy third parties, no security is required.

Financial statements

Liquidity risk Stern Groep N.V. has concentrated the management of its cash and direct credit facilities with
a limited number of banking institutions. As part of this management, the accounts of operating companies are
included in cash pooling arrangements and the maximum credit limit of each operating company is monitored
centrally.
Interest rate risk The following table shows the exposure of the result before tax of Stern Groep N.V. (due to
the effect of loans at variable interest rates) and the equity (due to the effect of the valuation of the interest rate
swaps) to a potential change in Euribor with all other variables remaining constant.
Increase or decrease
in interest rates
in basis points

Effect on
the result
before tax

Effect on
equity

31 December 2015

+100
–100

(460)
460

3,413
(3,413)

31 December 2014

+100
–100

(976)
976

2,071
(2,071)

Capital management The primary objective of capital management at Stern Groep N.V. is to maintain good
creditworthiness and sound solvency to support the operations of Stern Groep N.V. and to optimise shareholder
value. Stern Groep N.V. manages its capital structure and adjusts this according to changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, Stern Groep N.V. may change its payment of
dividend to shareholders, repay capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made to the
objectives, policy or processes in 2015 or 2014.
Stern Groep N.V. monitors its capital using a solvency ratio, which is the consolidated equity divided by the total
assets.
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32	Contingent assets and liabilities
Long-term lease commitments Stern Groep N.V. has concluded long-term lease agreements with third
parties for terms ranging from one year to seventeen years. Based on these agreements, Stern Groep N.V. has
the following lease commitments:

< 1 year
1-5 years
> 5 years

2015

2014

18,600
57,300
74,900

15,400
45,000
30,100

150,800

90,500

€ 4,3 million of the increase in the lease commitments (per year) relates to the sale of 10 premises realised in
2015 that have been leased back for a term of 17 years. Stern Groep N.V. has provided a bank guarantee for the
purchaser of € 3.3 million.
Economic inventory position At the closing date, Stern Groep N.V. had repurchase commitments for 619 cars
outstanding for an amount of € 9.4 million (2014: 966 cars and € 12.6 million). These commitments expire within
two years. Based on estimated losses on repurchase commitments and the settlement thereof, an amount of
€ 1.0 million is recognised under current liabilities (2014: € 0.5 million).
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If importers have not yet transferred all the major rights to economic benefits and all major risks with respect
to new passenger cars and light commercial vehicles to Stern Groep N.V., the relevant vehicles are not yet
recognised in the statement of financial position. The economic inventory position in this respect amounted
to € 46.2 million at year-end 2015 (2014: € 40.3 million).

33 Related party disclosures
H.H. van der Kwast, Chair of the Management Board of Stern Groep N.V., is a related party to Dubbel M B.V.
(www.dubbelm.nl). Until 31 December 2015, Stern Groep N.V. purchased office furniture and related services
from Dubbel M B.V. The total value of the products and services purchased amounts to € 0.7 million
(2014: € 0.7 million). The consultancy services provided on the basis of a continued payment of salary
arrangement and the relationship with Dubbel M B.V. were terminated on 1 January 2016.
H.H. van der Kwast, Chair of the Management Board of Stern Groep N.V., was a related party to IC-Groep B.V.
until 24 November 2015 (indirect interest of 33.7%, www.ic-groep.nl). This interest was sold on 24 November
with retroactive effect to 1 January 2015 and transferred to the co-shareholders of IC-Groep B.V. The total value
of the products and services purchased amounts to € 0.6 million (2014: € 0.5 million).
H.H. van der Kwast, Chair of the Management Board of Stern Groep N.V., is a related party to Kluut Vastgoed B.V.
(indirect interest of 50%). Stern Groep N.V. leases real estate from Kluut Vastgoed B.V. The total rent paid for
2015 was € 160,000 (2014: € 149,000). The two lease agreements with annual rents of € 38,000 expired and were
terminated at the end of 2015.
H.H. van der Kwast, Chair of the Management Board of Stern Groep N.V,. is the chairman of the Supervisory
Board of Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. (www.bovemij.nl). Stern Groep N.V. has an interest of 5.03% in
Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. since 2010.
Mid-June 2015, Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. provided a loan of € 3.0 million to Stern Groep N.V. for the
provision of working capital. The interest on this loan is 4.0%. This loan was repaid in full mid-November 2015.
Bovemij Verzekeringsgroep N.V. provided a loan of € 0.4 million to Coöperatie Mango Mobility in 2012.
The interest is 4%. The balance of this loan was € 0.2 million at year-end 2015.
Stern Groep N.V. realised revenue of € 4.7 million (2014: € 4.8 million) from associates in 2015 (see note 16).
This mainly concerns the s debt to associates at 31 December 2015 was nil (2014: nil).
All transactions between Stern Groep N.V. and related parties are effected on the basis of market prices.
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34	Remuneration of the Management Board
and the Supervisory Board
The remuneration of the members of the Management Board consists of a fixed gross annual salary with pension
contribution, plus a variable component (apart from bonuses paid in shares) of up to 33% of the fixed gross
annual salary, subject to previously set criteria being met.
Individual remuneration of the Management Board
(amounts x € 1)
Regular Profit sharing
remuneration
and bonus
payable
payments

Bonuses
in
shares

Payment
at end
of service

Pensions

Total

2015
H.H. van der Kwast
G.P. ten Brink (to 1-7-2015)

486,000
153,120

128,850
55,000

–
–

–
445,000

140,224
6,599

755,074
659,719

Total

639,120

183,850

–

445,000

146,823

1,414,793

2014
H.H. van der Kwast
G.P. ten Brink

447,720
264,240

75,000
45,000

184,025
118,285

–
–

82,662
36,781

789,407
464,306

Total

711,960

120,000

302,310

–

119,443

1,253,713
Financial statements

The above table shows the actual costs in 2015 and 2014. In other words therefore, the bonus for any year
is actually paid in the following year. The pension expenses for 2015 for the Management Board include
a compensation of € 120,000 for the reduction in the pension ‘accrual’ as part of the pension plan with effect
from 1 January 2015.
The criteria regarding profit sharing and bonus payments for 2015 were:
• achievement of revenue, net profit and cash flow in line with the budget for 2015;
• preparation of an update to the strategic plan;
• realisation of the centralisation of holding company operations in Amsterdam in combination with reducing
the costs of the holding company;
• designing the contours of the refinancing at the beginning of 2016.
The criteria for profit sharing and bonus payments for 2015 were met in full.
This will be formally ratified by the Supervisory Board after adoption of the financial statements on 11 May 2016.
The criteria for profit sharing and bonus payments for 2016 are:
• achievement of revenue, net profit, return on equity and cash flow in line with the budget for 2016;
• further expansion of Stern Financial Services, the expansion and integration of Stern Mobility Services and
further reduction of costs of the holding company and other costs;
• achievement of targets in relation to corporate social responsibility, management development and the
workforce.
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Individual remuneration of the Supervisory Board
(amounts x € 1)

Regular Remuneration
payable
of the Audit
remuneration
Committee
D.R. Goeminne
A. Nühn (to 15-5-2014)
M.E.P. Sanders
A. Roggeveen
Total

Total 2015

Total 2014

40,000
–
32,000
32,000

10,000
–
10,000
–

50,000
–
42,000
32,000

50,000
12,000
42,000
32,000

104,000

20,000

124,000

136,000

No option rights, advances or guarantees are provided to the members of the Management Board
of Stern Groep N.V. and/or to members of the Supervisory Board.
Share ownership by the Management Board
2015

2014

1,000,000
14,000

1,053,895
14,000

2015

2014

D.R. Goeminne
M.E.P. Sanders
A. Roggeveen

25,000
–
–

–
–
–

Total 31 December

25,000

–

H.H. van der Kwast (via Merel Investments B.V.)
G.P. ten Brink (on 1-7-2015)

Share ownership by the Supervisory Board
Financial statements

35 Subsequent events
No noteworthy events occurred after the closing date that affect the financial statements for 2015.
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(amounts x € 1,000)

Company statement of income for 2015
2015

2014

Result from investments
Other income and expenses after tax

14,573
(3,506)

8,413
(4,791)

Result after tax

11,067

3,622

Financial statements
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(amounts x € 1,000)

Company statement of financial position
at 31 December 2015
Note

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

19

27

174,999
149
175,148

160,426
149
160,575

175,167

160,602

36
10
46

27
8
35

175,213

160,637

593
114,734
22,774
2,005
10,673
150,779

593
114,734
21,544
1,110
2,588
140,569

20,708
642
165
2,071
848
24,434

16,204
232
383
2,567
682
20,068

175,213

160,637

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets

2

Financial non-current assets
Investments in group companies
Other investments

3

Non-current assets
Current assets
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Financial statements

Equity
Issued capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves
Revaluation reserve
Undistributed result

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans
Payables to group companies
Tax and social security contributions
Other liabilities
Deferred tax liability

Total equity and liabilities
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(amounts x € 1,000)

Notes to the company financial statements
1 Accounting policies
The company financial statements are prepared on the basis of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code with use
of the option provided under Section 2:362 (8) to apply to IFRS accounting policies that are used for the consolidated
financial statements. In accordance with the provisions of Section 2:402 of the Dutch Civil Code,
the parent company statement of income shows only the share in results of subsidiaries and associates after
tax and other profits after tax.

Principles for measurement and determination of the result
Details of the principles for measurement and determination of the result can be found in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements and, unless otherwise stated, apply equally to the company financial statements.

Investments
Investments in group companies are valued at net asset value. The reporting dates of the group companies
are the same as those of Stern Groep N.V. The principles for financial reporting are, for similar transactions
and events in comparable circumstances, the same as those of Stern Groep N.V.

Financial statements

2 Property, plant and equipment
Other
non-current
assets
Acquisition cost
Balance at 1 January 2014
Disposals in 2014
Investments in 2014
Balance at 1 January 2015
Investments in 2015

642
(552)
10
100
3

Balance at 31 December 2015

103

Cumulative depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2014
Depreciation of divestments in 2014
Depreciation in 2014
Balance at 1 January 2015
Depreciation in 2015

616
(552)
9
73
11

Balance at 31 December 2015

84

Carrying amount at 31 December 2015

19

Carrying amount at 31 December 2014

27

Estimated economic life

5 years
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3 Financial assets
Investments
in group
companies

Other

Total

Carrying amount at 1 January 2015
Result for the year

160,426
14,573

149
–

160,575
14,573

Carrying amount at 31 December 2015

174,999

149

175,148

The Investments in group companies includes the 100% interest in Stern Facilitair B.V. of Purmerend,
the holding company for all other group companies.

4 Equity
Issued
capital

Share
premium
reserve

Other
reserves

593

114,734

21,544

1,110

2,588

140,569

Result after tax
Other comprehensive income
after tax
Total comprehensive income
for 2015 (attributable
to the shareholders
of Stern Groep N.V.)

–

–

–

394

10,673

11,067

–

–

–

501

–

501

–

–

–

895

10,673

11,568

Result appropriation
Cash dividend
Sale of shares

–
–
–

–
–
–

2,588
(1,425)
67

–
–
–

(2,588)
–
–

–
(1,425)
67

593

114,734

22,774

Issued
capital

Share
premium
reserve

Other
reserves

593

118,877

15,962

473

2,418

138,323

Profit after tax
Other comprehensive income
after tax
Total comprehensive income
for 2014 (attributable
to the shareholders
of Stern Groep N.V.)

–

–

–

1,034

2,588

3,622

–

–

–

(397)

–

–

–

637

2,588

3,225

Result appropriation
Cash dividend
Stock dividend
Sale of shares
Repurchase of own shares
Stern Share-based
compensation Plan

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
(4,143)
–
–

2,418
(1,132)
4,143
11
(18)

–
–
–
–
–

(2,418)
–
–
–
–

–
(1,132)
–
11
(18)

–

–

160

–

–

160

593

114,734

21,544

1,110

2,588

140,569

Balance at 1 January 2015

Financial statements

Balance at 31 December 2015

Balance at 1 January 2014

Balance at 31 December 2014
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Revaluation Undistributed
reserve
result

2,005

Total

10,673

150,779

Revaluation Undistributed
reserve
result

Total

–

(397)

Issued capital The company’s authorised share capital amounts to € 900,000, divided into 9,000,000 ordinary
shares with a nominal value of € 0.10. The issued capital amounts to € 592,500 (2014: € 592,500) and consists of
5,925,000 shares (2014: 5,925,000 shares). No changes occurred during the year.
Share premium reserve This reserve changes if shares are issued at an issue price higher than the nominal
value. Dividend distributed in shares is also charged to this reserve.
Revaluation reserve The revaluation reserve consists of the unrealised part of the revaluation of financial
assets to fair value (balance at year-end 2015 € 3.2 million and at year-end 2014: € 2.8 million) and a cash flow
hedge reserve. The cash flow hedge reserve amounted to € 1.2 million negative at year-end 2015 (year-end
2014:€ 1.7 million negative) and consists of the effective part of the cumulative changes to the net value of
the financial instruments to which cash flow hedge accounting is applied. The legal reserve for these two items
amounted to € 3.2 million at year-end 2015 (year-end 2014: € 2.8 million).
Other reserves The shares in the company temporarily repurchased by Stern Groep N.V. are deducted from
the other reserves. At year-end 2015, Stern Groep N.V. held 250,000 of its own shares (year-end 2014: 255,260
shares).

5 Other notes
Contingent assets and liabilities Stern Groep N.V. has accepted joint and several liability for the debts of the
group companies listed on pages 92 and 93, including tax, arising from legal actions by the group companies in
accordance with Section 403 of Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
Remuneration of the Management Board and Supervisory Directors For the remuneration of the
Management Board and Supervisory Directors, see note 34 to the consolidated financial statements for 2015.
Financial statements

Number of employees The number of employees, including the Management Board, at year-end 2015 was 8
(year-end 2014: 10).
Amsterdam, 8 March 2016
The Management Board
Ir. H.H. van der Kwast
		
		

The Supervisory Board
D.R. Goeminne
A. Roggeveen
M.E.P. Sanders
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Other information
Profit appropriation according
to the articles of association
Article 38
1.Subject to the approval of the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board shall reserve such part of the profit as
it considers necessary. To the extent that the profit is not
reserved as stated in the preceding sentence, this shall be
at the disposal of the General Meeting for full or partial
distribution to the shareholders in proportion to the number
of shares that they own.
2. The company may only distribute the profit available for
distribution to shareholders and other beneficiaries to the
extent that its equity exceeds the amount of the paid-up
and called-up capital plus the reserves that must be held
pursuant to statute.

Financial statements

Article 39
1. Distributions of profit shall be payable four weeks after
adoption, unless the General Meeting sets a different date
as proposed by the Management Board.
2. Distributions of profit that have not been received within
five years of being made available for payment shall lapse
to the company.
3. Resolutions of the General Meeting to grant full or partial
cancellation of reserves shall require the approval of the
Management Board and the Supervisory Board, without
prejudice to the provision in paragraph 6.
4. With the prior approval of the Supervisory Board, the
Management Board may make an interim distribution
of profit, subject to the provision of Section 105, Book 2
of the Civil Code.
5. The General Meeting may, if so proposed by the
Management Board and with the prior approval of the
Supervisory Board, resolve that distributions of profit
should be made entirely or partially in the form of shares
in the company’s capital.
6. A shortfall may only be made up from the reserves held
pursuant to statute to the extent permitted by law.
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Dividend
In order to maintain ample solvency of 15% for the lease
operations and 30% for the other operations, Stern Group
may only distribute up to the amount in excess of its chosen
solvency ratios as dividend in the coming years. At year-end
2015, the excess solvency amounted to approximately
€ 4.3 million (after distribution of the interim dividend of
€ 1.4 million in December 2015), so that under the established
dividend policy it is possible to distribute a final dividend for
2015 of € 0.75 per share.
An interim dividend for 2015 of € 0.25 per share was
distributed on 23 December 2015.

Independent auditor’s report
To: the shareholders and the Supervisory Board of Stern Groep N.V.

Report on the financial statements for 2015
Our opinion We have audited the financial statements of Stern Groep N.V. ,based in Amsterdam, for the year 2015.
The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company financial statements.
In our opinion:
• The consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Stern Groep N.V. as at 31 December
2015, and of its result and its cash flows in 2015 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; The company only financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of Stern Groep N.V. as at 31 December 2015, and of its result in 2015 in accordance
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
The consolidated financial statements consist of:
• The consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015;
• The following statements for 2015: the consolidated statement of income, the consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows;
• The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Financial statements

The company only financial statements consist of:
• The company only statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015;
• The company only statement of income for 2015;
• The notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
The basis for our opinion We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report.
We are independent of Stern Groep N.V. in accordance with the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij
assurance-opdrachten (ViO) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied
with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA).
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Materiality

Materiality

€ 1,875,000 (2014: € 1,600,000)

Benchmark applied

Materiality is determined as 1% of the gross profit.

Further explanation

Both the result before tax and the operating profit of Stern Group have been highly
volatile in recent years. For this reason, we do not consider this to be an appropriate
benchmark for materiality.
We consider that gross profit is the most appropriate materiality benchmark for Stern
Group. In addition, we have identified the following relevant aspects:
• Important performance indicator for Stern Group and its stakeholders;
• More stable development without large fluctuations.
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We have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of
the financial statements for qualitative reasons.
We agreed with the Supervisory Board that misstatements in excess of € 93,500, which are identified during the audit, would be
reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.
Scope of the audit Stern Groep N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is included in
the consolidated financial statements of Stern Groep N.V.
The factors determining the scope are the fact that Stern’s operations take place in the Netherlands, the organisational structure
of Stern’s operations into units including lease and dealer businesses, the size and/or risk profile of the other group elements and
operations and the fact that the business processes and internal control measures are generally carried out in the same way at
the various dealerships. This means that there is no scoping for separate dealerships. We considered the dealerships as one
component for our audit next to to the leasing and other operations. If certain dealerships carry out their internal controls in a
non-standard manner, we have taken account of this in our audit. In total, the abovementioned audit procedures represent 100%
of the total assets, the gross profit and the revenue of the group.
All procedures at the group elements and at group level were performed by the same audit team.
As a result of these procedures at (group) elements, combined with additional procedures at group level, we have obtained
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence in relation to the financial information of the group to issue an opinion regarding
the consolidated financial statements.
Our key audit matters Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the supervisory board. The key audit matters
are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.
Financial statements

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Risk

Our audit approach

Sale and leaseback transaction of premises
We refer to note 1 in the financial statements
“Accounting policies”, note 6 “Other income” and
note 11 “Property, plant and equipment”.

The company sold 10 premises on 10 November 2015
to a third party and leased these premises back for a
term of 17 years. The company has classified this
transaction as an operating lease. The main estimates
concern the estimation of the economic life of the
premises and the assumptions applied in determining
the present value of the minimum lease payments in
relation to the fair value of the leased item.
We have qualified this as a key audit matter in our
audit given the effect of this transaction on the
balance sheet total and the result of € 2.0 million
realised on the transaction.
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During our audit procedures we focused on the assessment of the
lease classification and the reasonableness of the assumptions for
the key estimates.
Our main audit procedures concerned the assessment of the
contractual conditions on the basis of the applicable lease criteria,
establishing that the components approach was applied to the land
and buildings involved in the transaction, the recalculation of the
correct implied discount rate, evaluating the reasonableness of the
residual values used for land and buildings, assessing whether the rent
is at arm’s length basis and evaluating the reasonableness of the
expected maintenance costs.

Risk

Our audit approach

Valuation of goodwill
We refer to note 1 in the financial statements
“Accounting policies” and note 13 “Intangible assets”.

Pursuant to EU-IFRS, Stern Groep N.V. is obliged
to assess the amount of the goodwill each year for
impairment.
This annual impairment test was material for our
audit, because the estimation process is complex
and subjective, and is based on assumptions.
These assumptions are influenced by expectations
of future market and economic conditions.
The composition of the cash-generating units
changed in 2015. As a result of changes to the
management, SternRent has been moved from the
cash-generating unit Stern Financial Services to Stern
Mobility Services. The goodwill at Stern Financial
Services is fully attributed to Stern Financial Services.
This is further explained in note 13.

In addition, we held discussions with the Management Board and
the audit committee regarding their expectations with respect to
the improvements of future revenue and margins, which are closely
related to developments in the market.
We also evaluated the method of attribution of goodwill to the
cash-generating units as a result of the change to the composition
of these cash-generating units.
Our audit procedures included the use of a valuation expert to assist
us in evaluating the assumptions and methodologies used by the
company.
We assessed the sensitivity analyses prepared by Stern with respect
to the key assumptions in order to establish the extent of changes to
these assumptions that either individually or collectively could lead
to an impairment of the goodwill.

Financial statements

On 31 December 2015 the goodwill amounted to
€ 29.5 million (2014: € 29.1 million). On the basis of
the impairment test conducted, Stern Group has
concluded that there is no indication of impairment.
The key assumptions and the sensitivity analysis are
disclosed.

The audit procedures we performed included an assessment of the
reasonableness of the assumptions underlying the estimate of future
cash flows and whether these are consistent with internal budgets
and multi-year projections.

We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures, in particular with
respect to the assumptions and the sensitivity analyses.
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Risk

Our audit approach

Valuation of deferred tax asset
We refer to note 1 in the financial statements
“Accounting policies” and note 11 “Income taxes”.

The valuation of deferred tax assets
arising from tax loss carry forward balances in the
amount of € 3.5 million and temporary differences
in the amount of € 22.1 million.
The temporary differences mainly concern the
valuation of goodwill for tax purposes (€ 80 million)
arising from the sale/purchase of the lease portfolio
between different tax groups within Stern Group in
2014.

Financial statements

The valuation of the deferred tax asset arising from
tax loss carry forward balances is based on the
expected future profits for tax purposes in the next
nine years. We considered this as key audit matter for
our audit since the estimation process is complex and
highly subjective and based on assumptions and
agreements with the Dutch Tax Authorities.
These assumptions are influenced by expectations of
future market and economic conditions. It is also the
case that expectations of future profitability may turn
out differently in reality.
On 31 December 2015 the deferred tax asset balance
amounted to € 25.6 million (2014: € 28.6 million).
Based on the Management Board’s estimates of
future profits for tax purposes and the opinion of the
company’s tax consultant, Stern Group has concluded
that € 3.5 million of tax loss carry forwrad balances
and € 22.1 million of tax amortisation can be realised
through set-off against future profits for tax purposes
within the compensation period.
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Our audit approach included an assessment of the assumptions
underlying the estimated future taxable profits. We evaluated the
reasonableness of these assumptions, as well as their consistency
with budgets and multi-year projections as used for the impairment
of goodwill analysis.
We also took note of the agreements made with the Dutch Tax
Authorities regarding the minimum required taxable profit before
any tax amortisation of goodwill can take place.
We engaged a tax expert to assist us in our procedures.

Risk

Our audit approach

Financing and covenants
We refer to note 23 “Interest-bearing loans” in
the financial statements.

Stern has made agreements with the credit
Institutions regarding the minimum levels of ratios
to be realised. These ratios concern the minimum
capital base, the minimum solvency and the interest
coverage ratio (ICR). The required levels for these
ratios were met at year-end 2015.
The availability of sufficient financing and testing
whether the company can continue to meet its
financial covenants are significant for our audit.
This test and assessment is largely based on
expectations and estimates by the management.
The assumptions are affected by subjective elements
such as the estimation of future cash flows,
projections for sales, results and margins from
business operations. The estimations are based on
assumptions including expectations of future
economic and market developments.

The audit procedures we performed included an assessment of
the calculation of the ratios.
In addition, we evaluated the reasonableness of the assumptions
underlying the estimate of future cash flows and whether these are
consistent with internal budgets. Specifically, we devoted attention
to the issue of whether the projected growth of the lease portfolio
in 2016 could be achieved within the available funding facilities.

Financial statements

Responsibility of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board for the financial statements Management is
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code, and for the preparation of the management board report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks mentioned, management should prepare the financial
statements using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management should disclose events and circumstances that may cast
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting process.
Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in
a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not have detected all
errors and fraud.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified
misstatements on our opinion.
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We have exercised professional judgment and have maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit, in accordance with
Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence requirements. Our audit included, e.g.:
• Identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
• Obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.
• Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
• Concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting, and based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause an the company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures
• Evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.
Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising and performing the
group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group
entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group entities
for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific items.

Financial statements

We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We provide the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
not communicating the matter is in the public interest.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Report on the management board report and the other information Pursuant to legal requirements of Part 9 of Book 2
of the Dutch Civil Code (concerning our obligation to report about the management board report and other information):
• We have no deficiencies to report as a result of our examination whether the management board report, to the extent we
can assess, has been prepared in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, and whether the information as
required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code has been annexed
• We report that the management board report, to the extent we can assess, is consistent with the financial statements
Appointment We were appointed as the auditor of Stern Groep N.V. by the Supervisory Board with effect from the audit
for the 2003 financial year, and since that date until the present we have been the external auditor.
Amsterdam, 8 March 2016
Ernst & Young Accountants LLP
F. de Bruijn RA

Financial statements
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Other information

Organisational diagram
as at 8 March 2016, with number of branches in brackets

Stern Group

Stern Facility Services

Dealergroup Stern

Mercedes-Benz
and smart (11)

Other information

Renault, Dacia
and Nissan (15)

Ford (17)

Volvo, Land Rover c.s.,
Fiat c.s., Mitsubishi
and Subaru (18)

Stern Financial Services

Stern Mobility Services

Car leasing

Car body repair (12)

and ﬂeet management

Service (4)

Financing

Car rental (20)

Insurance

Used cars (4)

2-year

Light commercial

used car warranties

vehicle interiors (1)

Mobility service

E-mobility (10)

Audi, Volkswagen, Kia,
Opel, Skoda, Seat
and Mitsubishi (18)
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Addresses
as of 8 March 2016

Stern Group
Stern Group

Pieter Braaijweg 6

Amsterdam

Stern Facility Services
Stern Facility
Services

Pieter Braaijweg 6

Amsterdam

Operation of fuel stations by third parties
Shell
Schermerhoek 523
TinQ
Vulcanusweg 281
Shell
Newtonweg 20/A
Argos
Geldropseweg 22
Shell
Zeverijnstraat 18
BP
Rijksweg A20
BP
Shell
Shell
Gulf
TinQ
Argos

Capelle a/d IJssel
Delft
Gorinchem
Heeze
Hilversum
Nieuwerkerk
a/d IJssel
Abr. Van Rijckevorselweg 75 Rotterdam
Koperstraat 14
Rotterdam
Deltalaan 217
Sliedrecht
C. van Abkoudestraat 2
Volendam
Hogeweyselaan 151
Weesp
Provincialeweg 49
Zaandam

Alkmaar
Amersfoort
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Bunnik
Delft
Den Bosch
Hoofddorp
Hoofddorp
Lijnden
Naaldwijk
Veenendaal
Volendam
Wateringen
Weesp
Wormerveer
Wormerveer
Zaanstad

Investments
Bovemij

Nijmegen

Takenhofplein 2
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Premises owned
Helderseweg 52
Bouwterrein Nijverheidsweg
Baionen 6
Bolstoen 12
Jarmuiden 33
Kuiperbergweg 17
Pieter Braaijweg 6
Rumpsterweg 27
Vulcanusweg 281-293
Rietveldenweg 34-36
Jadelaan 14-20
Jadelaan 46
Sydneystraat 5
Warmoezenierstraat 17
Turbinestraat 2-4
C. van Abkoudestraat 2
Maaslandseweg 4
Hogeweyselaan 151
Hogeweg 8-10-12
Oost-Indische Kade 7
Provincialeweg 43
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Dealergroup Stern

Other information

Stern 1
Mercedes-Benz/smart
Stern Auto
De Huchtstraat 10
Stern Auto
Ruimtevaart 30
Stern Auto
Ouderkerkerlaan 150
Stern Auto
Donauweg 11
Stern Auto
Burg. Stramanweg 110
Stern Auto
Zeverijnstraat 16
Stern Auto
Ringwade 2
Stern Auto
Ambachtsstraat 21
Stern Auto
Galileistraat 15
Stern Trucks
De Huchtstraat 10
Stern Trucks
Donauweg 11
Stern Trucks
Ambachtstraat 21
Stern Trucks
Eendrachtlaan 300
Stern Trucks
Turbinestraat 2-4

Almere
Amersfoort
Amstelveen
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Hilversum
Nieuwegein
Nijkerk
Veenendaal
Almere
Amsterdam
Nijkerk
Utrecht
Veenendaal

Stern 2
Renault/Dacia/Nissan
Arend Auto
Nijverheidsweg-Noord 54
Arend Auto
Donauweg 11
Arend Auto
Joan Muyskenweg 14
Arend Auto
Rietveldenweg 36
Arend Auto
Europalaan 2
Arend Auto
Nobelstraat 5b
Arend Auto
Geldropseweg 22
Arend Auto
Sprendlingenstraat 12

Amersfoort
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Den Bosch
Eindhoven
Goirle
Heeze
Oisterwijk

Stern’s head office is located in Amsterdam.
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Arend Auto
Arend Auto
Arend Auto
Arend Auto
Arend Auto
Arend Auto
Arend Auto

Griekenweg 29
Ampèrestraat 51
Franciscusdreef 74
De Vest 52a
Mountbattenweg 6
Hogeweyselaan 201
Pieter Ghijsenlaan 5

Oss
Purmerend
Utrecht
Valkenswaard
Veghel
Weesp
Zaandam

Stern 3
Ford
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto
Ardea Auto

Klokkenbergweg 3-5
Binderij 1
Mercuriusweg 9
Mijlweg 73
Newtonweg 20
Eysinkweg 71
Smaragdlaan 5-15
Prinses Carolinalaan 2
Sydneystraat 11
Meer en Duin 72a
Warmoezenierstraat 21
Keyserswey 1
Graafstroomstraat 25
Koperstraat 15
Laagjes 4
Deltalaan 217
Zwaardslootseweg 3

Amsterdam
Amstelveen
The Hague
Dordrecht
Gorinchem
Haarlem
Hoofddorp
Leidschendam
Lijnden
Lisse
Naaldwijk
Noordwijk
Rotterdam
Rotterdam
Rotterdam
Sliedrecht
Zoetermeer

Stern Financial Services
Stern 4
Volvo
Svala Auto
Svala Auto
Svala Auto
Svala Auto
Svala Auto
Svala Auto
Svala Auto
Svala Auto

De Strubbenweg 8
Leidsevaart 576
Arnoudstraat 3
Heerenweg 2
Rietschans 70
Sydneystraat 9
Nijverheidslaan 1
Pieter Ghijsenlaan 5

Land Rover/Jaguar
Jager Auto
Neckar 1 (Forepark)
Jager Auto
De Trompet 2999
Jager Auto
Ampèrestraat 59

Almere
Haarlem
Hillegom
Katwijk
Leiderdorp
Lijnden
Weesp
Zaandam

The Hague
Heemskerk
Purmerend

Alfa Romeo/Fiat/Abarth/Lancia/Jeep/Subaru/Mitsubishi
Vireo Auto
Koraalstraat 3
Alkmaar
Vireo Auto
Amsterdamseweg 51
Amersfoort
Vireo Auto
Amersfoortsestraatweg 43 Bussum
Vireo Auto
Leidsevaart 592
Haarlem
Vireo Auto
Ringveste 4
Houten
Vireo Auto
Ampèrestraat 57
Purmerend
Vireo Auto
Franciscusdreef 74
Utrecht

Amsterdam
Enkhuizen
Koog aan de Zaan
Purmerend
Purmerend
Volendam
Zwaag

Kia
Durmi Auto
Durmi Auto
Durmi Auto
Durmi Auto
Durmi Auto
Havik Auto
Wander
Wander

Amsterdam
Alkmaar
Purmerend
Zaandam
Zwaag
Den Helder
Assen
Groningen

Aambeeldstraat 5
Robbekoog 8
Van IJsendijkstraat 411
Provinciale weg 43
De Factorij 5
Fazantenstraat 71p
Balkengracht 2
Rostockweg 12

Opel/Mitsubishi
Havik Auto
Helderseweg 52
Havik Auto
Gedempt Hamerkanaal 43
Havik Auto
Fazantenstraat 71p
Havik Auto
Hogeweg 8
Wander
Balkengracht 2
Wander
Rostockweg 12

Alkmaar
Amsterdam
Den Helder
Wormerveer
Assen
Groningen

Helderseweg 52
Klokkenbergweg 3-5
Balkengracht 2
Mercuriusweg 9
Europalaan 2
Jadelaan 14-20
Ampèrestraat 71

Alkmaar
Amsterdam
Assen
The Hague
Eindhoven
Hoofddorp
Purmerend

Fleet management
SternPartners Ampèrestraat 73

Purmerend

Stern Mobility Services
Car body repair
SternSchade Bolstoen 12
SternSchade Joan Muyskenweg 14
SternSchade Schaafstraat 18a
SternSchade Rumpsterweg 27
SternSchade Vlier 16
SternSchade Nijverheidsweg 2
SternSchade Ringveste 2
SternSchade Ambachtsstraat 23
SternSchade Netwerk 135
SternSchade Aristotelesstraat 36
SternSchade De Lierseweg 13
SternSchade Vrijheidsweg 2

Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Bunnik
Geldrop
Heemstede
Houten
Nijkerk
Purmerend
Rotterdam
Wateringen
Wormerveer

Service
SternPoint
SternPoint
SternPoint
SternPoint

Burg. Stramanweg 110-A
Emmalaan 31
Cort van der Lindenlaan 46
De Lierseweg 13

Amsterdam
Haren
Naarden
Wateringen

Car rental
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent

De Huchtstraat 10
Ruimtevaart 30
Klokkenbergweg 3-5
Donauweg 11
Balkengracht 2
Belcrumweg 5-7
Rietveldenweg 36
Mercuriusweg 9
Fazantenstraat 71p
Mijlweg 73
De Impact 5
Europalaan 2
Rostockweg 12
Jadelaan 46

Almere
Amersfoort
Amsterdam
Amsterdam
Assen
Breda
Den Bosch
The Hague
Den Helder
Dordrecht
Duiven
Eindhoven
Groningen
Hoofddorp
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Stern 5
Volkswagen/Audi/Seat/Škoda
Heron Auto
Aambeeldstraat 7
Heron Auto
De Dolfijn 1
Heron Auto
Kaarsenmakerstraat 1
Heron Auto
Burg. D. Kooimanweg 10c
Heron Auto
Burg. D. Kooimanweg 14
Heron Auto
C. van Abkoudestraat 2
Heron Auto
De Marowijne 53

Car leasing
SternLease
SternLease
SternLease
SternLease
SternLease
SternLease
SternLease
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Car rental
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent
SternRent

Other information
144

Ampèrestraat 65
Abraham van Stolkweg 130
Laagjes 4
Eendrachtlaan 300
Provincialeweg 43
Rieteweg 4

Purmerend
Rotterdam
Rotterdam
Utrecht
Zaandam
Zwolle

Stern occasion outlets
SternPlaza
De Strubbenweg 8
SternPlaza
Rietveldenweg 36
SternPlaza
Europalaan 2
SternPlaza
Pieter Ghijsenlaan 5

Almere
Den Bosch
Eindhoven
Zaandam

Light commercial vehicle interiors
SternTec
Maaslandseweg 4

Wateringen

E-Mobility
Mango
Mango
Mango
Mango
Mango
Mango
Mango
Mango
Mango
Mango

Amsterdam
Baarn
Barneveld
Den Helder
Gorinchem
Haarlem
Haren
Naarden
Rotterdam
Wateringen

Baionen 6
Goeman Borgesiuslaan 19
Veemweg 10
Fazantenstraat 71p
Newtonweg 20
Eysinkweg 71
Emmalaan 31
Cort van der Lindenlaan 46
Laagjes 4
De Lierseweg 13
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